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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Registration Statement on Form 10 contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “potentially,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “expect” and similar expressions that convey uncertainty of
future events or outcomes are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different
from any future results, performances or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These forwardlooking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:
•

our future financial and operating results;

•

our business strategy;

•

our intentions, expectations and beliefs regarding anticipated growth, market penetration and trends in our business;

•

our dependence on growth in our customers’ businesses;

•

the effects of market conditions on our stock price and operating results;

•

our ability to maintain our competitive technological advantages against competitors in our industry;

•

our ability to timely and effectively adapt our existing technology and have our technology solutions gain market
acceptance;

•

our ability to introduce new products and bring them to market in a timely manner;

•

our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

•

the effects of increased competition in our market and our ability to compete effectively;

•

costs associated with defending intellectual property infringement and other claims;

•

our expectations concerning our relationships with customers and other third parties;

•

our expectations concerning relationships between our customers and their manufacturers;

•

risks associated with our international business operations;

•

the impact of outbreaks, and threat or perceived threat of outbreaks, of epidemics and pandemics, including, without
limitation, the coronavirus outbreak, on our sourcing and manufacturing operations as well as consumer spending;

•

the impact of tariffs;

•

risks associated with sourcing and manufacturing;

•

the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;

•

future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies or technologies; and

•

our ability to comply with evolving legal standards and regulations, particularly concerning requirements for being a
public company and United States export regulations.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10 and are subject to uncertainties, assumptions
and business and economic risks. As such, our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking
statements as a result of the factors set forth below in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in our other reports filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks
emerge from time to time. It is not possible for us to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or
the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
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forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and
circumstances discussed in this Form 10 may not occur, and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those
anticipated or implied in our forward-looking statements.
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You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of
activity, performance or events and circumstances described in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. Moreover,
neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Form 10 to conform
these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations, except as required by law.
You should read this Registration Statement on Form 10 and the documents that we have filed with the SEC as exhibits
hereto with the understanding that our actual future results and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
4
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BUSINESS

Our Company
Interlink Electronics Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, “Interlink” or the “Company”) designs, develops, manufactures and sells a range of
force-sensing technologies that incorporate our proprietary materials technology, firmware and software into a portfolio of standard
products and custom solutions. These include sensor components, subassemblies, modules and products that support effective,
efficient cursor control and novel three-dimensional user inputs. Our Human Machine Interface (“HMI”) technology platforms are
deployed in a wide range of markets including consumer electronics, automotive, industrial, and medical. The application of our
HMI technology platforms includes vehicle entry, vehicle multi-media control interface, rugged touch controls, presence detection,
collision detection, speed and torque controls, biological monitoring and others.
Interlink has been a leader in the printed electronics industry for over 30 years with the commercialization of our patented ForceSensing Resistor (“FSR®”) technology that has enabled rugged and reliable HMI solutions. Our solutions have focused on
handheld user input, menu navigation, cursor control, and other intuitive interface technologies for the world’s top electronics
manufacturers.
We invented FSR® technology and pioneered commercialization of printed electronics manufacturing, paving the way for industrywide adoption of force sensing technology. Our extensive knowledge and experience with this technology, along with the firmware
we incorporate in our HMI solutions, differentiates us from other providers of HMI solutions. We, along with our customers,
incorporate our FSR and force sensing sensors and modules into end user products. Our sensors and modules are used in electronics
devices and systems where user input must be converted into useful output data. Our force sensing technology solution platforms
enabled industry-first implementations in gaming, smartphone, rugged notebook, automotive cockpit and automotive entry
applications. Consumer and end-user demand for enhanced user experience is driving the need for innovative multi-modal HMI
technologies and applications. Force sensing input provides a critical novel modality that drives a paradigm shift in HMI.
Market requirements for innovative solutions that enable smaller, thinner devices, lower power consumption, highly refined
designs, better navigation and more intuitive usability in all environments, are also driving increased demand for our products.
Industry is moving towards the use of multi-modal HMI in the home, industrial, medical and automotive spaces. Interlink delivers
cutting edge, high performance HMI solutions for customers who wish to replace outdated switches and knobs in these
environments.
Significant market opportunities are rapidly emerging for us to improve upon the functionality of standard capacitive sensors which
are widely available and competitively priced. Inadvertent activation, where users unintentionally activate a control, is a common
problem with capacitive technology. In contrast, force sensing solutions require a deliberate application of force to operate. We
have had recent success in using our force sensing solutions in combination with capacitive technologies to minimize the latter’s
performance issues, enabling force sensing solutions to complement competitive technologies and provide hybrid solutions and
open up new opportunities for growth. We continue to simultaneously expand our standard product portfolio and develop new
technology platforms to grow existing markets and capture emerging markets. This portfolio expansion will incorporate other
complimentary sensing technologies. This broader portfolio of technologies will allow us to use our expertise in integrating
multiple sensing technologies for applications in the rapidly growing Internet-of-Things (“IoT”).
Interlink serves our world-wide customer base from our corporate headquarters in Irvine, California (Orange County area) and from
our facility in Camarillo, California (Ventura County). We plan to establish a Global Product Development and Materials Science
Center in our existing Camarillo footprint, which we expect to be operational by the end of 2020. This facility will have a state-ofthe-art printed electronics development laboratory as well as materials science lab. Our engineering team will be based in this
center where we will work with our US and global customers on developing, engineering, prototyping and implementing our
advanced HMI solutions. We also maintain a small embedded software and IoT application development center in Singapore. We
manufacture all our products in our printed electronics manufacturing facility in Shenzhen, China, which has been in operation
since 2006. In addition, we maintain a global distribution and logistics center in Hong Kong, a technical sales office in Japan, and
several manufacturer representatives and distributors in strategic locations in our key markets, all of which allows us to support our
global customer base. We sell our products in a wide range of markets, including consumer electronics, automotive, industrial and
medical. Our customers are some of the world’s largest companies and most recognizable brands.
5
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We were incorporated in California on February 27, 1985. On July 10, 1996, we re-incorporated into a Delaware corporation and,
on July 20, 2012, we again changed our domicile from Delaware to Nevada by completing a merger with a newly formed Nevada
corporation named Interlink Electronics Inc.
Our principal executive office is located at 1 Jenner, Suite 200, Irvine, California 92618 and our telephone number is (805) 4848855. Our website address is www.interlinkelectronics.com. Interlink makes available its annual financial statements, quarterly
financial statements, and other significant reports and amendments to such reports, free of charge, on its website as soon as
reasonably practicable after such reports are prepared.
Our Industry
HMI technologies have been available since the early 1970’s but were used almost exclusively in industrial products during the first
20 years of their existence. The introduction of touchpad mouse devices for laptop computers in the early 1990’s represented the
first significant transition of HMI technologies into the consumer electronics market. Personal devices utilizing touch sensitive
technology became ubiquitous in our daily human-machine interactions with the introduction in 2007 of smart phone technology
incorporating capacitive touchscreens. As the smart phone became an integral part of consumers’ daily lives throughout the world,
it influenced consumers’ expectations of how we should interact with all types of devices. Whether those devices are personal
electronics, industrial and medical equipment, or automobiles, users of this equipment expect sleek, highly-functioning design
including touch-sensing technology. Consumers no longer want to push buttons or flip switches; rather, they expect smooth touch
pads and gesture-driven input. Engineers are responding to this demand by incorporating touch sensitive technology into a wide
range of products, and any device that can utilize force and position sensing inputs to control or enhance its functionality is a
candidate for use of the technology.
The products and solutions that we design, develop and manufacture for HMI and IoT applications are primarily printed electronic
products. Printed electronics is an additive manufacturing technology used to create electrical devices on various substrates. For
over 30 years we have honed and developed the processes necessary to manufacture high quality printed electronic products for
HMI applications. Printed electronic technologies are emerging as potential low-cost replacements to silicon-based electronics in
many specific application areas. As reported by industry analyst group IDTechEx, printed force sensors alone already account for
approximately 30% of printed sensor market share, and by 2025, the projected market for all printed sensor components is expected
to surpass $8 billion. According to the IDTechEx study Printed, Organic and Flexible Electronics 2020-2030: Forecasts,
Technologies, Markets, the total market for printed, flexible, and organic electronics will grow from $41.2 billion in 2020 to $74
billion in 2030. The majority of that is OLEDs (organic but not printed) and conductive ink used for a wide range of applications,
however, stretchable electronics, logic and memory, thin film sensors have huge growth potential. As a member of OE-A, the
Organic and Printed Electronics Association, we actively influence and contribute to the global landscape of printed electronics.
Internet-Of-Things enabled intelligent sensing applications are gaining rapid commercial attention. Our sensing technology
platforms are capable of providing the critical backbone for data sensing, measurement and analytics used in emerging wireless
connectivity implementations in both short-range low-power wireless communications such as Bluetooth and long-range ultra lowpower wireless communications such as LoRaWAN®. As a contributing member of the LoRaWAN Alliance, which is dedicated to
developing and promoting LoRaWAN® technology and its ecosystem to deliver massive IoT, we are also well positioned to capture
these rapidly emerging commercial opportunities.
Our Strategy
Our primary objective is to be the global leader in providing force-sensing based HMI solutions for the automotive, consumer
electronics, medical and industrial automation markets. We also intend to utilize our role as a disruptive technology provider to
bring our HMI solutions to new markets. To achieve our strategy, we intend to:
●

Expand our presence in the markets we occupy. We will continue to exploit new opportunities in the markets we
occupy by leveraging our demonstrable success in the solutions we are providing today.
6
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●

Expand into new and emerging markets. We are bringing our highly-successful product lines and technologies to
markets previously unaware of the opportunities provided by force-sensing solutions.

●

Expand our presence with our current customers. We work with some of the world’s largest companies and most
recognizable brands and are providing second and third generation turn-key solutions to meet their technology needs.
We will continue to develop these existing relationships by working closely with our customers to understand how we
can support their product and technology strategies.

●

Pursue a multi-technology roadmap. We utilize multiple technologies in our HMI solutions, and we will continue to
invest in R&D and expand our offerings to include resistive, piezo, capacitive and other emerging touch and sensing
technologies.

●

Pursue inorganic growth opportunities. In connection with our growth strategy, we will continue to evaluate
potential acquisitions that provide us with new technology or strategic bolt-on scenarios.

Our product development teams are skilled in concept definition, rapid prototyping, hardware and firmware development and
integration support. Interlink benefits from its own world-class manufacturing facility in Shenzhen, China, allowing us to react
quickly to customer needs, while ensuring the highest quality standards. We also maintain a technical sales force that can address
new and existing customer opportunities worldwide.
Our Technology Platforms and Products
Interlink was founded on the invention and commercialization of FSR®, the industry’s first force sensing solution using printed
electronics manufacturing. As we transition from an FSR® sensor supplier to an HMI solutions provider, we pursue and embrace
leading edge force sensing technology platforms. Our Chief Technology Officer and embedded software engineer located in
Singapore, along with our expanding materials science and engineering team in Camarillo, CA, are focused on strategic technology
roadmaps, development of scalable technology platform architectures and pursuit of synergistic technology partnerships. In an ever
changing and competitive landscape, we are committed to staying ahead of the technology curve.
The two primary types of user-input technologies common in today’s devices are capacitive and resistive. Capacitive sensors are
used in the touch screens found in most smart phones and similar devices used globally by millions of consumers. The most
significant drawback to the capacitive technology is its inability to measure force, although there has been some progress recently
in enhancing the technology with pseudo force sensing. Capacitive sensors have become a high-volume, low-margin commodity
product.
Our patented FSR® technology consists of a bottom layer of conductor traces, a proprietary resistive ink top layer and a spacer that
separates the two layers. An additional top layer that contains graphics and protects the sensor can also be added. FSR® sensors can
be as thin as eight thousandths of an inch, making them particularly well suited for use where the design space is restricted, as in
portable or wearable electronics. Our force sensing technology enables the sensor to be used for continuously variable control
functions. For example, in a pointing device, increased pressure can be used to produce faster cursor movement. Unlike capacitive
devices, an FSR® sensor’s performance is not impeded by the presence of moisture, dirt or dust, making the sensor suitable for use
outdoors and in moist and other “hostile” environments. Our FSR® sensors have no moving parts, can be packaged in a sealed
environment, and consume substantially lower power and are less susceptible to false readings or unintended touches than
capacitive sensors. We have developed sophisticated firmware that allows our FSR technology to become a complete solution
delivering effective HMI functionality to our customers.
Custom Solutions
Interlink offers a comprehensive portfolio of standard solutions, from simple force sensors to multi-finger capable rugged
trackpads. The largest part of our business, however, is the development and manufacture of custom solutions for our major
customers. We offer full integration capability spanning initial concept to large volume manufacturing. Custom solutions can be a
single or multi-technology platform to meet customer requirements and include both input and output technologies. We also offer
full firmware development and integration support.
7

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

8/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

Standard Solutions
Our portfolio of standard solutions includes:
●

Our FSR® technology is the most versatile force sensing technology on the market today. These innovative sensors
provide an inverse change in resistance in response to an increase or decrease in applied force. Our standard range of
sensors provides engineers and designers with a durable, reliable, easy to measure, thin-form factor and low-cost
solution for HMI touch solutions and analog data capture for machines. FSR® sensors are available in a range of
sizes, shapes and lengths and with several connection options. We also now offer them in different force sensing
ranges.

●

Force sensing linear potentiometers (“FSLP”) are sensors which can be used for menu navigation and control. Our use
of force allows for high rate scrolling and a more intuitive user experience. The FSLP is an easy to integrate, high
resolution, ultra-low power-based solution that brings intuitive user controls to reduced form factor hand-held
consumer electronic devices. These sensors are available in multiple lengths. We also offer a ring sensor for full 360degree position sensing. These sensors are designed to be integrated into a device’s host processor without the need
for a dedicated microprocessor.

●

Our integrated mouse modules and pointing solutions can add touchpad or 360-degree pointing control to virtually
any electronic device. Ranging from simple mouse button integration to National Electrical Manufacturer Association
(“NEMA”) rated industrial pointing devices, these solutions are ideal for applications away from the desktop. The
modules use FSR® technology and measurement firmware in a four-zone sensor or 4-wire resistive touchpad
configuration along with a micro-controller to provide pressure sensitive cursor direction and speed control in a
durable and easy to integrate form factor.

Intellectual Property
We believe that intellectual property protection is crucial to our business. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trade
secrets, trademarks, nondisclosure agreements with employees and third parties, licensing and other contractual agreements with
third parties to protect our intellectual property. We maintain and support an active program to protect our intellectual property
primarily through the filing of patent applications and the defense of issued patents against infringement. We are not currently
engaged in any patent infringement suits. We implement a ring-fencing strategy of patenting core technology platforms related to
sensors, sensing systems and human interface devices. This strategy is designed to provide a strong barrier against competition in
our core sensor technologies while ensuring competitive advantages in applications of sensing systems and human machine
interface devices in the event a competitor successfully circumvents the core sensor patents.
Our failure to obtain or maintain adequate protection for our intellectual property rights for any reason could hurt our competitive
position. There is no guarantee that patents will be issued from the patent applications that we have filed or may file. Our issued
patents may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, and claims of our patents may not be of sufficient scope or strength, or
issued in the proper geographic regions, to provide meaningful protection or any commercial advantage. See “Risk Factors” under
Item 1A of this Form 10 for further discussion of the risks associated with patents and intellectual property.
Our FSR® sensors are manufactured using proprietary screen-printing techniques. All proprietary aspects of the manufacturing
process are currently conducted in-house at our US and China manufacturing facilities to maintain quality and protect our force
sensing technology from infringement. While screen-printing is a common process in various industries, the quality and precision
of printing, as well as the specific processes required to make high-quality FSR® sensors, require considerable expertise. We
believe this expertise is difficult to replicate over the short term and, to our knowledge, no unrelated party has done so. As a result,
we consider this expertise to be one of our more important trade secrets. We require our employees to sign nondisclosure
agreements and seek to limit access to sensitive information to the greatest practical extent.
As of March 31, 2020, we held eighteen patents, and had twenty seven patents-pending. We group our patents into three general
categories: sensors, which includes five patents expiring between 2022 and 2032; sensing systems, which includes four patents
expiring between 2029 and 2034; and human interface devices, which includes six patents expiring between 2024 and 2034. Our
intellectual property strategy involves filing patent applications in our strategic focus markets on a regular basis. We have also
strengthened our patent portfolio to align with rapidly emerging market opportunities in IoT. Our sensor fusion platform portfolio,
for example, enables strategic pre-positioning in capturing autonomous intelligent sensing applications enabled by emerging ultra
low-power wireless technologies including LoRaWAN®.
8
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Competition
The markets for our products are highly competitive and subject to rapid advancement in design technology. We must identify and
capture future market opportunities by developing and deploying value-added products.
We compete for market share based on our customers’ selection of our components over our competitors during the design phase of
their products. Our ability to compete is dependent on the needs of our customers, how well our products address those needs, our
corporate relationships, and a variety of other factors.
We offer a disruptive technology that is replacing outdated and undesirable approaches including switch technology. We often must
convince companies to abandon older, proven but less elegant technologies and adopt our solutions. This change is supported by
significant end-user demand for touch-sensitive solutions. We also compete against the highly commoditized capacitive resistor
technology. However, our solutions are focused on providing functionality in situations where capacitive is unreliable or entirely
unavailable.
The markets for our products are characterized by significant price competition and we anticipate that our products will continue to
face substantial pricing pressure.
Sales and Marketing
We sell our HMI solutions and force sensing devices through our direct sales employees as well as outside sales representatives and
distributors. We work directly with large multi-national companies, small start-up companies, technology design houses and
original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). Our sales personnel have extensive engineering backgrounds and receive substantial
support from our internal engineering resources. Sales frequently result from interactions between senior management, design
engineers, procurement departments, and our sales personnel. We interact with our customers throughout the product development
and order process. We maintain sales offices in the United States and Japan. We primarily utilize Digi-Key Electronics, based in
Thief River Falls, Minnesota, as a global, full-service distributor of our standard products. In addition to Digi-Key Electronics, we
have several representative companies located in key markets so we can provide local support to strategic customers in these
regions.
Due to the technical nature of our products, the length of our sales cycle can vary from a few months to several years and requires
continued participation from our sales, engineering and management teams. Our sales cycle for our custom solutions generally
includes the following two phases:
Design Opportunity to Design Win
●

Our sales and engineering team engages with the customer to establish the nature of the design and explore
various technical applications that may fit the customer’s need.

●

A customer might select one of our standard solutions or a custom design might be required to fulfill the
customer’s product needs. Custom solutions might require engineering design fees and tooling costs.

●

Product samples are provided to the customer and our team works with the customer to ensure product
performance and address customer needs and specifications.

●

A firm commitment from a customer’s engineering and/or purchasing organization or pre-production orders
indicate a design win. In most cases, we are a sole-source supplier to our customer and cannot be easily and/or
quickly replaced once the product goes into production.
9
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Mass Production
●

Once the customer has chosen our solution, they may move their product into the production phase. It may take
several months or more to go from design win to production. Product lifespan varies dramatically depending on
the marketplace and product. Consumer electronics may have a lifespan of six months to five years; industrial
and automotive applications may continue for three to ten years, and medical product lifespans may continue past
20 years.

Our Customers
Our customers include many of the world’s leading electronics companies. They encompass large multi-national organizations as
well as start-ups, design houses, original design manufacturers, OEMs and universities. We supply some of the world’s largest
consumer electronics manufacturers, luxury and mid-market car companies, familiar names in the medical and industrial equipment
markets, research engineers and designers entering the IoT market, and companies of all different sizes in other markets.
Our customer base is widely dispersed geographically. Sales to customers located outside the United States have historically
accounted for a significant percentage of our revenues, a trend we expect to continue. On a bill-to basis, international sales
constituted 49.0% and 57.5% of our net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Future sales of our products will be based on, among other elements, expansion into adjacent markets, continued expansion of our
product line, the acceptance of our product line, expansion into additional domestic and international markets, and our ability to
maintain a competitive position against other technology providers.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, we had three customers that represented 36.8%, 10.4% and 10.2% of net revenues,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we had three customers that represented 17.2%, 15.7% and 10.7% of net
revenues, respectively.
Manufacturing Operations and Principal Suppliers
We have our own modern manufacturing facility of approximately 14,476 square feet in Shenzhen, China that is ISO 9001, ISO
14001 and ISO 13485 certified, and where all products are RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous Substances) and REACH (Registration,
Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) compliant.
We purchase our materials from outside suppliers. We carefully select suppliers based on their ability to provide quality parts and
components that meet technical specifications. We actively monitor these suppliers, but we are subject to substantial risks
associated with the performance of our suppliers. We source certain of our components from a single supplier, which increases the
risk of shortages and shipment delays and decreases our ability to negotiate with that supplier.
Engineering, Research and Development
Rapid advancements in process technologies and increasing levels of functional integration characterize the market for our
products. We believe that our future success will depend largely on our ability to continue improving our products and our process
technologies, and to develop new technologies.
In anticipation of the launch of our new Global Product Development and Materials Science Center in Camarillo, California, we are
reallocating current resources and future R&D investments away from our current R&D facilities in Singapore. Our Chief
Technology Officer will remain in Singapore, with a core embedded software team, while in California we will focus on new
product development including, among other areas, materials science and printed electronics.
We also operate an engineering center in our facility in Shenzhen, China, which is focused on sustaining engineering, customer
support, quality control and new product introduction.
The global R&D team will pursue scientific research, technology platform development and advanced product development in
areas of materials science, printed electronics devices and manufacturing processes, and multi-disciplinary system engineering. The
global R&D centers will support strategic partnerships with key players in electronics manufacturing services, digital
manufacturing including 3D printing, and product development. This team will also explore opportunities to work on government
funded research projects that are aligned with our technology competencies.
Our Employees
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm
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As of June 30, 2020, we had 81 full-time employees worldwide. Our employees, listed in population size order from largest to
smallest, are in the following departments: operations, R&D, administration, and sales. Our ability to attract and retain qualified
personnel is essential to our continued success. None of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining agreement, and
we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe our employee relations are good.
10
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described
below, together with all of the other information in this Registration Statement on Form 10, including our consolidated financial
statements and related notes, before investing in our common stock. If any of the following risks materialize, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the price of our common
stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
If we are unable to keep pace with rapid technological change and gain market acceptance of new products, we may not be able
to compete effectively.
Technology, both in our markets and in our customers’ markets, is undergoing rapid change. In order to maintain our leadership
position in our existing markets and to emerge as a leader in new markets, we will have to maintain a leadership position in the
technologies supporting those markets. Doing so will require, among other things, that we accomplish the following:
•

accurately predict the evolving needs of our customers and develop, in a timely manner, the technology required to
support those needs;

•

provide products that are not only technologically sophisticated and well supported but are also available at a price
within market tolerances and competitive with comparable products;

•

establish and effectively defend our ownership on the intellectual property supporting our products; and

•

enter into relationships with other companies that have developed complementary technology on which our products
also depend.

There is no assurance that we will be able to achieve any of these objectives.
The ongoing, global coronavirus pandemic has significantly and adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our
business, financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (which causes the disease now known as COVID-19) was first identified in December 2019
in Wuhan, China, and has since spread rapidly across the world, including in all or most of the countries in which we, our clients,
and our suppliers operate. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and is expected to continue to cause, a global slowdown in
economic activity, a decrease in demand for a broad variety of goods and services, disruptions in global supply chains, and
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. Because the severity, magnitude and duration of the pandemic and its
economic consequences are uncertain, vary by region, are rapidly changing and difficult to predict, its full impact on our operations
and financial performance, as well as its impact on our near-term ability to successfully execute our strategic objectives, remains
similarly uncertain and difficult to predict. Further, the pandemic’s ultimate impact depends in part on many factors not within our
control and which may vary by region (heightening the uncertainty as to the ultimate impact COVID-19 may have on our
operations and financial performance), including, without limitation: restrictive governmental and business actions that have been
and continue to be taken in response (including travel restrictions, work from home requirements, and other workforce limitations);
economic stimulus, funding and relief programs and other governmental economic responses; the effectiveness of governmental
actions; economic uncertainty in key global markets and financial market volatility; levels of economic contraction or growth; the
impact of the pandemic on health and safety; the pace of recovery if and when the pandemic subsides; and how significantly the
number of cases increases as economies begin to open and restrictive governmental and business actions are relaxed.
Further, the COVID-19 pandemic has recently subjected our operations and financial performance to several risks, including those
discussed below:
•

Operations-related risks: Our business is facing increased operational challenges including a heightened need to
protect employee health and safety, office shutdowns, workplace disruptions, and restrictions on the movement of
people, both at our own offices and at those of our clients and suppliers. We are also experiencing, and expect to
continue experiencing, lower demand and volume for products and services, client requests for engagement deferrals
or other contract modifications, and other factors related directly and indirectly to the COVID-19 pandemic that
adversely impact our business. We expect that the longer the period of economic disruption continues, the more
severe the negative impact will be on our operations and financial performance.
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•

Client-related risks: Our clients have been and will continue to be disrupted by quarantines and restrictions on
employees’ ability to work and office closures. Such disruptions have and may continue to restrict our ability to
provide products and services to our clients and have also and may continue to reduce demand for our products and
services. In addition, COVID-19 has adversely affected the global economy and the economies and financial markets
of many countries, which may result in further economic downturn that could affect demand for our products and
services and impact our operations.

•

Employee-related risks: We have experienced and expect to continue to experience disruptions to our operations
resulting from quarantines, self-isolations, or other movement and restrictions on the ability of our employees to
perform their jobs that may impact our ability to deliver our products and services in a timely manner or meet
milestones or customer commitments.

The full extent of the effect of the pandemic on us, our customers, our supply chain and our business will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration and severity of the
outbreak or subsequent outbreaks. We may continue to experience the effects of the pandemic even after it has waned, and our
business, results of operations and financial condition could continue to be affected. In particular, if COVID-19 continues to spread
or re-emerges, particularly in the United States, Singapore and China where our operations are most concentrated, resulting in a
prolonged period of travel, commercial, social and other similar restrictions, we could experience, among other things:
•

Adverse impacts on our operations and financial results caused by government and regulatory measures to contain or
mitigate the spread of the virus, temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of our customers or suppliers,
which could impact our ability to timely meet our customers’ orders or negatively impact our supply chain;

•

The failure of third parties on which we rely, including our suppliers, customers and external business partners, to
meet their respective obligations to us, or significant disruptions in their ability to do so, which may be caused by
their own financial or operational difficulties including bankruptcy or default;

•

Disruptions or restrictions on our employees’ ability to work effectively, due to illness, quarantines, travel bans,
shelter-in-place orders or other limitations;

•

Interruptions to the operations of our business if the health of our executives, management personnel and other
employees are affected, particularly if a significant number of individuals are impacted;

•

Any accident, COVID-19 illness, or injury to our employees could result in litigation, manufacturing delays and harm
to our reputation, which could negatively affect our business, results of operations and financial condition;

•

Changes in prices of products and services may be impacted by worldwide demand and by the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic, and such price increases could materially increase our operating costs and adversely affect our profit
margin;

•

Increased cybersecurity and privacy risks and risks related to the reliability of technology to support remote
operations;

•

Sudden and/or severe declines in the market price of our common stock; and

•

Costs incurred and revenues lost during and from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic likely will not be
recoverable.

The COVID-19 pandemic may also affect our operations and financial results in a manner that is not presently known to us or that
we currently do not expect to present significant risks to our operations or financial results.
12
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If we fail to manage change successfully, our operations could be adversely impacted and our business could be impaired.
The ability to operate our business in rapidly evolving markets requires an effective planning and management process. We expect
that responding to changes in our business will place a significant strain on our personnel, management systems, infrastructure and
other resources. Our ability to manage change effectively will require us to attract, train, motivate and manage new employees, to
reallocate human and other resources to support new undertakings and to restructure our operations to manage a restructured
business effectively. If we are unable to respond effectively to change, our operations could be adversely affected and our business
could be impaired.
We rely on third parties for the materials that we use to manufacture our products and a shortage of supply could adversely
affect our revenues, operating results and customer relationships.
We rely on third-party suppliers for the raw material components of our products. There are no assurances that our suppliers will be
able to maintain an adequate supply of these raw materials to enable us to fulfill all of our customers’ orders on a timely basis. A
failure to obtain an adequate supply of the materials for our products could increase our costs, cause us to fail to meet delivery
commitments and cause our customers to purchase from our competitors, which could adversely affect our operating results and
customer relationships. In some situations, we rely on a single supplier for raw material components of our products. Any
disruption in these supplier relationships could prevent us from maintaining an adequate supply of materials and could adversely
affect our results of operation and financial position.
Additionally, our sourcing operations may also be hurt by health concerns regarding the outbreak of viruses, widespread illness,
infectious diseases, contagions and the occurrence of unforeseen epidemics (including the outbreak of the coronavirus and its
potential impact on our financial results) in countries in which our products are manufactured. Moreover, negative press or reports
about internationally manufactured products may sway public opinion, and thus customer confidence, away from our products.
Furthermore, changes in U.S. trade policies, including new restrictions, tariffs or other changes could lead to additional costs,
delays in shipments, embargos and other uncertainties that could negatively impact our relationships with our international
suppliers and materially adversely affect our business. These and other issues affecting our international suppliers or internationally
manufactured merchandise could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Disruptions in our manufacturing facilities or arrangements could cause our revenues and operating results to decline.
We currently manufacture the majority of our products in Shenzhen, China. This facility is vulnerable to damage from earthquakes,
floods, fires, power loss and similar events. It could also be subject to break-ins, sabotage and intentional acts of vandalism. Our
insurance may not cover such events and, if the event is covered, our insurance may not be sufficient to compensate us for any
losses that may occur. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of a natural disaster or other unanticipated problem at
our manufacturing facility could result in delayed shipment of products, missed delivery deadlines and harm to our reputation,
which may cause our revenues and operating results to decline. Performance, reliability or quality problems with our products may
cause our customers to reduce or cancel orders which would harm our operating results.
We regularly introduce new products with new technologies or manufacturing processes. Our products have in the past contained,
and may in the future contain, errors or defects that may be detected at any point in the life of the product. Detection of such errors
could result in delays in shipping and sales during the period required to correct such errors.
Defects may also result in product returns, loss of sales and cancelled orders, delays in market acceptance, injury to our reputation,
injury to customer relationships and increased warranty costs, which could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results
and financial condition.
In addition, events beyond our control, such as disruptions in operations due to natural or man-made disasters, inclement weather
conditions, accidents, system failures, power outages, political instability, physical or cyber break-ins, server failure, work
stoppages, slowdowns or strikes by employees, acts of terrorism, the outbreak of viruses, widespread illness, infectious diseases,
contagions and the occurrence of unforeseen epidemics (including the outbreak of the coronavirus and its potential impact on our
financial results) and other unforeseen or catastrophic events, could damage our manufacturing facilities or our vendors’ fulfillment
centers or render them inoperable, making it difficult or impossible for us or our vendors to process customer orders for an
extended period of time. Such events may also result in delays in our or our vendors’ receipt of inventory and the delivery of
merchandise between our customers, our stores and/or our partners and our distribution center and our vendors’ fulfillment centers.
We or our vendors could also incur significantly higher costs and longer lead times associated with distributing inventory during the
time it takes for us or our vendors to reopen or replace our distribution center or any of their fulfillment centers.
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International sales and manufacturing risks could adversely affect our operating results.
Our revenue from international sales represents a substantial portion of our overall sales, and this trend will continue for the
foreseeable future. The majority of our manufacturing is currently performed in China. Our international operations involve a
number of risks, including with respect to:
•

import-export license agreements, tariffs, taxes and other trade barriers;

•

staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

securing credit and funding;

•

maintaining an effective system of internal controls at our foreign facilities;

•

collecting foreign receivables;

•

transfer pricing and other tax uncertainties;

•

currency exchange fluctuations;

•

reduced protection of intellectual property rights;

•

the impact of outbreaks, and threat or perceived threat of outbreaks, of epidemics and pandemics, including, without
limitation, the coronavirus outbreak, on our sourcing and manufacturing operations as well as consumer spending;

•

political and economic instability, and terrorism; and

•

transportation risks.

Any of the above factors could adversely affect our operating results.
Our markets are intensely competitive and many of our potential competitors have resources that we lack.
Our markets are competitive, and we expect competition in our newer markets to increase. Our competitors include companies with
similar products or technologies, companies that sell complementary products to our target markets and our customers themselves,
who could choose to manufacture products that they currently buy from us. Our competitors and potential competitors may have
established business relationships that afford them a competitive advantage or may create technologies that are superior to ours or
that set a new industry standard that will define the successful product for that market. If any of our competitors establish a close
working relationship with our customers, they may obtain advance knowledge of our customers’ technology choices or may be
afforded an opportunity to work in partnership to develop compatible technologies and may therefore achieve a competitive
advantage. We may be unable to compete successfully against our current and future competitors.
14
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We cannot guarantee that our HMI solutions for new markets will be successful or that we will be able to continue to generate
significant revenue from these markets.
Our HMI solutions may not be successful in new markets despite the fact that these product solutions are capable of enabling
people to interact more easily and intuitively with a wide variety of electronic devices. Various target markets for our interface
solutions may develop slower than anticipated or could utilize competing technologies. The markets for certain of these products
depend in part upon the continued development and deployment of wireless and other technologies, which may or may not address
the needs of the users of these products.
Our ability to generate significant revenue from new markets will depend on various factors, including the following:
•

the development and growth of these markets;

•

the ability of our technologies and product solutions to address the needs of these markets;

•

the price and performance requirements of our customers and the preferences of end users; and

•

our ability to provide our customers with HMI solutions that provide advantages in terms of size, power consumption,
reliability, durability, performance, and value-added features compared with alternative solutions.

The failure of any of these target markets to develop as we expect, or our failure to serve these markets to a significant extent, will
impede our sales growth and could result in substantially reduced earnings. We cannot predict the size or growth rate of these
markets or the market share we will achieve or maintain in these markets in the future.
If we fail to maintain and build relationships with our customers, or if our customers’ products which utilize our HMI solutions
do not gain widespread market acceptance, our revenue may stagnate or decline.
We generally do not sell products to end-users. Instead, we sell component products that our customers incorporate into their
products, and we depend on our customers to successfully manufacture and distribute products incorporating our component
products and to generate consumer demand through their marketing and promotional activities. We do not control or influence the
manufacture, promotion, distribution, or pricing of the products that incorporate our HMI solutions. As a result of this, our success
depends almost entirely upon the widespread market acceptance of our customers’ products that incorporate our HMI solutions.
Even if our technologies successfully meet our customers’ price and performance goals, our sales would decline or fail to develop if
our customers do not achieve commercial success in selling their products that incorporate our HMI solutions.
Our customers generally do not provide us with firm, long-term volume purchase commitments, opting instead, to issue purchase
orders that they can cancel, reduce, or delay at any time. In order to meet the expectations of our customers, we must provide
innovative HMI solutions on a timely and cost-effective basis. This requires us to match our design and production capacity with
customer demand, maintain satisfactory delivery schedules, and meet performance goals. If we are unable to achieve these goals for
any reason, our sales may decline or fail to develop, which would result in decreasing revenue.
We cannot provide any assurance that current environmental laws and product quality specification standards, or any laws or
standards enacted in the future, will not have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our operations are subject to environmental and various other regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business.
Regulations have been enacted in certain jurisdictions which impose restrictions on waste disposal of electronic products and
electronics recycling obligations. If we fail to comply with applicable rules and regulations in connection with the use and disposal
of such substances or other environmental or recycling legislation, we could be subject to significant liability or loss of future sales.
15
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If we are not able to protect our intellectual property or if we infringe on the intellectual property of others, our business and
operating results could be adversely affected.
We consider our intellectual property to be a key element of our ability to compete in our chosen markets. We rely on a
combination of patents, trade secrets and proprietary software to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. There is no
assurance that patents will be issued from any of our pending applications or that any claims allowed from existing or pending
patents will be sufficiently broad to protect our technology. We also cannot assure that any patents issued to us will not be
challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that the rights granted will provide proprietary protection. Litigation may be necessary
to enforce our patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary
rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of the litigation.
Despite our efforts to maintain and safeguard our proprietary rights, there are no assurances that we will be successful in doing so
or that our competitors will not independently develop or patent technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our
technologies. If any of the holders of these patents assert claims that we are infringing them, we could be forced to incur substantial
litigation expenses, and if we were found to be infringing on someone else’s patent, we could be required to pay substantial
damages, pay royalties in the future or be enjoined from infringing in the future.
We expect to make acquisitions, which could involve certain risks and uncertainties.
We expect to make acquisitions in the future. Acquisitions involve numerous inherent challenges, such as properly evaluating
acquisition opportunities, properly evaluating risks and other diligence matters, ensuring adequate capital availability and balancing
other resource constraints. There are risks and uncertainties related to acquisitions, including: difficulties integrating acquired
technology, operations, personnel and financial and other systems; unrealized sales expectations from the acquired business;
unrealized synergies and cost savings; unknown or underestimated liabilities; diversion of management attention from running our
existing businesses and potential loss of key management employees of the acquired business. In addition, internal controls over
financial reporting of acquired companies may not be up to required standards. Our integration activities may place substantial
demands on our management, operational resources and financial and internal control systems. Customer dissatisfaction or
performance problems with an acquired business, technology, service or product could also have a material adverse effect on our
reputation and business.
We face risks associated with security breaches or cyber-attacks.
We face risks associated with security breaches or cyber-attacks of our computer systems or those of our third-party representatives,
vendors, and service providers. Although we have implemented security procedures and controls to address these threats, our
systems may still be vulnerable to data theft, computer viruses, programming errors, attacks by third parties, or similar disruptive
problems. If our systems, or systems owned by third parties affiliated with our company, were breached or attacked, the proprietary
and confidential information of our company and our customers could be disclosed and we may be required to incur substantial
costs and liabilities, including the following:
•

expenses to rectify the consequences of the security breach or cyber-attack;

•

liability for stolen assets or information;

•

costs of repairing damage to our systems;

•

lost revenue and income resulting from any system downtime caused by such breach or attack;

•

loss of competitive advantage if our proprietary information is obtained by competitors as a result of such breach or
attack;

•

increased costs of cyber security protection;

•

costs of incentives we may be required to offer to our customers or business partners to retain their business; and

•

damage to our reputation.
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In addition, any compromise of security from a security breach or cyber-attack could deter customers or business partners from
entering into transactions that involve providing confidential information to us. As a result, any compromise to the security of our
systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.
Our ability to operate effectively could be impaired if we were to lose the services of key personnel, or if we are unable to recruit
qualified managers and key personnel in the future.
Our success is substantially dependent on the continued availability of our key management and technical personnel. Several of our
key management personnel have been with us throughout most of our history and have substantial experience with our business and
technology. If one or more of our key management personnel leaves Interlink and we are unable to find a replacement with the
combination of skills and attributes necessary to execute our business plan, it may have an adverse impact on our business. Our
success will also depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain additional qualified professional, technical, production,
managerial and marketing personnel, both domestically and internationally.
Risks Relating to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock
There is a limited or no public market for our securities.
There has been a limited public market for our common stock and no public market for our outstanding stock options. Our
common stock is currently quoted on the OTC Pink marketplace of the OTC Markets Group. The daily trading volume of our
common stock has been limited.
We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our Company will lead to the development of an active trading market or
how liquid that market might become. The lack of an active market may reduce the value of shares of our common stock and
impair the ability of our stockholders to sell their shares at the time or price at which they wish to sell them. An inactive market
may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling our common stock and may impair our ability to acquire or invest in other
companies, products, or technologies by using our common stock as consideration.
We may be unable to list our securities on a national exchange, such as NASDAQ.
There has been a limited public market for our common stock. We may never meet or maintain certain qualifying requirements for
the trading of our common stock on a national exchange. If we are unable to meet these requirements, we may be limited to trading
conducted on a marketplace of the OTC Markets Group.
Current levels of market volatility are unprecedented.
Public markets have been experiencing volatility and disruption for more than 12 months. In recent months, the volatility and
disruption has reached unprecedented levels. In some cases, the markets have produced downward pressure on stock prices and
credit availability for certain issuers without regard to those issuers’ underlying financial strength. If current levels of market
disruption and volatility continue or worsen, there can be no assurance that we will not experience an adverse effect, which may be
material, on our ability to access capital and on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The price of our common stock may be volatile, and the value of a stockholder’s investment could decline.
Technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility. The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate
substantially, depending on many factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. These fluctuations could cause investors to lose all or part of their investment in our common stock. Factors that
could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:
•

announcements of new offerings, products, services or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other
events by us or our competitors;

•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
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•

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general;

•

fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

•

actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;

•

failure of our results of operations to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

•

actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts;

•

litigation involving us, our industry, or both;

•

regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries, or both;

•

general economic conditions and trends;

•

major catastrophic events;

•

lockup releases, sales of large blocks of our common stock;

•

the impact of outbreaks, and threat or perceived threat of outbreaks, of epidemics and pandemics, including, without
limitation, the coronavirus outbreak, on our sourcing and manufacturing operations as well as consumer spending;

•

departures of key employees; or

•

an adverse impact on the company from any of the other risks cited herein.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market, in general, experience a loss of investor confidence, the trading
price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations or financial condition. The
trading price of our common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these
events do not directly affect us. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities
class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If our stock price is volatile, we may become the target of
securities litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources from
our business. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research reports about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock, to some extent, depends on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
should downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our business prospects, our share price would likely decline. If one or more
of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial
markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish
rights to our product candidates on unfavorable terms to us.
We may seek additional capital through a variety of means, including through private and public equity offerings and debt
financings. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, ownership interest
will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect stockholder rights. Debt financing,
if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take certain actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds from third parties, we
may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to
us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing when needed, we may be required to delay, limit,
reduce or terminate our product development or commercialization efforts for our product candidates, or we may need to grant to
others the rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
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The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert our management’s attention and affect our ability
to attract and retain qualified board members.
As a public company, we will be subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and will be required to comply with the
applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
listing requirements of the securities exchange on which our common stock is traded and other applicable securities rules and
regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some
activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. Among other things, the
Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations and
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. In order to maintain and
improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant
resources and management oversight is required. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business
concerns, which could harm our business and results of operations. We may need to hire additional employees to comply with these
requirements, which will increase our costs and expenses.
In addition, being a public company subject to these rules and regulations make it more expensive for us to obtain director and
officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain
coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified executive officers and qualified
members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee.
Our CEO has control over key decision making as a result of his control of a majority of our voting stock.
Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, beneficially owns approximately 82.5% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock as of June 30, 2020. As a result, Mr. Bronson has the ability to control the outcome of
matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and any merger, consolidation, or sale of all
or substantially all of our assets. In addition, Mr. Bronson has the ability to control the management and affairs of our company as a
result of his position as our CEO and his ability to control the election of our directors. As a board member and officer, Mr.
Bronson owes a fiduciary duty to our stockholders and must act in good faith in a manner he reasonably believes to be in the best
interests of our stockholders. As a stockholder, Mr. Bronson may have interests that differ from yours and he may vote in a manner
that is adverse to your interests. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of deterring, delaying or preventing a change
of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of
a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock.
Our success depends in part on our CEO and CFO, who simultaneously lead other public corporations.
Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Raymond M. Li, our Chief Financial
Officer, simultaneously serve as officers of Qualstar Corporation (OTCMKTS: QBAK) and BKF Capital Group, Inc. (OTCMKTS:
BKFG). Mr. Bronson serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of Qualstar Corporation and as the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer for BKF Capital Group, Inc., and Mr. Li serves as Chief Financial Officer of each of Qualstar
Corporation and BKF Capital Group, Inc.
As a result, each of Messrs. Bronson and Li divides his time among these companies and does not devote his full business time and
attention to Interlink’s business. Each of Messrs. Bronson and Li currently works an equivalent full-time schedule for Interlink;
however, there can be no assurance that the amount of time these officers devote to our company will not diminish from time to
time for limited or extended periods as their other business obligations require a greater portion of their attention. Neither of
Messrs. Bronson or Li is required to spend a minimum amount of time on Interlink business. Our continued success depends in part
upon the availability and performance of these officers, particularly Mr. Bronson, who possesses unique and extensive industry
knowledge and experience as well as a deep understanding of our business and strategy. A reduction in their services to Interlink
from their current levels due to obligations to Qualstar Corporation, BKF Capital Group, Inc. or other organizations with which
these officers are affiliated could have a disruptive effect, adversely impacting our ability to manage our business effectively and
execute our business strategy.
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We are required to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
and any adverse results from such evaluation could result in a loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an
adverse effect on our stock price.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to furnish a report by our management on our internal
control over financial reporting. Such report contains, among other matters, an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not our internal control over
financial reporting is effective. This assessment must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting identified by management. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could have an adverse
effect on our stock price.
As a non-accelerated filer, we are required to evaluate and report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting. Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting; however, our independent registered public accounting firm may communicate to us if they are not satisfied
with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating. Our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a
material weakness in the future.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, consequently, stockholders’ ability to achieve a return on their
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends on our common stock. As a result, stockholders may only receive a return on their investment in our common stock if the
market price of our common stock increases.
Our charter documents and Nevada law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entrenchment.
Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our company. These
provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our
management. These provisions include:
•

the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of
those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

•

the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board
of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill
vacancies on our board of directors;

•

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, by majority vote,
or by any shareholder or group of shareholders who own and have the right to vote more than 25% of our issued and
outstanding securities, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take
action, including the removal of directors; and

•

the ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend our bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to
take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our amended
and restated bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt.

We also are subject to provisions of Nevada law found in Nevada Revised Statutes, Sections 78.411 to 78.444, inclusive, that
prohibit us from engaging in any business combination with any “interested stockholder,” meaning generally that a stockholder
who beneficially owns 10 percent (10%) or more of our stock, cannot acquire us for a period of time after the date this person
became an interested stockholder, unless various conditions are met, such as approval of the transaction by our board of directors
and stockholders.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation
Our failure to comply with U.S. laws and regulations relating to the export and import of goods, technology, and software could
subject us to penalties and other sanctions and restrict our ability to license and develop our circuit designs.
We are obligated by law to comply with all U.S. laws and regulations governing the export and import of goods, technology, and
services, including the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”), the Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”),
regulations administered by the Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, and regulations administered by the
Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco Firearms and Explosives governing the importation of items on the U.S. Munitions Import List.
Pursuant to these regulations, we are responsible for determining the proper licensing jurisdiction and export classification of our
products, and obtaining all necessary licenses or other approvals, if required, for exports and imports of technical data, and
software, or for the provision of technical assistance or other defense services to or on behalf of foreign persons. We are also
required to obtain export licenses, if required, before employing or otherwise utilizing foreign persons in the performance of our
contracts if the foreign person will have access to export-controlled technical data or software. The violation of any of the
applicable laws and regulations could subject us to administrative, civil, and criminal penalties.
These regulations could restrict our ability to sell products and develop new products. Changes in our products or changes in export
and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our products in international markets, prevent our customers with
international operations from deploying products incorporating our products throughout their global systems or, in some cases,
prevent the export or import of products that include our products to certain countries altogether. Any change in export or import
regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries,
persons, or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our products by, or our ability to export or
license our products to, existing or potential customers with international operations and decreased revenue. Additionally, failure to
comply with these laws could result in sanctions by the U.S. government, including substantial monetary penalties, denial of export
privileges, and debarment from government contracts.
If we fail to comply with anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), we could be subject to
civil and/or criminal penalties.
As a result of our international operations, we may be subject to anti-bribery laws, including the FCPA, which prohibits companies
from making improper payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business. If we fail to comply with
these laws, the U.S. Department of Justice, the SEC, or other U.S. or foreign governmental authorities could seek civil and/or
criminal sanctions, including monetary fines and penalties against us or our employees, as well as additional changes to our
business practices and compliance programs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or
financial condition.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements included later in this Registration
Statement on Form 10. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements
that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of
events could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to
these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Registration Statement on Form 10, particularly in “Risk
Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
Overview
Interlink Electronics Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, “Interlink” or the “Company”) designs, develops, manufactures and sells a range of
force-sensing technologies that incorporate our proprietary materials technology, firmware and software into a portfolio of standard
products and custom solutions. These include sensor components, subassemblies, modules and products that support effective,
efficient cursor control and novel three-dimensional user inputs. Our HMI technology platforms are deployed in a wide range of
markets including consumer electronics, automotive, industrial, and medical. The application of our HMI technology platforms
includes vehicle entry, vehicle multi-media control interface, rugged touch controls, presence detection, collision detection, speed
and torque controls, biological monitoring and others.
Interlink has been a leader in the printed electronics industry for 30 years with the commercialization of our patented FSR®
technology that has enabled rugged and reliable HMI solutions. Our solutions have focused on handheld user input, menu
navigation, cursor control, and other intuitive interface technologies for the world’s top electronics manufacturers.
We sell our products globally to a diverse array of customers that include the Fortune 500 as well as start-ups, design houses,
original design manufacturers, OEMs and universities. Our technology has been deployed in the consumer electronics, industrial
automation, automotive and medical markets. Our global presence in the United States, China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan,
allows us to provide local sales and engineering support services to our existing and future customers. Our products are
manufactured by our wholly-owned subsidiary in a state-of-the-art facility in Shenzhen, China. We control 100% of the
manufacturing and shipping process which enables us to respond quickly to customer product demand and design requirements.
We have invested significantly in the expansion of our technology platforms through our own internal development to ensure we
provide the market with leading-edge HMI solutions that are seamless to deploy and perform flawlessly. We spent the last three
years building an R&D organization in Singapore to develop new product offerings that will meet the market’s growing demand for
touch technology. We are now shifting a majority of R&D and product development efforts to our new headquarters in Irvine,
California, where we are establishing a Global Product Development and Materials Science Center. We believe an increased
presence in the US will allow us to grow our business and be more closely aligned with current and future large-tier customers. We
also plan to explore potential strategic relationships with companies and technology institutes that will support our growth
initiatives.
22

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

27/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain consolidated statements of operations data for the periods indicated. The percentages in the
tables are based on net revenues.
Year ended December 31,
2019

$
Revenue, net
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Engineering, research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

2018
%
$
(in thousands, except percentages)
7,305
100.0% $
8,904
3,995
54.7%
4,000
3,310
45.3%
4,904
916
2,608
3,524
(214)

Revenue, net
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Engineering, research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income (loss)

12.5%
35.7%
48.2%
(2.9)%

%
100.0%
44.9%
55.1%

908
3,246
4,154
750

10.2%
36.5%
46.7%
8.4%

$

39
(175)
282
(457)

0.5%
(2.4)%
3.9%
(6.3)% $

60
810
188
622

0.7%
9.1%
2.1%
7.0%

$

(26)
(483)

(0.4)%
(6.7)% $

(108)
514

(1.2)%
5.8%

$

Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
$
%
$
(in thousands, except percentages)
1,691
100.0% $
1,450
732
43.3%
750
959
56.7%
700
285
746
1,031
(72)

16.9%
44.1%
61.0%
(4.3)%

%
100.0%
51.7%
48.3%

252
791
1,043
(343)

17.4%
54.5%
71.9%
(23.6)%

$

6
(66)
(48)
(18)

0.4%
(3.9)%
(2.8)%
(1.1)% $

(33)
(376)
(62)
(314)

(2.3)%
(25.9)%
(4.3)%
(21.6)%

$

(20)
(38)

(1.2)%
(2.3)% $

50
(264)

3.4%
(18.2)%
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Revenue, net by the markets we serve is as follows:

Automotive
Industrial
Medical
Consumer
Standard
Revenue, net

Twelve months ended December 31,
2019
2018
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
$
—
—% $
266
3.0% $
(266)
1,978
27.1%
2,364
26.5%
(386)
2,688
36.8%
1,394
15.7%
1,294
404
5.5%
1,532
17.2%
(1,128)
2,235
30.6%
3,348
37.6%
(1,113)
$
7,305
100.0% $
8,904
100.0% $
(1,599)

% Change
(100.0)%
(16.3)%
92.8%
(73.7)%
(33.3)%
(18.0)%

We sell our custom products into the industrial, medical and consumer markets. We previously sold custom products in the
automotive market and continue to pursue opportunities in that sector. We sell our standard products through various distribution
networks. The ultimate customer for standards products may come from different markets which are often unknown to us at the
time of sale. Each market has different product design cycles. Products with longer design cycles often have much longer product
life-cycles. Automotive, industrial, and medical products generally have longer design and life-cycles than consumer products. We
currently have products with life-cycles that have exceeded twenty years and are ongoing.
Overall revenues were down significantly in all categories except medical. The decrease in net revenues in the automotive market
was driven by a major customer making a design change to their product that eliminated the need for our solution. Once our largest
customer, revenues for this customer have steadily eroded from mid-2017 through 2018, and are now exhausted. In addition, a
product for another large automotive customer had expectedly reached its end of life cycle. These two product lines represented the
vast majority of our penetration into the automotive market.
A decline in industrial market revenue was a result of a customer choosing to dual source the product solution, which significantly
reduced our share of revenue.
Diminution in our custom product sales in other markets was driven by decreased sales to our current customers for use in their
ongoing product lines. In the normal cycle, some of our larger customers purchase in bulk quantities and absorption of these
products can straddle several financial reporting periods. In all markets, the timing of orders from our customers is not always
predictable and can be concentrated in varying periods during the year to coincide with their project and building plans. We have
seen a stabilization of orders in the second quarter of 2020.

Cost of revenue

Twelve months ended December 31,
2019
2018
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
$
3,995
54.7% $
4,000
44.9% $
(5)

% Change
(0.1)%

Our cost of revenue is impacted by various factors including product mix, volume, material costs, manufacturing efficiencies,
facilities costs, compensation costs and any provisions for excess and obsolete inventories. Although variable costs decreased
consistent with the decrease in revenues, cost of revenue was impacted by tariffs imposed on our China manufactured items
imported to our domestic operation in situations where we were unable to pass along those costs. In addition, start-up costs for
moving our domestic manufacturing for our medical customer to our China operations increased our cost of revenue in the short
term.
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Twelve months ended December 31,
2019
2018
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Engineering, research and
development

$

916

12.5% $

908

10.2% $

% Change

8

0.9%

Engineering and R&D expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses for employees engaged in research, design and
development activities. Our R&D team focuses both on internal design development, as well as design development aimed at
addressing customer design challenges, in order to develop our HMI solutions.
Our engineering and R&D costs were slightly higher as compared with the same period in the prior year. This was due to the higher
costs in the expansion of our Singapore R&D center. This was partially offset by a research incentive grant from the Singapore
government paid in the quarter ended June 30, 2019.
Twelve months ended December 31,
2019
2018
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Selling, general and administrative $
2,608
35.7% $
3,246
36.5% $
(638)

% Change
(19.7)%

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses, legal and other professional fees,
facilities expenses and communication expenses. SG&A expenses decreased as compared with the same period in the prior year
driven by internal efficiencies gained during a period of lower revenue, reduced reliance of third-party consultants and professional
service providers, and a reduction in costs associated with being a public reporting company following deregistration in early 2019
of our common stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Income tax expense

Twelve months ended December 31,
2019
2018
% of Pre% of Pretax
tax
Amount
Income
Amount
Income
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
$
282
N/A $
188
23.2% $
94

% Change
50.0%

Tax expense reflects statutory tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate adjusted for normal book/tax differences. Tax
expense for 2019 was higher primarily as a result of withholding tax on dividends paid by a subsidiary to our U.S.-based parent
company.
Our effective tax rate is directly affected by the relative proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the jurisdictions in
which we operate. Based on the expected mix of domestic and foreign earnings, we anticipate our effective tax rate to remain
similar to the newly stated US statutory rate of 21% primarily due to a significant portion of our earnings originating in the higher
rate China jurisdiction (25%), offset by lower rate jurisdictions in Singapore (17%) and Hong Kong (16.5%). State taxes also have
an impact in the United States.
Discrete tax events may cause our effective rate to fluctuate on a quarterly basis. Certain events, including, for example,
acquisitions and other business changes, which are difficult to predict, may also cause our effective tax rate to fluctuate. We are
subject to changing tax laws, regulations, and interpretations in multiple jurisdictions. Corporate tax reform continues to be a
priority in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. Additional changes to the tax system in the U.S. could have significant effects, positive
and negative, on our effective tax rate, and on our deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenue, net by the markets we serve is as follows:

Industrial
Medical
Consumer
Standard
Revenue, net

Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
392
23.2%
429
29.6%
(37)
404
23.9%
402
27.7%
2
187
11.1%
33
2.3%
154
708
41.8%
586
40.4%
122
$
1,691
100.0% $
1,450
100.0% $
241

% Change
(8.6)%
0.5%
466.3%
20.8%
16.6%

Overall revenues increased 16.6% due to consumer customer higher demand and the timing of a standard product order from a
longtime customer. In the normal cycle, some of our larger customers purchase in bulk quantities and absorption of these products
can straddle several financial reporting periods. In all markets, the timing of orders from our customers is not always predictable
and can be concentrated in varying periods during the year to coincide with their project and building plans.
Many of our products are currently subject to import tariffs imposed on goods manufactured in China, increasing the cost to our
customers.
Some of our more recent custom product success for new product lines in the consumer market is making its way into the pipeline
as part of a long design cycle and revenues were just starting to be realized in 2019. Overall, we expect consumer revenues to
stabilize for the remainder of the year.

Cost of revenue

Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
$
732
43.3% $
750
51.7% $
(18)

% Change
(2.4)%

Cost of revenue decreased compared with the prior year even though revenues increased. This is primarily due to efficiencies
derived from the relocation of our medical manufacturing to China from the United States. Gross margin increased from 48.3% in
the first quarter of 2019 to 56.7% in the first quarter of 2020 as more revenue was available to offset fixed costs and production
overhead.
Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
% of Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Engineering, research and
development

$

285

16.9% $

252

17.4% $

33

% Change

13.1%

Our engineering and R&D costs were higher as compared with the same period in the prior year primarily due to the increase in
engineering staffing of our Singapore R&D center. We will continue to invest in scientific research, technology platform
development and advanced product development at a consistent pace, unrelated to period-to-period revenue fluctuations.
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Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
% of
Net
% of Net
Amount
Revenue
Amount
Revenue
Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Selling, general and administrative $
746
44.0% $
791
54.6% $
(45)

% Change
(5.7)%

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased as compared with the same period in the prior year due to a continued focus
on cost structure, creating internal efficiencies where possible and reducing reliance on third-party consultants. Our SG&A
organization is lean, and will remain so. However, in May and June 2020, subsequent to the financial results presented above, we
added a Director of Global Sales and Chief Financial Officer, and we expect to incur additional SG&A as we expand our sales &
marketing footprint and become a public reporting company by registering our common stock under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. Although there may be a lag, we expect increases in global revenue to more than offset these new costs.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash requirements for working capital and capital expenditures have been funded from cash balances on hand and cash generated
from operations. As of March 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $6.1 million, working capital of $7.2 million and no
indebtedness. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and money market funds. We did not have any short-term or long-term
investments as of March 31, 2020. Of the $6.1 million of cash balances on hand, $1.3 million was held by foreign subsidiaries. If
these funds are needed for our operations in the U.S., we have several methods to repatriate the funds without significant tax
effects, including repayment of intercompany loans or distributions of previously taxed income. Other distributions may require us
to incur U.S. or foreign taxes to repatriate these funds. However, our intent is to permanently reinvest these funds outside the U.S.
and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate cash to fund our U.S. operations.
Subsequent to March 31, 2020, we applied for and received a loan from Silicon Valley Bank in the aggregate principal amount of
$185,530 pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
(the “CARES Act”), which was enacted March 27, 2020. The loan is evidenced by a promissory note, dated April 21, 2020, issued
by us to the lender, which note matures on April 20, 2022, and bears interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum, payable monthly
commencing on November 21, 2020, following an initial deferral period as specified under the PPP. We may prepay the note at any
time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. Proceeds from the loan are being used to fund designated expenses, including
certain payroll costs, group health care benefits and other permitted expenses, in accordance with the PPP. Under the terms of the
PPP, up to the entire amount of principal and accrued interest may be forgiven to the extent loan proceeds are used for qualifying
expenses as described in the CARES Act and applicable implementing guidance issued by the U.S. Small Business Administration
under the PPP. We intend to use all or a substantial portion of the loan for designated qualifying expenses and to apply for
forgiveness of all or a substantial portion of the loan in accordance with the terms of the PPP. No assurance can be given that we
will obtain forgiveness of the loan in whole or in part. With respect to any portion of the loan that is not forgiven, the loan is subject
to customary provisions for a loan of this type, including customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment
defaults and breaches of the note’s provisions.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents balance will be sufficient to maintain our current operations considering our
current financial condition, obligations, the proceeds of the PPP loan and other expected cash flows. If our circumstances change,
however, we may require additional cash. If we require additional cash, we may attempt to raise additional capital through equity,
equity-linked or debt financing arrangements. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, the
ownership of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise additional financing by the incurrence of indebtedness, we could
be subject to fixed payment obligations and could also be subject to restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur
additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we are unable to
raise additional needed funds, we may also take measures to reduce expenses to offset any shortfall.
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Cash Flow Analysis
Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are summarized as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
$
2 $
1,579 $
$
(239) $
(3,147) $
$
0 $
6 $

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands)
263 $
(163)
(34) $
(74)
0 $
0

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the $2 thousand in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to
changes in operating assets and liabilities that offset the net loss. Net loss of $457 thousand plus adjustments for non-cash charges
of $378 thousand, including the non-cash charges related to lease accounting, resulted in a net decrease in cash of $79 thousand.
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities of $81 thousand that increased cash was primarily due to the timing of shipments and
payments during the period, as discussed below.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the $1.579 million in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to
net income of $622 thousand, adjusted for non-cash charges of $280 thousand. Additionally, the net increase due to changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $677 thousand was primarily related to accounts receivable growth.
Accounts receivable decreased from $780 thousand at December 31, 2018 to $730 thousand at December 31, 2019 due to lower
shipments during the fourth quarter of 2019. Many of our customers pay immediately and accounts receivable is generally related
to the most recent shipments. Inventories decreased from $1.071 million at December 31, 2018 to $927 thousand at December 31,
2019. Inventory balances will fluctuate at the end of any accounting period depending on the timing of materials purchases and
product shipments. Prepaid expenses and other current assets increased from $303 thousand at December 31, 2018 to $330
thousand at December 31, 2019. Accounts payable, accrued payables, accrued expenses, and other accrued liabilities decreased
from $601 thousand at December 31, 2018 to $520 thousand at December 31, 2019 primarily due to the timing of payment for
purchases of materials and other services provided.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020, the $263 thousand in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily
attributable to net loss of $18 thousand plus adjustments for non-cash charges of $90 thousand, including the non-cash charges
related to lease accounting, resulting in a net increase in cash of $72 thousand. Net changes in operating assets and liabilities of
$191 thousand that increased cash was primarily due to the timing of shipments and payments during the period.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the $163 thousand in net cash used by operating activities was primarily attributable to
net loss of $314 thousand, adjusted for non-cash charges of $72 thousand, resulting in a net decrease in cash of $242 thousand.
Additionally, the net increase due to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $58 thousand was primarily related to accounts
receivable growth.
Accounts receivable increased from $511 thousand at March 31, 2019 to $719 thousand at March 31, 2020 due to more shipments
during the quarter. Many of our customers pay immediately and accounts receivable is generally related to the most recent
shipments. Inventories decreased from $1.129 million at March 31, 2019 to $826 thousand at March 31, 2020. Inventory balances
will fluctuate at the end of any accounting period depending on the timing of materials purchases and product shipments. Prepaid
expenses and other current assets decreased from $311 thousand at March 31, 2019 to $277 thousand at March 31, 2020. Accounts
payable, accrued payables, accrued expenses, and other accrued liabilities increased from $507 thousand at March 31, 2019 to $552
thousand at March 31, 2020 primarily due to the timing of payment for purchases of materials and other services provided.
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities of $239 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2019 predominantly related to capital
expenditures for the expansion of our R&D center in Singapore and costs related to securing patents on new products and processes
developed thereunder. In addition, during 2019 we used $6 thousand to repurchase shares.
Net cash used in investing activities of $3.147 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 included $2.764 million used to
repurchase shares under a previously authorized share repurchase program. In addition, capital expenditures for the expansion of
our R&D center in Singapore and costs related to securing patents on new products and processes developed thereunder used
another $383 thousand.
Net cash used in investing activities of $34 thousand and $37 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, primarily related to capital expenditures for the continued investment in our R&D center in Singapore and costs
related to securing patents on new products and processes developed thereunder.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net cash used provided by financing activities of $6 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 related to proceeds from the
exercise of stock options during the year. There were no financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019.
There were no financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of March 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities
or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As
such, we are not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in such relationships.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
(“GAAP”). The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To
the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statements presentation, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows will be affected.
We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, inventory valuation, accounts receivable, stockbased compensation expense and income taxes have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. For further information on all of our significant
accounting policies, see the notes to our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606),
we recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
that is expected to be received for those goods or services. The guidance defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle
and, in doing so, judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process including identifying performance
obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the
transaction price to each separate performance obligation. Generally, we recognize revenue when there is persuasive evidence that
an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss have passed, delivery has occurred or the services have been rendered, the sales price is
fixed or determinable and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured. Title and risk of loss generally pass to our
customers upon shipment. In limited circumstances where either title or risk of loss pass upon destination or acceptance or when
collection is not reasonably assured, we defer revenue recognition until such events occur.
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We input orders based upon receipt of a customer purchase order, confirm pricing through the customer purchase order, validate
credit worthiness through past payment history or other financial data and record revenue upon shipment of goods and when risk of
loss and title transfer. All customers have warranty rights, and some customers have explicit or implicit rights of return. We record
reserves for potential customer returns and warranty rights.
Inventory Valuation
Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value (“NRV”) and consist of materials, labor and overhead. Inventory costs
are determined using standard costs which approximate actual costs under the first-in, first-out method. We evaluate inventories for
excess quantities and obsolescence. Our evaluation considers market and economic conditions, technology changes, new product
introductions, and changes in strategic business direction, and requires estimates that may include elements that are uncertain. In
order to state the inventory at lower of cost or NRV, we maintain reserves against individual stocking units. Inventory write-downs,
once established, are not reversed until the related inventories have been sold or scrapped. If future demand or market conditions
are less favorable than our projections, a write-down of inventory may be required, and would be reflected in cost of goods sold in
the period the revision is made.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoice amount and presented net of the allowance for doubtful accounts. They do not bear
interest. We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable at each balance sheet date using a combination of factors, such as
historical experience, credit quality, age of the accounts receivable balances, and economic conditions that may affect a customer’s
ability to pay. We include any accounts receivable balances that are determined to be uncollectible in the overall allowance for
doubtful accounts using the specific identification method. After all attempts to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is
written off against the allowance.
Stock Based Compensation
We account for stock based compensation under ASC Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, which requires us to record
related compensation costs in the statement of operations. Calculating the fair value of stock-based compensation awards requires
the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the awards and expected volatility of our stock price.
Expected volatility is a statistical measure of the amount by which a stock price is expected to fluctuate during a period. Our
estimates of expected volatilities are based on weighted historical implied volatility. The expected forfeiture rate applied in
calculating stock-based compensation cost is estimated using historical data and is updated annually.
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based awards involve estimates that require management judgment. If
factors change and we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could change significantly in the future. In
addition, if our actual forfeiture rate is different from our estimate, our stock-based compensation expense could change
significantly in the future.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, which requires
recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, we must make estimates and judgments in determining the provision for
taxes for financial statement purposes. These estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of tax credits, benefits, and
deductions, and in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities that arise from differences in the timing of recognition of
revenue and expense for tax and financial statement purposes, as well as the interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
In addition, the Company operates within multiple tax jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. Significant changes
in these estimates may result in an increase or decrease to our tax provision in a subsequent period. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Our foreign subsidiaries are subject to foreign income taxes on earnings in their respective jurisdictions. Earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries are generally not included in our U.S. federal income tax return until earnings are repatriated. We may be eligible to
receive tax credits on repatriated earnings on our U.S. federal income tax return for foreign taxes paid by our subsidiaries.
We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that
recovery is not determinable beyond a “more likely than not” standard, we establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we
establish a valuation allowance or increase or decrease this allowance in a period, we include an expense or benefit within the tax
provision in the statement of operations.
The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. We recognize
liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. If we determine that a tax position will more likely than not
fail to be sustained on audit, the second step requires us to estimate and measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more
than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we
have to determine the probability of various hypothetical outcomes. We re-evaluate these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly
basis. This evaluation is based on factors such as changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, new audit activity, and
effectively settled issues. Determining whether an uncertain tax position is effectively settled requires judgment. Such a change in
recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision in the period
in which a change in judgment occurs.
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recently adopted accounting pronouncements, see Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1, The
Company and its Significant Accounting Policies, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this
Registration Statement on Form 10.
ITEM 3.

PROPERTIES

We maintain our principal office, totaling approximately 4,351 square feet, in Irvine, California, under a sub-lease that expires in
May 2023. We also maintain engineering, assembly and prototyping capabilities in Camarillo, California, where we plan to
establish a Global Product Development and Materials Science Center that we expect to be operational by the end of 2020. We
maintain additional leased spaces in several locations, including production facilities in Shenzhen, China, an R&D center in
Singapore, and regional offices in Hong Kong, Tokyo, and various other locations in the United States. In total, we lease
approximately 29,231 square feet, and do not own any real estate. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for
the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, we will be able to secure additional space to accommodate any expansion of
our operations.
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ITEM 4.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of June 30,
2020, for:
•
•
•
•

each of our named executive officers;
each of our directors;
all of our executive officers and directors as a group; and
each person, or group of affiliated persons, who beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative
of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on information
furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to
all shares of common stock that they beneficially owned, subject to applicable community property laws.
We have based percentage ownership of our common stock on 6,600,550 shares of our common stock outstanding as of June 30,
2020. In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of such
person, we deemed to be outstanding all shares of common stock subject to options held by the person that are currently exercisable
or exercisable within 60 days of June 30, 2020, as well as all shares of common stock issuable pursuant to restricted stock units
held by the person that are subject to vesting conditions expected to occur within 60 days of June 30, 2020. However, we did not
deem such shares outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise
indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Interlink Electronics Inc., 1 Jenner, Suite 200, Irvine,
California 92618.
Common Stock Beneficially
Owned
Number
Percentage

Name of Beneficial Owner
Named Executive Officers and Directors:
Steven N. Bronson (1)
Albert Lu
Joy C. Hou (2)
David J. Wolenski
All executive officers and directors as a group (5 persons)
Other 5% Stockholders:
BKF Asset Holdings, Inc. (3)
*
(1)
(2)
(3)

5,448,698
80,000
11,000
-5,539,698

82.5%
*
*
-83.9%

993,658

15.1%

Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent.
Consists of (i) 4,249,040 shares of common stock held by Mr. Bronson individually and jointly with his spouse, (ii) 993,658
shares of common stock held by BKF Asset Holdings, Inc. and (iii) 206,000 shares of common stock held separately by Mr.
Bronson’s spouse.
Consists of (i) 6,250 shares of common stock held Ms. Hou jointly with her spouse and (ii) 4,750 shares of common stock
held Ms. Hou’s minor child.
BKF Asset Holdings, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BKF Capital Group, Inc. Steven N. Bronson, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and majority stockholder of BKF Capital Group, Inc., has voting and dispositive power with respect to
these securities.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Executive Officers and Directors
Our business affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors, which is currently composed of three members.
Each director’s term will continue until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or his or her earlier death, resignation,
or removal. Our executive officers are appointed by our board of directors and serve until their successors have been duly elected
and qualified. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and directors as of June 30, 2020:
Name
Steven N. Bronson
Raymond M. Li
Albert Lu
Joy C. Hou
David J. Wolenski

Age
54
52
49
44
58

Company Position
Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary
Chief Technology Officer
Director
Director

Executive Officers
Steven N. Bronson. Mr. Bronson has over 30 years of business and entrepreneurial experience. His successful background in
investment banking and principal investing has led to him taking executive positions in several companies. Mr. Bronson became
our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our board of directors in July 2010. In March 2011, he also took on the role of
President, bringing both his operational and financial expertise to the company. Since successfully turning around Interlink’s
business to profitability, Mr. Bronson has focused on strategic matters, mission-critical decisions, and identification of potential
acquisitions and business partnership opportunities.
In July 2013, Mr. Bronson assumed the positions of President and Chief Executive Officer of Qualstar Corporation (OTCMKTS:
QBAK), a high-quality tape library manufacturer, and its subsidiary N2Power, a manufacturer of high efficiency power supplies for
diverse electronics industries. From 1996 until November 2014, Mr. Bronson served as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of
Bronson & Co., LLC, an investment banking firm. Since October 2008, Mr. Bronson also has served as Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of BKF Capital Group, Inc. (OTCMKTS: BKFG), a publicly traded company operating through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, BKF Investment Group, Inc. and BKF Asset Holdings, Inc. Mr. Bronson also is Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Ridgefield Acquisition Corporation (OTCMKTS: RDGA), a publicly traded company with no principal
operations or revenue producing activities that is seeking to acquire an operating entity. Mr. Bronson currently holds series 4, 7, 24,
53, 55, 63, 65, 66 and 79 licenses.
Mr. Bronson was selected to serve on our board of directors because of the perspective and experience he brings as our largest
stockholder, his extensive experience with technology companies, and his experience serving as a senior executive officer of a
public company.
Raymond M. Li. With more than two decades of experience in accounting and finance, Mr. Li brings to Interlink a wealth of skills
and expertise in operations, business development, mergers and acquisition, budgeting, analysis, and investments, all in support of
our global growth strategy. Before joining Interlink in June 2020, Mr. Li served as a Senior Consultant with Paseo International
Consulting from 2018 until 2020. Before that, he was Vice President of Finance and Operations for biotechnology firm Ambrx Inc.,
from 2016 until 2018, and Chief Financial Officer of biotechnology firm Zensun USA, from 2014 until 2016. His background
includes eight years at Emerson Electric Co., a Fortune 500 company, where he completed two significant acquisitions valued at
over $500 million. He spent six years at K2 Sports, where he managed finance and international taxes. Prior to K2, he was a senior
associate at PricewaterhouseCoopers for four years. Mr. Li is fluent in Mandarin and is a Certified Public Accountant in both the
United States and China. His familiarity with managing multinational operations will be a vital asset as Interlink continues to grow
its presence around the world.
33

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

38/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

Mr. Li earned a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Finance from University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign and a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration and Management from Fudan University in Shanghai, China.
Albert Lu. Dr. Lu has served as our Chief Technology Officer since February 2014, and is based in Singapore at our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Interlink Electronics Singapore Private Limited. Prior to joining Interlink, for over 15 years Dr. Lu had made significant
R&D contributions to the Singapore Institute of Manufacturing Technology, or SIMTech, which develops high-value manufacturing
technology and human capital to enhance the competitiveness of Singapore’s manufacturing industry. SIMTech is a research
institute of the Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR). Dr. Lu’s most recent role was Program Manager of the
Large Area Processing Program, where he established and spearheaded Singapore’s key R&D facility and pilot line for roll-to-roll
manufacturing of functional films and printed electronics. In his other technology leadership roles at SIMTech, Dr. Lu orchestrated
R&D collaborations and industry consortia in disruptive and emerging technology platforms that included embedded passives,
broadband communications, and electronics packaging with multinational corporations and local enterprises.
Dr. Lu earned both a Ph.D. and B. Eng. in electrical engineering from the University of Manchester, Institute of Science and
Technology in the United Kingdom. Dr. Lu also received the Lee Kuan Yew Award for Mathematics and Science in Singapore and
the Institution of Electrical Engineers Prize in the United Kingdom.
Non-Employee Directors
Joy C. Hou. Ms. Hou joined our board of directors in June 2020. Ms. Hou presently is the CEO and Co-Founder of MREN, Inc., an
enterprise technology platform serving the commercial real estate industry since 2013. Ms. Hou has over 30 years of business and
entrepreneurial experience in finance, technology, and management. Prior to MREN, Ms. Hou was the CEO and Co- Founder of
RAISC, Inc., a tech-enabled bank distressed asset platform that centralized data for over $3B of commercial real estate assets and
supported the disposition of over $1.5B of assets. In addition, Ms. Hou spent over 10 years on Wall Street where she held various
debt and equity investment positions at Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Lehman Brothers and served as the Head of Hospitality
Practice at Barclays Capital. Ms. Hou is currently on the Board of Cornell Asian Alumni Association as the Vice President of
University Relations and had previously served on the Board of Country Montessori School. Ms. Hou holds a Bachelor of Science
degree from Cornell University’s School of Hotel Administration with Distinction.
Ms. Hou was selected to serve on our board of directors because of her extensive business experience in working with technology
companies, as both a Wall Street banker and entrepreneur.
David J. Wolenski. Mr. Wolenski joined our board of directors in June 2020. He currently serves as President and on the Board of
Director of Electro-Mechanical Products, Inc., a privately held company engaged in the manufacture of precision-machined
components and thermal management systems for the semiconductor, laser, and medical device industries. From 1996 to 2000, Mr.
Wolenski was Chief Executive Officer of OZO Automation, Inc. (OTCBB:OZOA), a publicly-traded company that produced
robotic workstations for the electronics industry. As Chief Executive Officer, he also managed the sale of OZO’s assets to JOT
Automation of Olunsalo, Finland, and served as President of their Depaneling subsidiary from 2000 to 2001. From 1983 to 1996,
Mr. Wolenski held various positions with Johns Manville Corporation, a worldwide leader in fiberglass insulations and engineered
products, which included managerial assignments in manufacturing, business development, and quality assurance. His past board
affiliations have included Qualstar Corporation (OTCMKTS: QBAK), where we was a director from 2014 until June 2020; OZO
Automation, Inc., where he was a director from 1996 to 1999; and Bio-Medical Automation, Inc., where he was a director from
1999 to 2000. Mr. Wolenski holds a BS degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Colorado at Boulder (1983), and
an MBA from the University of Colorado at Denver (1990).
Mr. Wolenski was selected to serve on our board of directors because of his senior executive management experience at privatelyheld and publicly-held manufacturing companies and his prior experience as a director of other companies.
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ITEM 6.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Processes and Procedures for Compensation Decisions
The compensation committee of the board is responsible for the executive compensation programs for our executive officers and
reports to the board on its discussions, decisions and other actions. Typically, our chief executive officer makes recommendations
to our compensation committee, often attends committee meetings and is involved in the determination of compensation for the
executive officers that report to him, except that he does not make recommendations as to his own compensation. Our chief
executive officer makes recommendations to our compensation committee regarding short-term and long-term compensation for all
executive officers, excluding himself, based on our results, an individual executive officer’s contribution toward these results and
performance toward individual goal achievement. Our compensation committee then reviews the recommendations and other data
and makes decisions as to total compensation for each executive officer other than the chief executive officer, as well as each
individual compensation component. The compensation committee makes recommendations to the board regarding compensation
for the chief executive officer. The independent members of the board make the final decisions regarding executive compensation
for our chief executive officer.
The compensation committee is authorized to retain the services of one or more executive compensation advisors, as it sees fit, in
connection with the establishment of our compensation programs and related policies. The compensation committee has not
retained the services of a compensation consultant since 2016.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table provides information regarding the compensation of our named executive officers during 2018 and 2019. As a
“smaller reporting company,” as such term is defined in the rules promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Act, we are required to provide compensation disclosure for our principal executive officer and the two most highly
compensated executive officers other than our principal executive officer. During 2019, we only had two executive officers, and
thus the following officers are our only “named executive officers.”

Name and Principal Position
Steven N. Bronson
Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial
Officer and Chairman of the Board

Year
2019
2018

Salary
($)
300,000
300,000

Albert Lu (2)
Chief Technology Officer

2019
2018

224,094
222,707

(1)
(2)

---

All Other
Compensation
(1)($)
897
897

Total
($)
300,897
300,897

18,667
15,000

---

242,761
237,707

Bonus
($)

Consists of the taxable cost of group term life insurance coverage.
Dr. Lu received a discretionary bonus in 2018 and 2019 based on his performance for the year. Dr. Lu is paid in Singapore
Dollars. For the purposes of this table, salary and bonus amounts paid to Dr. Lu in Singapore Dollars were converted to U.S.
Dollars using the Accounting Rate for 2018 (1.3712 Singapore Dollars to the U.S. Dollar) and 2019 (1.3660 Singapore
Dollars to the U.S. Dollar) for fiscal years 2018 and 2019, respectively. The “Accounting Rate” for any month is the
exchange ratio of the relevant reference currency to one U.S. Dollar for the last business day of the preceding fiscal month,
as published by the US government.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
The following table presents certain information concerning equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December
31, 2019. Dr. Lu did not hold any equity awards at December 31, 2019.

Name
Steven N. Bronson

Grant
Date
5/18/2015
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The market value of the restricted stock awards is based on the closing market price of our common stock as of December
31, 2019, which was $4.75 per share.
Represents a grant of restricted stock units, which vested in full on May 18, 2020.
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Executive Officer Employment Letters
We have entered into employment agreements with each of the named executive officers. With the exception of his own
arrangement, each of these employment agreements was negotiated on our behalf by our Chief Executive Officer with the oversight
and approval of the compensation committee of the board.
Steven N. Bronson
We entered into an employment agreement with Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer, on July
7, 2016. The employment agreement was for an original term of one year and automatically renews for additional one-year periods
unless either party elects not to renew or it is otherwise terminated, in either case pursuant to its terms.
Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Bronson receives an annual base salary, currently $300,000, and is entitled to earn and
receive bonus compensation based upon the achievement of performance goals, as determined by our compensation committee, in
accordance with a bonus plan adopted by us for the applicable year. Mr. Bronson also is entitled to participate in our benefit plans,
including health insurance, life insurance, disability insurance, and retirement plans.
If Mr. Bronson’s employment terminates due to his death or disability, Mr. Bronson or his beneficiaries will be entitled to receive
his base compensation to the end of the monthly pay period immediately following the date of termination and any accrued bonus
payments, and all of Mr. Bronson’s unvested and outstanding equity awards shall immediately vest and become exercisable.
If Mr. Bronson’s employment is terminated by him for “good reason”, or by us without “cause”, Mr. Bronson will be entitled to
receive his base compensation to the date of termination, severance pay equal to twelve months of his base compensation, any
earned bonus compensation, employee benefits for twelve months following the date of termination, and any vested company
match 401(k) or other retirement contribution, and all of Mr. Bronson’s unvested and outstanding equity awards shall immediately
vest and become exercisable.
Mr. Bronson’s employment agreement also provides that upon a “change of control” of Interlink, Mr. Bronson is entitled to receive
an amount in cash equal to twelve months of his base salary then in effect, and all of Mr. Bronson’s unvested and outstanding
equity awards shall immediately vest and become exercisable.
Albert Lu
We entered into an employment agreement with Albert Lu, our Chief Technology Officer, in February 2014. The employment
agreement provides for an annual base salary, which currently is $318,180 SGD and an annual bonus of up to 20% of base salary.
Dr. Lu’s compensation is paid in Singapore dollars (SGD). Dr. Lu also received a restricted stock unit award of 80,000 shares of
common stock pursuant to his employment agreement, 50% of which vested on each of January 31, 2018 and January 31,
2019. Dr. Lu’s employment agreement provides for “at will” employment and may be terminated at any time by either party on one
month’s written notice. Dr. Lu is not entitled to any termination or “change of control” payments or benefits under his employment
agreement.
Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
We do not provide a pension plan for our employees, and none of our named executive officers participated in a nonqualified
deferred compensation plan in 2019.
401(k) Plan
We maintain a tax-qualified retirement plan, or the 401(k) plan, that provides eligible employees with an opportunity to save for
retirement on a tax-advantaged basis. Eligible employees are able to participate in the 401(k) plan as of the first day of the month
following the date they meet the 401(k) plan’s eligibility requirements, and participants are able to defer up to 60% of their eligible
compensation subject to applicable annual Code limits. All participants’ interests in their deferrals are 100% vested when
contributed. The 401(k) plan permits us to make matching contributions and profit-sharing contributions to eligible participants.
The match is limited to 50% of base salary up to $500.
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Non-Employee Director Compensation
Director Compensation Table
The following table details the total compensation earned by our non-employee directors in fiscal year 2019:
Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash
($)
10,000
10,000
---

Director
Angela Blatteis (3)
Frank Levinson (3)
Joy C. Hou (4)
David J. Wolenski (4)
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

Stock
Awards
(1)(2)($)
5,000
5,000
---

Total
($)
15,000
15,000
---

Represents awards of our common stock. These amounts represent the grant date fair value of the stock awards granted in
fiscal year 2019 determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718. These amounts may not correspond to the actual value
eventually realized by the director, which depends in part on the market value of our common stock in future
periods. Assumptions used in calculating these amounts are set forth in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Registration Statement on Form 10.
No director held stock options or restricted stock awards as of December 31, 2019.
On July 18, 2019, each of Ms. Blatteis and Mr. Levinson received 2,777 shares of our common stock. Ms. Blatteis
and Mr. Levinson resigned as directors in May 2020 and June 2020, respectively.
Each of Ms. Hou and Mr. Wolenski became directors in June 2020, and did not receive any compensation in fiscal
year 2019.

Outside Director Compensation Policy
Our board of directors has adopted a policy for the compensation for our non-employee directors, or the Outside Directors. Outside
Directors will receive compensation in the form of equity and cash, as described below:
●

Initial award. Each person who first becomes an Outside Director will be granted common stock with a grant date fair
value equal to $5,000. These awards will be granted on the date of the first meeting of our board of directors or
compensation committee occurring on or after the date on which the individual first became an Outside Director.

●

Annual Award. Annually, on July 15, each Outside Director who has served on our board of directors for at least the
preceding six months will be granted common stock with a grant date fair value equal to $5,000.

●

Cash Compensation. Each Outside Director receives an annual retainer of $10,000 in cash for serving on our board of
directors, or the Annual Fee. The Annual Fee is paid in quarterly installments to each Outside Director who has
served in the relevant capacity for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter no later than 30 days following the end of
such preceding fiscal quarter. An Outside Director who has served in the relevant capacity for only a portion of the
immediately preceding fiscal quarter will receive a prorated payment of the quarterly payment of the Annual Fee.

ITEM 7.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
We describe below transactions, and series of related transactions, since January 1, 2017 to which we were or will be a party, in
which:
•

the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000 or 1% of our average total assets at December 31, 2018 and
2019; and

•

any of our directors, executive officers, or beneficial holders of more than 5% of any class of our capital stock, or
their immediate family members, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.
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Other than as described below, there has not been, nor is there any currently proposed, transaction or series of related transactions to
which we have been or will be a party other than compensation arrangements, which are described where required under the
headings “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance - Director Compensation Table” and “Executive Compensation.”
Share Repurchase Agreement
On June 22, 2018, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Leonard Hagan, who was the beneficial owner of more
than 5% of our common stock at the time of the agreement, pursuant to which we repurchased from Mr. Hagan and his affiliates an
aggregate of 867,681 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $3.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of
$2,603,043.
Cost Sharing Arrangements
Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Raymond M. Li, our Chief Financial
Officer, simultaneously serve as officers of Qualstar Corporation (OTCMKTS: QBAK) and BKF Capital Group, Inc. (OTCMKTS:
BKFG). Mr. Bronson serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of Qualstar Corporation and as the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer for BKF Capital Group, Inc., and Mr. Li serves as Chief Financial Officer of each of Qualstar
Corporation and BKF Capital Group, Inc. We have entered into the following cost sharing arrangements with Qualstar and BKF
Capital:
Irvine, CA Facility: We entered into a sublease agreement for our corporate headquarters in Irvine, CA in June 2020. We have an
oral agreement with Qualstar and BKF Capital to allow each use of a portion of the premises, and have agreed to split all rent and
lease-related costs as follows: 47.5% for Interlink, 47.5% for Qualstar, and 5% for BKF Capital.
Camarillo, CA Facility: We have an oral agreement with Qualstar Corporation to allow us to use a portion of the premises leased by
Qualstar in Camarillo, CA, and we have agreed to split all rent and lease related costs based on relative headcount at the facility or
equally in the case of a portion of the facility used for storage. We had a similar arrangement with Qualstar for its Simi Valley, CA
facility prior to Qualstar’s move to Camarillo. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019, and for the three
months ended March 31, 2020, we paid Qualstar $13,000, $15,000, $21,000 and $7,000, respectively, for our use of Qualstar’s
Camarillo and Simi Valley facilities.
Consulting Agreements: On December 1, 2017, we entered into various Consulting Agreements with Qualstar Corporation.
Pursuant to the Consulting Agreements, we provide marketing and administrative services to Qualstar. We receive approximately
$40,000 per month, plus expenses for these services. We also occasionally pay travel and other expenses incurred by Qualstar
employees, for which we are reimbursed. Qualstar reimbursed Interlink $28,000, $217,000, $269,000 and $128,000 for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019, and for the three months ended March 31, 2020, respectively.
Indemnification Agreements
We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our current directors and executive officers. The indemnification
agreements and our articles of incorporation and by-laws require us to indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent
permitted by Nevada law.
Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions
Our audit committee has the primary responsibility for reviewing and approving or disapproving “related party transactions,” which
are transactions between us and related persons in which the aggregate amount involved exceeds or may be expected to exceed
$120,000 or 1% of our average total assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and in which a related person has or will have a direct
or indirect material interest. Our policy regarding transactions between us and related persons provides that a related person is
defined as a director, executive officer, nominee for director or greater than 5% beneficial owner of our common stock, in each case
since the beginning of the most recently completed year, and any of their immediate family members. Our audit committee charter
provides that our audit committee shall review and approve or disapprove any related party transactions.
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Director Independence
We are not currently listed on any national securities exchange that has a requirement that any members of the board of directors be
independent. However, in evaluating the independence of its members and the composition of the committees of the board of
directors, the board utilizes the definition of “independent director” as that term is defined by the rules of The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ”). Under the rules of NASDAQ, independent directors must comprise a majority of a listed company’s
board of directors. In addition, the rules of NASDAQ require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed
company’s audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent. Under the rules of
NASDAQ, a director will only qualify as an ‘‘independent director’’ if, in the opinion of that company’s board of directors, that
person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the
responsibilities of a director.
Our board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of each director and considered whether each director has a
material relationship with us that could compromise or interfere with such director’s ability to exercise independent judgment in
carrying out his or her responsibilities. As a result of this review, our board of directors has determined that Ms. Hou and Mr.
Wolenski are ‘‘independent directors’’ as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of NASDAQ.
In addition, our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and governance
committee. Ms. Hou and Mr. Wolenski, each of whom is a non-employee member of our board of directors, serve on these board
committees. Our board of directors has determined that each of Ms. Hou and Mr. Wolenski satisfies the requirements for
independence and, in the case of the audit committee, financial literacy for service on the audit committee, compensation
committee and nominating and governance committee under the rules of NASDAQ.
ITEM 8.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not party to any legal proceedings. We may, from time to time, be party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the
ordinary course of business. As our growth continues, we may become party to an increasing number of litigation matters and
claims. The outcome of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, and the resolution of any future matters could
materially affect our future financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
ITEM 9. MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock is listed on the OTC Pink marketplace of the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “LINK.” Over-the-counter
market quotations reported by the OTC Markets Group reflect inter-dealer quotations, without retail markups, markdowns, or
commissions, and do not necessarily represent actual transactions.
Holders of Record
As of June 30, 2020, we had 21 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this
number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers
and other nominees.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any
future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future, if at all. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors
and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors
that our board of directors may deem relevant.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table summarizes certain information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2019.

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

Number of
Securities to
be Issued Upon
Exercise
of Outstanding
Options,
Warrants and
Rights
(a)

(2)

3,120

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

-3,120

(1)
(2)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants and
Rights
(b)(1)
$

Number of Securities
Remaining
Available for Future
Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans (Excluding
Securities
Reflected in Column
(a))
(c)

7.40

1,535,423

--

-1,535,423

The weighted average exercise price is calculated based solely on outstanding stock options. It does not take into account
restricted stock units, which have no exercise price.
Consists of our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

ITEM 10. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
During the last three years, Interlink has issued the following unregistered securities:
Equity Compensation Issuances
In July 2019, we issued 5,554 shares of common stock to two outside directors pursuant to the terms of our 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan. The shares were issued as compensation for service on our board of directors.
In May 2020, we issued 37,500 shares of common stock to Steven N. Bronson upon the settlement of restricted stock units issued to
Mr. Bronson in May 2015 pursuant to the terms of our 1996 Stock Incentive Plan. The restricted stock units were issued to Mr.
Bronson in exchange for services.
The transactions did not involve any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering. We believe the
offers, sales and issuances of the above securities were exempt from registration under the Securities Act by virtue of
(i) Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as transactions not involving a public offering or (ii) Rule 701 promulgated under the
Securities Act as transactions pursuant to compensatory benefit plans or contracts relating to compensation as provided under such
rule. The recipients of the securities in these transactions represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment only
and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed upon the stock
certificate issued in the transaction. The recipients had adequate access, through their relationship with us, to information about
Interlink. The sales of these securities were made without any general solicitation or advertising.
ITEM 11. DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANTS SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED
General
The following is a summary of the rights of our common stock and preferred stock and certain provisions of our articles of
incorporation and bylaws. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our
articles of incorporation and bylaws, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to this Registration Statement on Form 10.
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Immediately following the completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of 31,000,000 shares, of which:
•

30,000,000 shares are designated as common stock, with a par value of $0.001 per share; and

•

1,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock, with a par value of $0.01 per share.

As of June 30, 2020, we had outstanding 6,600,550 shares of common stock and options to acquire 3,120 shares of common stock.
Common Stock
Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders and do not
have cumulative voting rights. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of
directors may elect all of the directors standing for election. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any preferred stock
outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends declared by
our board of directors out of assets legally available. Upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, holders of our common stock
are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preference of any then-outstanding
shares of preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights. There are
no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.
Preferred Stock
No shares of our preferred stock are outstanding. Pursuant to our articles of incorporation, our board of directors has the authority,
without further action by the stockholders, to issue from time to time up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more
series. Our board of directors may designate the powers, designations, preferences, and relative participation, optional or other
rights, if any, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights,
redemption rights, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of
any series. The issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on the common stock, diluting the voting
power of the common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock, or delaying, deterring, or preventing a change in
control. Such issuance could have the effect of decreasing the market price of the common stock. We currently have no plans to
issue any shares of preferred stock.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Nevada Law and Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contains provisions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or discouraging
another party from acquiring control of us. These provisions and certain provisions of Nevada law, which are summarized below,
could discourage takeovers, coercive or otherwise. These provisions are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to
acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our
potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to
acquire us.
Undesignated Preferred Stock
As discussed above under “Preferred Stock,” our board of directors will have the ability to designate and issue preferred stock with
voting or other rights or preferences that could deter hostile takeovers or delay changes in our control or management.
Limits on Ability of Stockholders to Call a Special Meeting
Our articles of incorporation provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, by
majority vote, or by any stockholder or group of stockholders who own and have the right to vote more than 25% of our issued and
outstanding securities, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for holders
controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.
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Nevada Law
Nevada has enacted the following legislation that may deter or frustrate takeovers of Nevada corporations:
Evaluation of Acquisition Proposals. The Nevada Revised Statutes expressly permit our board, when evaluating any proposed
tender or exchange offer, any merger, consolidation or sale of substantially all of our assets, or any similar extraordinary
transaction, to consider all relevant factors including, without limitation, the social, legal, and economic effects on the employees,
customers, suppliers, and other of our constituencies, and on the communities and geographical areas in which we operate. Our
board may also consider the amount of consideration being offered in relation to the then current market price for our outstanding
shares of capital stock and our then current value in a freely negotiated transaction.
Control Share Acquisitions. We are subject to the Nevada control share acquisitions statute. This statute is designed to afford
stockholders of public corporations in Nevada protection against acquisitions in which a person, entity or group seeks to gain
voting control. With enumerated exceptions, the statute provides that shares acquired within certain specific ranges will not possess
voting rights in the election of directors unless the voting rights are approved by a majority vote of the public corporation’s
disinterested stockholders. Disinterested shares are shares other than those owned by the acquiring person or by a member of a
group with respect to a control share acquisition, or by any officer of the corporation or any employee of the corporation who is
also a director. The specific acquisition ranges that trigger the statute are: acquisitions of shares possessing one-fifth or more but
less than one-third of all voting power; acquisitions of shares possessing one-third or more but less than a majority of all voting
power; or acquisitions of shares possessing a majority or more of all voting power. Under certain circumstances, the statute permits
the acquiring person to call a special stockholders meeting for the purpose of considering the grant of voting rights to the holder of
the control shares. The statute also enables a corporation to provide for the redemption of control shares with no voting rights under
certain circumstances.
The provisions of Nevada law and the provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws could have the effect of discouraging
others from attempting hostile takeovers and as a consequence, they might also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market price of
our common stock that often result from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions might also have the effect of
preventing changes in our management. It is also possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish
transactions that stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare. The transfer agent’s address is 8742 Lucent Boulevard,
Suite 225, Highlands Ranch, CO 80129, and its telephone number is (303) 262-0672.
Stock Listing
Our common stock is quoted on the OTC Pink marketplace of the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “LINK.”
ITEM 12. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Nevada Law
We are a Nevada corporation and, as such, we are subject to the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes, which govern
indemnification of officers and directors and related matters.
Section 78.138 of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides that a director or officer will not be individually liable unless it is proven
that (i) the director’s or officer’s acts or omissions constituted a breach of his or her fiduciary duties, and (ii) such breach involved
intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the law.
Section 78.7502 of Nevada Revised Statutes permits a company to indemnify its directors and officers against expenses, judgments,
fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with a threatened, pending or completed action,
suit or proceeding if the officer or director (i) is not liable pursuant to NRS 78.138 or (ii) acted in good faith and in a manner the
officer or director reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, if a criminal action or
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of the officer or director was unlawful.
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Section 78.751 of Nevada Revised Statutes permits a Nevada company to indemnify its officers and directors against expenses
incurred by them in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding as they are incurred and in advance of final disposition
thereof, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the officer or director to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined
by a court of competent jurisdiction that such officer or director is not entitled to be indemnified by the company. Section 78.751 of
Nevada Revised Statutes further permits the company to grant its directors and officers additional rights of indemnification under
its articles of incorporation or bylaws or otherwise.
Section 78.752 of Nevada Revised Statutes provides that a Nevada company may purchase and maintain insurance or make other
financial arrangements on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the company, or is or was
serving at the request of the company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another company, partnership, joint venture, trust
or other enterprise, for any liability asserted against him and liability and expenses incurred by him in his capacity as a director,
officer, employee or agent, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the company has the authority to indemnify him
against such liability and expenses.
Articles of Incorporation
Our articles of incorporation provide that no director shall be personally liable to Interlink or its stockholders for monetary damages
for conduct as a director, provided that the articles do not eliminate the liability of a director for any act or omission for which such
elimination of liability is not permitted under the Nevada Revised Statutes. No amendment to the Nevada Revised Statutes that
further limits the acts or omissions for which elimination of liability is permitted shall affect the liability of a director for any act or
omission that occurs prior to the effective date of the amendment.
Our articles of incorporation also provide that we must indemnify and hold harmless each of our directors and officers to the fullest
extent not prohibited by the Nevada Revised Statutes, who is made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other (including an action, suit or proceeding by or in the right
of the company), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the company or a
fiduciary within the meaning of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 with respect to any employee benefit plan
of the company, or serves or served at the request of the company as a director, officer, employee or agent, or as a fiduciary of an
employee benefit plan, of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. We must pay for or reimburse the
reasonable expenses incurred by any such current or former director or officer in any such proceeding in advance of the final
disposition of the proceeding if the person sets forth in writing (i) the person’s good faith belief that the person is entitled to
indemnification under our articles of incorporation and (ii) the person’s agreement to repay all advances if it is ultimately
determined that the person is not entitled to indemnification under our articles of incorporation.
Other Matters
Our policy is to enter into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers that provide the maximum
indemnity allowed to directors and executive officers under the Nevada Revised Statutes and also to provide for certain additional
procedural protections. We also maintain directors and officers insurance to insure such persons against certain liabilities.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons
controlling us pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we has been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is
against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.
ITEM 13. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The consolidated financial statements of Interlink Electronics Inc. are filed under this Item 13 of this Registration Statement on
Form 10, beginning on page F-1.
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ITEM 14. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 15. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS
We have filed the following documents as part of this Registration Statement on Form 10:
1.

Consolidated Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements are included beginning on page F-1 of this Registration Statement.
Page
Annual Financial Statements (audited):
Index to Audited Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-1
F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7

Interim Financial Statements (unaudited):
Index to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2020 (unaudited) and December 31, 2019
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
2.

F-25
F-26
F-27
F-28
F-29
F-30

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or the required information is otherwise included in our consolidated financial statements and related
notes.
3.

Exhibits

Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
3.3
4.1
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*

10.4*

Incorporated by Reference
File Number
Exhibit
Filing Date

Exhibit Description

Form

Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant
Bylaws of the Registrant
Amendment to Bylaws of Interlink
Electronics Inc.
Form of the Registrant’s common stock
certificate
Form of Indemnification Agreement
between the Registrant and each of its
directors and officers
Employment Agreement, dated July 7,
2016, between the Registrant and Steven
N. Bronson
Employment Agreement, dated January 31,
2014, between Interlink Electronics
Singapore Private Limited and Albert Lu
Chee Wai
Employment Offer Letter, dated July 30,

10
10
10

000-21858
000-21858
000-21858

3.1
3.2
3.3

February 17, 2016
February 17, 2016
February 17, 2016

10

000-21858

4.1

February 17, 2016

10

000-21858

10.1

February 17, 2016

8-K

001-37659

10.1

July 11, 2016

10

000-21858

10.4

February 17, 2016
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2020, between the Registrant and
Raymond Li.
Interlink Electronics, Inc. 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan
Sublease, dated June 8, 2020, by and
between Overland, Pacific & Cutler, LLC
and Interlink Electronics Inc.
List of Subsidiaries

8-K

001-37659

10.1

June 22, 2016
X

10

000-21858

21.1

February 17, 2016

Each a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: August 4, 2020

Interlink Electronics Inc.
By: /s/ Steven N. Bronson
Steven N. Bronson
Chief Executive Officer, and President
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
INDEX TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Interlink Electronics Incorporated & Subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Interlink Electronics, Incorporated & Subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial positions of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Explanatory Paragraph – Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the
adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as amended, effective January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective
approach.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/RBSM LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
Larkspur, CA
May 13, 2020
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Audited)
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands, except par value)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangibles, net
Right-of-use
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities, current
Accrued income taxes
Deferred revenue, current
Total current liabilities

$

Long term liabilities
Lease liabilities, long term
Deferred tax liability, long term
Total long-term liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see note 9)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: 1,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 30,000 shares authorized, 6,563 and 6,483 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
$
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

5,812
32
730
927
330
7,831
633
171
203
435
59
9,332

$

218
302
154
—
13
687

$

$

6,102
5
780
1,071
303
8,261
701
121
—
470
59
9,612

304
297
—
26
—
627

66
8
74
—

—
—
—
—

—

—

7
57,940
(93)
(49,283)
8,571
9,332 $

7
57,871
(67)
(48,826)
8,985
9,612

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Audited)
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands, except per share
data)
Revenue, net
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Engineering, research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income(loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Other income (expense), net
Income(loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income(loss)
Other comprehensive income(loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income(loss)

$

Earnings(loss) per share, basic and diluted

7,305
3,995
3,310

8,904
4,000
4,904

916
2,608
3,524
(214)

908
3,246
4,154
750

39
(175)
282
(457)

60
810
188
622

$

(26)
(483) $

(108)
514

$

(0.07) $

0.09

6,543
6,581

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted

$

6,899
6,991

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Audited)

(in thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2018
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Stock Repurchase
Compensation expense related to
equity awards, net of
cancellations
Balance at December 31, 2018
Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Stock Repurchase
Compensation expense related to
equity awards, net of
cancellations
Balance at December 31, 2019

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
7,336 $
7
—
—
—
(901)
48
6,483
—
—
(3)
83
6,563

Additional
Paid-inCapital
$
60,527
—

—
—

—
(2,764)

(108)
—

—
7
—

108
57,871
—

—
(67)
—

—
—

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income
$
41
—

—
7

—
(6)

$

75
57,940

Total
Accumulated Stockholders'
Deficit
Equity
$
(49,448) $
11,127
622
622
—
—
—
(48,826)
(457)

(26)
—

$

—
(93) $

—
—
—
(49,283) $

(108)
(2,764)
108
8,985
(457)
(26)
(6)
75
8,571

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Audited)
Twelve months ended December
31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Amortization of right of use
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Lease liabilities
Deferred other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property, plant and equipment
Share repurchase
Intangibles
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

$

622

251
75
(203)

155
102
—

50
144
(27)
—
(86)
5
(26)
35
220
21
2

594
124
35
—
49
(48)
(77)
23
—
—
1,579

(141)
(6)
(92)
(239)

(304)
(2,764)
(79)
(3,147)

—
—

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid
Interest paid

(457) $

$

6
6

(26)
(263)
6,107
5,844 $

247
—

$

(108)
(1,670)
7,777
6,107

310
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Audited)
NOTE 1-THE COMPANY AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business
Interlink Electronics, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Interlink” or the “Company”) designs, develops, manufactures and sells a range of
force-sensing technologies that incorporate our proprietary materials technology, firmware and software into a portfolio of standard
sensor based products and custom sensor system solutions. These include sensor components, subassemblies, modules and products
that support effective, efficient cursor control and novel three-dimensional user inputs. Our Human Machine Interface (“HMI”)
technology platforms are deployed in a wide range of markets including consumer electronics, automotive, industrial, and medical.
Interlink serves our world-wide customer base from our corporate headquarters in Camarillo, California (greater Los Angeles area),
our global research and development (“R&D”) and engineering center in Singapore, our printed-electronics manufacturing facility
in Shenzhen, China and our global distribution and logistics center in Hong Kong. We also maintain engineering, assembly and
prototyping capabilities in Camarillo, California along with technical and sales offices in Japan and at multiple locations in the
United States. Our principal executive office is located at 1267 Flynn Road, Camarillo, California 93012 and our telephone number
is (805) 484-8855. Our website address is www.interlinkelectronics.com.
Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year is the calendar year reporting cycle beginning January 1 and ending December 31.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Our reporting currency is the United States dollar.
Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Interlink Electronics and our subsidiaries in China, Hong Kong and
Singapore. All intercompany accounts and transactions were eliminated in consolidation.
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of our Chinese subsidiary is the Chinese Yuan Renminbi. The functional currency for our Hong Kong and
Singapore subsidiaries is the United States dollar. However, our Hong Kong and Singapore subsidiaries also transact business in
their local currency. Therefore, assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the
balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the respective periods.
Foreign currency transaction and translation gains and losses are included in results of operations.
Segment Reporting
We operate in one reportable segment: the manufacture and sale of force sensing technology solutions.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and disclosures made in the accompanying
notes to the consolidated financial statements. Management regularly evaluates estimates and assumptions related to revenue
recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, warranty reserves, inventory valuation reserves, stock-based compensation,
purchased intangible asset valuations and useful lives, asset retirement obligations, and deferred income tax asset valuation
allowances. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual results we experience may differ materially and
adversely from our original estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and the actual results, our
future results of operations will be affected.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606), when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the
consideration which we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We recognize product revenues when the
following fundamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred; (iii) the price to
the customer is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collection of the sales price is reasonably assured. Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped and title and risk of loss transfer to the customer, in accordance with the terms specified in the arrangement with the
customer. Revenue recognition is deferred until the earnings process is complete.
We (i) input orders based upon receipt of a customer purchase order, (ii) confirm pricing through the customer purchase order
record, (iii) validate creditworthiness through past payment history, credit agency reports and other financial data, and (iv)
recognize revenue upon shipment of goods or when risk of loss and title transfer to the buyer. All customers have warranty rights,
and some customers also have explicit or implicit rights of return. We establish reserves for potential customer returns or warranty
repairs based on historical experience and other factors that enable us to reasonably estimate the obligation.
A portion of our product sales is made through distributors under agreements allowing for right of return. Our past history with
these sell-through right of return provisions allow us to reasonably estimate the amount of inventory that could be returned pursuant
to these agreements, and revenue is recognized accordingly.
We recognize revenue for non-recurring engineering or non-recurring tooling fees when there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangement, performance obligations are identified, fees are fixed or determinable, delivery has occurred, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
Warranty
We establish reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred pursuant to specific warranty provisions
with our customers. We generally warrant our products against defects for one year from date of shipment, with certain exceptions
in which the warranty period can extend to more than one year based on contractual agreements. A warranty reserve is recorded
against revenues when products are shipped. At each reporting period, we adjust our reserve for warranty claims based on our
actual warranty claims experience as a percentage of net revenue for the preceding 12 months and also consider the effect of known
operations issues that may have an impact that differs from historical trends. Historically, our warranty returns have not been
material.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs
Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling fees are presented in product revenues. Costs incurred for shipping and
handling are included in cost of revenues.
Engineering, Research and Development Costs
Engineering, research and development (“R&D”) costs are expensed when incurred. R&D expenses consist primarily of
compensation expenses for employees engaged in research, design and development activities. R&D expenses also include
depreciation and amortization, and overhead, including facilities expenses.
Marketing Costs
All of the costs related to marketing and advertising our products are expensed as incurred or at the time the marketing takes place.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Stock-based Compensation
All stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and employee stock purchase rights, are
recognized in the financial statements based on their respective grant date (measurement date) fair values. We calculate the
compensation cost of full-value awards such as restricted stock based on the market value of the underlying stock at the date of the
grant. We estimate the expected life of a stock award as the period of time that the award is expected to be outstanding. We are
required to estimate the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of
the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service periods. We
estimate the fair value of each option award as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which was
developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and that are freely transferable. The
Black-Scholes option pricing model considers, among other factors, the expected life of the award and the expected volatility of our
stock price. Although the Black-Scholes option pricing model meets the accounting guidance requirements, the fair values
generated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of our awards, as it does not
consider other factors important to those stock-based payment awards, such as continued employment, periodic vesting
requirements, and limited transferability.
We have elected to recognize compensation expense for all stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period for the entire award. The amount of compensation expense recognized through the end of each reporting period is equal to
the portion of the grant-date value of the awards that have vested, or for partially vested awards, the value of the portion of the
award that is ultimately expected to vest for which the requisite services have been provided. The benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation cost are reported as a financing cash flow.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net, consists of interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and other non-operating gains and losses.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We assess the likelihood that our deferred
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not determinable beyond a
“more likely than not” standard, we establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase or
decrease this allowance in a period, we include an expense or benefit within the tax provision in the statement of operations. We
also utilize a “more likely than not” recognition threshold and measurement analysis for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits within the consolidated statements of operations as income tax expense.
We operate within multiple tax jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions. Our foreign subsidiaries are subject to
foreign income taxes on earnings in their respective jurisdictions. Earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not included in our U.S.
federal income tax return until earnings are repatriated. We are generally eligible to receive tax credits on repatriated earnings on
our U.S. federal income tax return for foreign taxes paid by our subsidiaries.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income includes all components of comprehensive income, including net income and any changes in equity during
the period from transactions and other events and circumstances generated by non-owner sources.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of diluted
common shares, which is inclusive of common stock equivalents from unexercised stock options and restricted stock units.
Unexercised stock options and restricted stock units are considered to be common stock equivalents if, using the treasury stock
method, they are determined to be dilutive.
Under the two-class method of determining earnings for each class of stock, we consider the dividend rights and participating rights
in undistributed earnings for each class of stock.
Leases
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842. Under this guidance, arrangements meeting the
definition of a lease are classified as operating or financing leases, and are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as both a
right of use asset and lease liability, calculated by discounting fixed lease payments over the lease term at the rate implicit in the
lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are increased by interest and reduced by payments each period,
and the right of use asset is amortized over the lease term. For finance leases, interest on the lease liability and the amortization of
the right of use asset results in front-loaded expense over the lease term. Variable lease expenses are recorded when incurred.
In calculating the right of use and lease liability, the Company has elected to combine lease and non-lease components. The
Company excludes short-term leases having initial term of 12 months or less from the new guidance as an accounting policy
election, and recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company continues to account for leases in the prior period financial statements under ASC Topic 840.
Risk and Uncertainties
Our future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect our business or future results
and cause actual results to vary materially from historical results include, but are not limited to, the rapid change in our industry;
problems with the performance, reliability or quality of our products; loss of customers; impacts of doing business internationally,
including foreign currency fluctuations; potential shortages of the supplies we use to manufacture our products; disruptions in our
manufacturing facilities; changes in environmental directives impacting our manufacturing process or product lines; the
development of new proprietary technology and the enforcement of intellectual property rights by or against us; our ability to
attract and retain qualified employees; and our ability to raise additional capital.
Public health threats could have an adverse effect on our operations and financial results.
Public health threats could adversely affect our ongoing or planned business operations. In particular, the outbreak in December
2019 of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in China has resulted in quarantines, restrictions on travel and other business and
economic disruptions. We cannot presently predict the scope and severity of any potential business shutdowns or disruptions, but if
we or any of the third parties with whom we engage, including the suppliers, distributers, resellers and other third parties with
whom we conduct business, were to experience shutdowns or other business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the
manner and on the timelines presently planned could be materially and adversely impacted.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
We invest excess cash in highly liquid interest-bearing instruments, including commercial paper or money market accounts.
Investments with original maturity dates less than 90 days are classified as cash equivalents. Cash that is reserved for a specific
purpose and therefore not available for immediate or general business use is classified as restricted cash. All of our cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash are held at major financial institutions in the United States, China and Singapore. Our balances in
each country were insured at the maximum limit determined by each country. In the U.S., we had approximately $5.0 million and
$4.9 million in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit of $250 thousand per depositor, per insured bank at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Approximately $1.0 million and $1.7 million held in banks in China at December 31,
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

63/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

2019 and 2018, respectively were not insured. Approximately $232 thousand and $676 thousand held in banks in Singapore at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively were not insured.
F-10

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

64/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoice amount and presented net of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our receivables
do not bear interest. We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable at each balance sheet date using a combination of factors,
such as specific customer historical experience and credit quality, overall historical data, age of the accounts receivable balances,
and economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. We include any accounts receivable balances that are
determined to be uncollectible in the overall allowance for doubtful accounts using the specific identification method. After all
attempts to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (NRV) and consist of materials, labor and overhead. Inventory
costs are determined using standard costs which approximate actual costs under the first-in, first-out method. Costs include the
costs of purchased finished products, sorted wafers, and outsourced assembly, testing and internal overhead. NRV is the amount by
which the estimated selling price of the product exceeds the sum of any additional costs expected to be incurred on the sale of such
product in the ordinary course of business.
We evaluate inventories for excess quantities and obsolescence. Our evaluation considers market and economic conditions;
technology changes; new product introductions; and changes in strategic business direction. Estimates by their very nature include
elements that are uncertain. In order to state the inventory at the lower of cost or NRV, we maintain reserves against individual
stocking units. Inventory reserves, once established, are not reversed until the related inventories have been sold or scrapped. If
future demand or market conditions are less favorable than our projections, a write-down of inventory may be required, and would
be reflected in cost of product revenues sold in the period the revision is made.
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization
expense are calculated using the straight-line method over the assets’ remaining estimated useful lives, ranging from two to five
years for machinery and equipment, including product tooling; and the shorter of the lease terms or estimated useful lives for
leasehold improvements. When property, plant and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts. Gains and losses from retirements and asset disposals are recorded in selling, general
and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses. Repairs and maintenance on our property, plant and equipment are expensed in the period
incurred.
We perform periodic reviews to evaluate the recoverability of property, plant and equipment and to determine whether facts and
circumstances exist that would indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment exceed their fair values. If facts
and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment might not be fully recoverable, projected
undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their estimated remaining useful lives are
compared against their respective carrying amounts. In the event that the projected undiscounted cash flows are not sufficient to
recover the carrying value of the assets, the assets are written down to their estimated fair values. All long-lived assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair market value, less expected selling costs.
Intangible Assets, Net
Our intangible assets consist primarily of patents and trademarks and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. We evaluate
our finite-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an intangible
asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The carrying value of an intangible asset or asset group is not recoverable if the
amounts of undiscounted future cash flows the assets are expected to generate (including any net proceeds expected from the
disposal of the asset) are less than its carrying value. When we identify that an impairment has occurred, we reduce the carrying
value of the asset to its comparable market value (if available and appropriate) or to its estimated fair value based on a discounted
cash flow approach. Currently, we do not have goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Fair Value Measurements
We determine fair value measurements based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, we follow the following fair value hierarchy
that distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources
(observable inputs) and (2) our own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best information
available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs):
Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;
Level 2: Other inputs observable directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or market-corroborate
inputs; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which requires the owner of the assets or liabilities to
develop its own assumptions about how market participants would price these assets or liabilities.
Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the
valuation of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09,
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” The amendments to this update supersede nearly all existing revenue
recognition guidance under GAAP, including the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition.”.
The standard was originally set to become effective in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and for interim and
annual reporting periods thereafter. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
Deferral of the Effective Date,” which defers the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for all entities by one year, thereby delaying the
effective date of the standard to January 1, 2018, with an option that would permit companies to adopt the standard as early as the
original effective date. Early adoption prior to the original effective date is not permitted. The core principle of this Topic is to
recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is
expected to be received for those goods or services. This Topic defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle and, in
doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than required under
existing GAAP including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to
include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The Company adopted
ASU 2014-09 effective January 1, 2018 and it did not result in material differences in the amount or timing of recognized revenue.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, “Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, that amends existing guidance around classification and measurement
of certain financial assets and liabilities. Changes to the current GAAP model primarily affect the accounting for equity
investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. Under the new guidance, all equity investments in unconsolidated entities (other than those accounted for using the
equity method of accounting) will generally be measured at fair value through earnings. For equity investments without readily
determinable fair values, the cost method is also eliminated. However, most entities will be able to elect to record equity
investments without readily determinable fair values at cost, less impairment, and plus or minus subsequent adjustments for
observable price changes. The standard also requires that financial assets and liabilities be disclosed separately in the notes to the
financial statements based on measurement principle and form of financial asset. The amendments in this guidance are effective for
financial statements issued for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. This standard did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, which replaces the existing guidance in ASC Topic
840, “Leases”. The new standard establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease
liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating,
with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years and requires retrospective application. The
Company adopted ASU 2016-02 as of January 1, 2019, which resulted in reclassifications to our balance sheet but an overall
immaterial impact to our consolidated income or loss.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments”, that significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets and
certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net income, including trade receivables. The standard requires
an entity to estimate its lifetime “expected credit loss” for such assets at inception, and record an allowance that, when deducted
from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset, presents the net amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods therein. This standard is not expected to have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than
Inventory,” which reduces the complexity in the accounting standards by allowing the recognition of current and deferred income
taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. Historically, recognition of the income tax
consequence was not recognized until the asset was sold to an outside party. This amendment should be applied on a modified
retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of
adoption. ASU 2016-16 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods
within those annual reporting periods. The Company adopted ASU 2016-16 effective January 1, 2018 and it did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business”,
clarifying the definition of a business, reducing the number of transactions that need to be further evaluated and providing a
framework to assist entities in evaluating whether both an input and a substantive process are present. The amendments in the ASU
specify that when the fair value of the gross assets acquired or disposed of is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets, the integrated set of assets and activities is not a business. The guidance also requires that an integrated
set of assets and activities must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create output to be considered a business, and removes the evaluation of whether a market participant could replace
the missing elements. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company will apply this standard to future
transactions within the scope of the ASU.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Modification Accounting for Share-Based Payment Arrangements, which
amends the scope of modification accounting for share-based payment arrangements. The ASU provides guidance on the types of
changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards to which an entity would be required to apply modification
accounting under ASC 718. Specifically, an entity would not apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions,
and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the modification. The ASU is effective for annual
reporting periods, including interim periods within those annual reporting periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. The
Company adopted ASU 2017-09 effective January 1, 2018 and it did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements or disclosures.
We reviewed all other recently issued accounting pronouncements and concluded they are not applicable or not expected to be
material to our financial statements.
F-13

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

67/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
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NOTE 2-DETAILS OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT COMPONENTS
The following tables provide details of selected balance sheet items:
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
$
540 $
667
253
280
134
124
$
927 $
1,071

Inventories
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total inventories

December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
$
1,626 $
1,481
527
531
2,153
2,012
(1,520)
(1,311)
$
633 $
701

Property, plant and equipment, net
Furniture, machinery and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant and equipment, net

Depreciation expense totaled $225 thousand and $171 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively. There were no significant disposals
of property, plant and equipment in 2019 and 2018.
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
$
573 $
481
(402)
(360)
$
171 $
121

Intangibles, net
Patents and trademarks
Less: accumulated amortization
Total intangibles, net

Amortization expense totaled $41 thousand and $28 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Future amortization on existing
intangibles over the next five years is as follows:
(in thousands)
$
50
$
48
$
38
$
25
$
10

Years ending December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands, except par value)
$
9 $
4
168
140
3
2
83
91
39
60
$
302 $
297

Accrued liabilities
Accrued warranty
Accrued wages and benefits
Accrued taxes, other than income taxes
Accrued vacation
Accrued other
Total accrued liabilities
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
NOTE 3-FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following table summarizes the Company’s cash and marketable securities using the hierarchy described in Note 1 under the
heading “Fair Value Measurements”:

Adjusted
Cost
Level 1:
Cash
Restricted cash
Total

$
$

—
—
—

Adjusted
Cost
Level 1:
Cash
Restricted cash
Total

$
$

—
—
—

December 31, 2019
Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)
Fair Value
(in thousands)
$
$

—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

December 31, 2018
Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)
Fair Value
(in thousands)
$
$

—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

Cash &
Cash
Equivalents

$
$

5,812
32
5,844

Cash &
Cash
Equivalents

$
$

6,102
5
6,107

NOTE 4-STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
Under the terms of our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), officers and key employees could be granted restricted
stock units, as well as non-qualified or incentive stock options, at the discretion of the compensation committee of the board of
directors. The 2016 Plan replaces the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan”), which was terminated in December 2015;
however, all grants issued under the 1996 Plan prior to its termination will continue to vest, expire or terminate in accordance with
the 1996 Plan document and the terms of each award.
As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, none of our stock-based awards are classified as liabilities. We did not capitalize any stockbased compensation cost. At December 31, 2019, there was $26 thousand of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense
related to non-vested restricted stock units, and the weighted average period over which the unearned stock-based compensation for
the restricted stock units is expected to be recognized is approximately 0.38 years. All of our outstanding stock options are fully
vested with no remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense. On a quarterly basis, we assess our estimate of
forfeitures based on historical forfeiture activity and expected future employee attrition. We recognize the effect of adjustments
made to forfeiture rates, if any, in the period we change the forfeiture estimate. Future stock-based compensation expense and
unearned stock-based compensation will increase to the extent that we grant additional equity awards and our stock price increases.
Restricted Stock Units
Our outstanding restricted stock unit grants vest over five years in installments of 50% on the fourth anniversary of the grant date
and the remaining 50% on the fifth anniversary of the grant date. Unvested restricted shares are forfeited if the recipient’s
employment terminates for any reason other than death, disability or special circumstances as determined by the compensation
committee of the board of directors.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Activity for our restricted stock units is as follows:

Restricted stock units, January 1, 2018
Awarded
Issued
Forfeited
Restricted stock units, December 31, 2018
Awarded
Issued
Forfeited
Restricted stock units, December 31, 2019

Restricted
Stock
Units
(in thousands)
165
5
(40)
(10)
120
—
(78)
(5)
37

WeightedAverage
Grant
Date Fair
Value
$
$
$
$
$

3.47
6.24
1.00
8.77
3.97

$
$
$

3.05
8.81
5.23

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(years)
1.35

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$
861

0.70

$

252

0.38

$

178

The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding table for the restricted stock units outstanding represent the total pretax intrinsic
value, based on our closing stock price of $4.75 and $2.10 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 77,500 and 40,000
restricted stock units vested in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Stock based compensation incurred for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $64 thousand and $87 thousand,
respectively.
Stock Options
The exercise price of our stock options is the closing price on the date the options are granted. Options generally expire 10 years
from the date of grant. The following table summarizes the activity for the remaining options outstanding under the Plan:

Options outstanding, January 1, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired
Options outstanding, December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired
Options outstanding, December 31, 2019
Options exercisable, December 31, 2019

Shares
(in thousands)
7
—
(4)
—
3
—
—
—
3
3

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(years)
4.46

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$
15

$

4.12

$

1.56

$

7.40

8.84

$

—

$
$

7.40
7.40

7.84
7.84

$
$

—
—

This intrinsic value represents the excess of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise over the exercise
price of such options. The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding table for the options outstanding represent the total pretax
intrinsic value, based on our closing stock price of $4.75 and $2.10 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which would
have been received by the option holders had those option holders exercised their in-the-money options as of those dates.
The fair value of stock-based option awards is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model;
however, the value calculated using an option pricing model may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing
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buyer/willing seller market transaction, or actually realized by the employee upon exercise. Expected volatility used to estimate the
fair value of options granted is based on the historical volatility of our common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on the
United States Treasury constant maturity rate for the expected life of the stock option. The expected life of a stock award is the
period of time that the award is expected to be outstanding.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
The following table provides additional information in regards to options outstanding as of December 31, 2019:

Range of
Exercise Price
$

7.40

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Weighted
Number
Remaining
Average
Outstanding
Contractual Life
Exercise Price
(in thousands)
(years)
3
7.84 $
7.40
3
7.84

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Number
Average Exercise
Exercisable
Price
(in thousands)
3 $
7.40
3
7.40

NOTE 5-EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted
stock-based awards using the treasury stock method. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings
per share:
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands, except per share
data)
Net income(loss)

$

(363) $

622

Comprehensive income(loss)

$

(340) $

514

Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock
Dilutive potential common shares from stock options and restricted stock units
Common stock and common stock equivalents

6,543
38
6,581

6,899
92
6,991

Earnings(loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.07) $

0.09

Comprehensive income(loss) per share: basic and diluted

$

(0.07) $

0.07

Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options and restricted stock-based awards excluded
from calculation

3

31

NOTE 6-INCOME TAXES
Under GAAP, we use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. Tax expense for 2019 was higher primarily as a result of tax on dividend paid by subsidiary to U.S. based
parent Company.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
The components of earnings before income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as
follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
Income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit):
Domestic
Foreign

$

(383) $
208
(175) $

$

239
571
810

Income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
Income tax provision (benefit):
Current
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred
Total income tax provision

$

$

69
2
155
226

$

52
9
117
178

2
(2)
56
56
282 $

10
21
(21)
10
188

A reconciliation of the income tax provision (benefit) by applying the statutory United States federal income tax rate to net income
before income tax provision (benefit) is as follows:
December 31,
2019

$
Federal income tax provision (benefit) at statutory rate
State tax expense net of federal tax benefit
Foreign taxes
Other
Foreign withholding and dividend
Change in valuation allowance
Income tax provision

$

$

2018
%
$
(in thousands, except percentages)
(37)
(21.0)% $
170
(1)
(0.6)%
20
(4)
(2.3)%
12
75
42.9%
(15)
255
145.7%
—
(6)
(3.4)%
1
282
(161.3)% $
188

%
21.0%
2.5%
1.5%
(1.9)%
—%
0.1%
23.2%
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
and their respective tax basis using enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscal year in which the differences are expected to reverse.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilities, consist of the following:
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets, net
Net operating loss carryforward
Credits
Accruals
Reserves
Fixed assets and intangible property
Stock compensation
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$

236
—
11
8
48
125
7
435
—
435

$

$

243
6
16
3
95
107
6
476
(6)
470

$

Deferred taxes are recorded for the following Net Operating Losses (“NOLs”) that can be used in future tax years:
December 31,
2018

2017
(in millions)

Net operating losses
Federal
State
Foreign

$

0.8
1.0
0.0
1.8

$

$

0.8
0.9
0.2
2.1

$

The federal and state NOLs expire at various dates between 2020 through 2030. Foreign NOLs are related to the jurisdictions of
Singapore and Hong Kong and may be carried forward indefinitely.
The Company experienced an ownership change under IRC Section 382 in February 2010. In general, a Section 382 ownership
change occurs if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5% shareholders” (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended) that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. An ownership change generally affects the
rate at which NOLs and potential other deferred tax assets are permitted to offset future taxable income. Certain state jurisdictions
within which we operate contain similar provisions and limitations. All of the remaining federal and state NOLs amount as of
December 31, 2019 are subject to annual limitations due to the February 2010 ownership change, at approximately $71,000 per
year. Because these limitations preclude the use of a large portion of these NOLs, the Company permanently wrote-off the related
deferred tax assets during the year ended December 31, 2015. Because the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against
these deferred tax assets, this write-off had no impact on tax expense. At December 31, 2019, the gross NOLs without regard to this
permanent write-off is $48.3 million for federal and $13.9 million for state. A roll-forward of the NOLs for which deferred tax
assets are now recorded is as follows:
December 31,
2019

2018
(in millions)

Net operating losses
Balance at January 1,
NOL generated (utilized)
NOL expired unused
Other, including changes in foreign exchange rates
Balance at December 31,
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$

1.9 $
(0.1)
—
—
1.8 $

2.0
(0.1)
—
—
1.9
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated
to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. We analyzed our need to record a valuation allowance against our otherwise recognizable
net deferred tax assets in the federal, state and foreign jurisdictions and determined that no valuation allowance was necessary ay
December 31, 2019 or 2018.
The Tax Code includes a provision, referred to as Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), which provides for a 10.5% tax
on certain income of controlled foreign corporations. We have elected to account for GILTI as a period cost if and when occurred,
rather than recognizing deferred taxes for basis differences expected to reverse.
The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states and foreign jurisdictions. U.S. federal income tax returns after
2015 remain open to examination. We and our subsidiaries are also subject to income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions.
Generally, state and foreign income tax returns after 2014 remain open to examination. No income tax returns are currently under
examination. As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefits, and continues to
monitor its current and prior tax positions for any changes. The Company recognizes penalties and interest related to unrecognized
tax benefits as income tax expense. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no penalties or interest recorded
in income tax expense.
NOTE 7-SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS, CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
We manage and operate our business through one operating segment.
Net revenues from customers equal to, or greater than, 10% of total net revenues are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
37%
10%
10%
—

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D

16%
—
11%
17%

Net revenues by geographic area are as follows:

United States
Asia and Middle East
Europe and other
Revenue, net

$

$

Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
3,726 $
3,785
2,949
4,319
630
800
7,305 $
8,904

Revenues by geographic area are based on the country of shipment destination. The geographic location of distributors and thirdparty manufacturing service providers may be different from the geographic location of the purchasers and/or ultimate end users.
We provide credit only to creditworthy third parties who are subject to our credit verification procedures. Accounts receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis, and accounts deemed to have credit risk are fully reserved. At December 31, 2019,
four customers accounted for 29%, 20%, 11% and 11% of total accounts receivable. At December 31, 2018, two customers account
for approximately 35% and 29% of total accounts receivable. Our allowance for doubtful accounts was $0 at both December 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
As of December 31, 2019, our long-lived assets were geographically located as follows:
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)
$
200 $
142
604
680
$
804 $
822

United States
Asia
Total long-lived assets
NOTE 8-RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

We have a qualified retirement plan under the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering all U.S.
employees. Participants in this plan may contribute between 1% and 60% of their eligible pay on a pretax basis, up to the annual
Internal Revenue Service dollar limits. The Company will make matching contributions in an amount equal to 50% of the
participant’s deferral contributions, not to exceed $500. All contributions, including the Company match, are vested immediately.
Our matching contributions to the plan were $3 thousand and $4 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
NOTE 9-RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BKF Capital Group (OTC:BKFG)
We entered into an agreement, dated March 1, 2017 with BKF Capital Group, Inc. (“BKF”). Pursuant to the agreement, BKF
occupies and uses one furnished office, telephone and other services, located at our corporate offices, for a fee of $1,000 per month.
The agreement was amended effective February 1, 2017 reducing the fee to $250 per month. In addition, we will occasionally pay
administrative expenses on behalf of BKF, and BKF will reimburse the Company. On March 1, 2018, BFK leased executive office
space in Charleston, SC. Interlink used a portion of this office space for a proportionate fee. BKF still utilized a portion of the
Interlink offices in California for the $250 per month fee. Effective March 1, 2018 we modified the existing agreement and entered
into a cost-sharing agreement with Interlink that calls for a monthly net settlement of all shared costs between the use of the
California and the South Carolina offices, including rent, administrative expenses and similar costs.
In February 2019, BKF chose not to renew the lease for executive office space in Charleston, SC. BKF still paid for office space
located at Interlink’s corporate offices in Westlake Village, CA, for a fee of $250 per month until June 2019, when Interlink moved
its corporate headquarters to Camarillo, CA in a facility shared with Qualstar Corporation. Beginning in June 2019 and going
forward, BKF Capital pays Qualstar directly for the $250 per month fee.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, BKF paid $2 thousand and $4 thousand, respectively to the Company. Steven N.
Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, is also the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer and majority shareholder of BKF. At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, there were no amounts owed between the
companies.
F-21

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

77/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

Qualstar Corporation (NASDAQ:QBAK)
The Company agreed to reimburse, or be reimbursed by, Qualstar Corporation (“Qualstar”) for our occupation and use of a portion
of their Camarillo manufacturing location and other expenses paid by one company on behalf of the other. In addition, the
Company and Qualstar have entered into shared services agreements for marketing, executive and finance support services. Steven
N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Qualstar. Transactions with Qualstar are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
Due from
Due to
Due from
Due to
Qualstar
Qualstar
Qualstar
Qualstar
(in thousands)
$
3 $
2 $
17 $
—

Balance at January 1,
Billed to Qualstar by Interlink
Paid by Qualstar to Interlink

269
(248)

Billed to Interlink by Qualstar
Paid by Interlink to Qualstar
Balance at December 31,

—
—
24

$

—
—

$

52
(42)
12 $

217
(231)

—
—

—
—
3

17
(15)
2

$

NOTE 10-COMMITMENTS
Lease Agreements
We lease facilities under non-cancellable operating leases. The leases expire at various dates through fiscal 2021 and frequently
include renewal provisions for varying periods of time, provisions which require us to pay taxes, insurance and maintenance costs,
and provisions for minimum rent increases. Minimum leases payments, including scheduled rent increases are recognized as rent
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The rate implicit in each lease is not readily determinable, and we therefore use our incremental borrowing rate to determine the
present value of the lease payments. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to determine the initial value of right of
use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was 6.75%.
Right of use assets for operating leases are periodically reduce by impairment losses. We use the long-lived assets impairment
guidance in ASC Subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment – Overall, to determine whether a ROU asset is impaired, and if
so, the amount of the impairment loss to recognize. As of December 31, 2019, we have not recognized any impairment losses for
our ROU assets.
We monitor for events or changes in circumstances that require a reassessment of one of our leases. When a reassessment results in
the remeasurement of a lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the corresponding ROU asset
unless doing so would reduce the carrying amount of the ROU asset to an amount less than zero. In that case, the amount of the
adjustment that would result in a negative ROU asset balance is recorded in profit or loss.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had current and long-term lease liabilities of $154,000 and $66,000, respectively, and right
of uses assets of $203,000. Future imputed interest as of December 31, 2019 totaled $11,000.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases that have remaining non-cancellable lease terms in excess
of one year are as follows:
2020
Operating Leases

$

2021
178

$

68

$

2022
2023
(in thousands)
0 $

Thereafter
0

$

0

Total
$

246

In the Company’s financial statements for periods prior to January 1, 2019, the Company accounts for leases under ASC 840, and
provides for rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Net rent expense for the twelve months ended December 31,
2019 was $283,000.
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NOTE 11-CONTINGENCIES
We are not party to any legal proceedings at December 31, 2019. We are occasionally involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary
course of business, including actions against us which assert or may assert claims or seek to impose fines and penalties in
substantial amounts. Related legal defense costs are expensed as incurred.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Warranties
We establish reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred pursuant to specific warranty provisions
with our customers. We generally warrant our products against defects for one year from date of shipment, with certain exceptions
in which the warranty period can extend to more than one year based on contractual agreements. Our warranty reserves are
established at the time of sale and updated throughout the warranty period based upon numerous factors including historical
warranty return rates and expenses over various warranty periods. Historically, our warranty returns have not been material.
Intellectual Property Indemnities
We indemnify certain customers and our contract manufacturers against liability arising from third-party claims of intellectual
property rights infringement related to our products. These indemnities appear in development and supply agreements with our
customers as well as manufacturing service agreements with our contract manufacturers, are not limited in amount or duration and
generally survive the expiration of the contract. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot
be determined until an infringement claim has been made, we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that we could
incur related to such indemnifications.
Director and Officer Indemnities and Contractual Guarantees
We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, which require us to indemnify such
individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Nevada law. Our indemnification obligations under such agreements are not limited in
amount or duration. Certain costs incurred in connection with such indemnifications may be recovered under certain circumstances
under various insurance policies. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be determined
until a lawsuit has been filed, we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that we could incur relating to such
indemnities.
We have also entered into an employment agreement with Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer. This agreement contains certain severance and change in control obligations. Under the agreement, if Mr.
Bronson’s employment is terminated due to his death or disability (as such terms are defined in the agreement), Mr. Bronson or his
beneficiaries will be entitled to receive: (i) his base compensation to the end of the monthly pay period immediately following the
date of termination; (ii) accrued bonus payments; and (iii) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall
immediately fully vest. If Mr. Bronson’s employment is terminated by him for good reason (as such term is defined in the
agreement), or by us without cause, then Mr. Bronson will be entitled to receive: (i) his base compensation to the date of
termination; (ii) a severance payment equal to twelve months of his base compensation; (iii) any earned bonus compensation; (iv)
employee benefits for twelve months following the date of termination; (v) any vested company match 401k or other retirement
contribution; and (vi) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall immediately fully vest.
In the event of a change in control of the Company (as such term is defined in the agreement), Mr. Bronson is entitled to receive: (i)
a change in control payment in an amount equal to twelve months of his base compensation, payable as of the date the change in
control occurs; and (ii) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall immediately fully vest.
Guarantees and Indemnities
In the normal course of business, we are occasionally required to undertake indemnification for which we may be required to make
future payments under specific circumstances. We review our exposure under such obligations no less than annually, or more
frequently as required. The amount of any potential liabilities related to such obligations cannot be accurately determined until a
formal claim is filed. Historically, any such amounts that become payable have not had a material negative effect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. We maintain general and product liability insurance which may provide a source of
recovery to us in the event of an indemnification claim.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Audited)
Subsequent Events
The Company was approved and received $185,530 from the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) on April 21, 2020. Silicon Valley
Bank approved the loan with maturity date April 20, 2022 with an interest rate of 1%. The funds will be used for payroll related
costs, rent and utilities. The loan can be forgiven at the end of the PPP program June 30, 2020. Strict guidelines must be followed in
order for the loan to be forgiven.
The loan will be fully forgiven if the funds are used for payroll costs, interest on mortgages, rent, and utilities (due to likely high
subscription, at least 75% of the forgiven amount must have been used for payroll). Loan payments will also be deferred for six
months. No collateral or personal guarantees are required. Neither the government nor lenders will charge small businesses any
fees.
Forgiveness is based on the employer maintaining or quickly rehiring employees and maintaining salary levels. Forgiveness will be
reduced if full-time headcount declines, or if salaries and wages decrease.
This loan has a maturity of 2 years and an interest rate of 1%.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
March 31,
December 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands, except par value)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangibles, net
Right-of-use
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities, current
Accrued income taxes
Deferred revenue, current
Total current liabilities

6,021
32
719
826
277
7,875
573
192
153
435
52
9,280

$

263
282
130
7
—
682

$

$

Long term liabilities
Lease liabilities, long term
Deferred tax liability, long term
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see note 9)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: 1,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 30,000 shares authorized, 6,563 and 6,563 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
$
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

5,812
32
730
927
330
7,831
633
171
203
435
59
9,332

218
302
154
—
13
687

38
8
46
728
—

66
8
74
761
—

—

—

7
57,959
(113)
(49,301)
8,552
9,280 $

7
57,940
(93)
(49,283)
8,571
9,332

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands, except per share
data)
Revenue, net
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Engineering, research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income(loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Other income (expense), net
Income(loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income(loss)
Other comprehensive income(loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income(loss)

$

Earnings(loss) per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted

1,691
732
959

$

1,450
750
700

285
746
1,031
(72)

252
791
1,043
(343)

6
(66)
(48)
(18)

(33)
(376)
(62)
(314)

$

(20)
(38) $

50
(264)

$

(0.00) $

(0.05)

6,563
6,598

6,503
6,581

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2020
Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Stock Repurchase
Compensation expense related to
equity awards, net of
cancellations
Balance at March 31, 2020

(in thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2019
Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Stock Repurchase
Compensation expense related to
equity awards, net of
cancellations
Balance at March 31, 2019

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
6,563 $
7
—
—
—
—
—
6,563

—
—

$

—
7

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
6,483 $
7
—
—
—
—
40
6,523

Additional
Paid-inCapital
$
57,940
—
—
—

$

—
7

19
57,959

Additional
Paid-inCapital
$
57,871
—

—
—

$

Accumulated
Other
Total
Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
(Loss) Income
Deficit
Equity
$
(93) $
(49,283) $
8,571
—
(18)
(18)
(20)
—

$

23
57,894

—
(49,301) $

(20)
—
19
8,552

Accumulated
Other
Total
Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
(Loss) Income
Deficit
Equity
$
(67) $
(48,826) $
8,985
—
(314)
(314)

—
—

$

—
(113) $

—
—

50
—

$

—
(17) $

—
—
—
(49,140) $

50
—
23
8,744

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Amortization of right of use
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Lease liabilities
Deferred other
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property, plant and equipment
Share repurchase
Intangibles
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

$

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid
Interest paid

(18) $
73
19
50

78
23
45

11
101
53
7
45
(20)
7
—
(52)
(13)
263

269
(58)
(8)
—
(71)
(20)
(29)
—
(45)
(33)
(163)

—
—
(34)
(34)

(57)
—
(17)
(74)

—
—

—
—

(20)
209
5,844
6,053 $

$

(314)

—
—

$

50
(187)
6,107
5,920

27
—

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)
NOTE 1-THE COMPANY AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business
Interlink Electronics, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Interlink” or the “Company”) designs, develops, manufactures and sells a range of
force-sensing technologies that incorporate our proprietary materials technology, firmware and software into a portfolio of standard
sensor based products and custom sensor system solutions. These include sensor components, subassemblies, modules and products
that support effective, efficient cursor control and novel three-dimensional user inputs. Our Human Machine Interface (“HMI”)
technology platforms are deployed in a wide range of markets including consumer electronics, automotive, industrial, and medical.
Interlink serves our world-wide customer base from our corporate headquarters in Camarillo, California (greater Los Angeles area),
our global research and development (“R&D”) and engineering center in Singapore, our printed-electronics manufacturing facility
in Shenzhen, China and our global distribution and logistics center in Hong Kong. We also maintain engineering, assembly and
prototyping capabilities in Camarillo, California along with technical and sales offices in Japan and at multiple locations in the
United States. Our principal executive office is located at 1267 Flynn Road, Camarillo, California 93012 and our telephone number
is (805) 484-8855. Our website address is www.interlinkelectronics.com.
Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year is the calendar year reporting cycle beginning January 1 and ending December 31.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intra-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the Company and its subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial reporting. Accordingly, certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual consolidated financial statements have been condensed or
omitted. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements reflect all
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments and the elimination of intra-entity accounts) considered necessary for
a fair presentation of all periods presented. The results of the Company’s operations for any interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations for any other interim period or for a full fiscal year. These unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and footnotes included in our Annual
Report for the year ended December 31, 2019, which was posted to the OTC Markets website on May 15, 2020, and are included in
the registration statement on Form 10.
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of our Chinese subsidiary is the Chinese Yuan Renminbi. The functional currency for our Hong Kong and
Singapore subsidiaries is the United States dollar. However, our Hong Kong and Singapore subsidiaries also transact business in
their local currency. Therefore, assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the
balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the respective periods.
Foreign currency transaction and translation gains and losses are included in results of operations.
Segment Reporting
We operate in one reportable segment: the manufacture and sale of force sensing technology solutions.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Unaudited)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and disclosures made in the accompanying
notes to the consolidated financial statements. Management regularly evaluates estimates and assumptions related to revenue
recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, warranty reserves, inventory valuation reserves, stock-based compensation,
purchased intangible asset valuations and useful lives, asset retirement obligations, and deferred income tax asset valuation
allowances. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual results we experience may differ materially and
adversely from our original estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and the actual results, our
future results of operations will be affected.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606), when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the
consideration which we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We recognize product revenues when the
following fundamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred; (iii) the price to
the customer is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collection of the sales price is reasonably assured. Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped and title and risk of loss transfer to the customer, in accordance with the terms specified in the arrangement with the
customer. Revenue recognition is deferred until the earnings process is complete.
We (i) input orders based upon receipt of a customer purchase order, (ii) confirm pricing through the customer purchase order
record, (iii) validate creditworthiness through past payment history, credit agency reports and other financial data, and (iv)
recognize revenue upon shipment of goods or when risk of loss and title transfer to the buyer. All customers have warranty rights,
and some customers also have explicit or implicit rights of return. We establish reserves for potential customer returns or warranty
repairs based on historical experience and other factors that enable us to reasonably estimate the obligation.
A portion of our product sales is made through distributors under agreements allowing for right of return. Our past history with
these sell-through right of return provisions allow us to reasonably estimate the amount of inventory that could be returned pursuant
to these agreements, and revenue is recognized accordingly.
We recognize revenue for non-recurring engineering or non-recurring tooling fees when there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangement, performance obligations are identified, fees are fixed or determinable, delivery has occurred, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
Warranty
We establish reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred pursuant to specific warranty provisions
with our customers. We generally warrant our products against defects for one year from date of shipment, with certain exceptions
in which the warranty period can extend to more than one year based on contractual agreements. A warranty reserve is recorded
against revenues when products are shipped. At each reporting period, we adjust our reserve for warranty claims based on our
actual warranty claims experience as a percentage of net revenue for the preceding 12 months and also consider the effect of known
operations issues that may have an impact that differs from historical trends. Historically, our warranty returns have not been
material.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs
Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling fees are presented in product revenues. Costs incurred for shipping and
handling are included in cost of revenues.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Unaudited)
Engineering, Research and Development Costs
Engineering, research and development (“R&D”) costs are expensed when incurred. R&D expenses consist primarily of
compensation expenses for employees engaged in research, design and development activities. R&D expenses also include
depreciation and amortization, and overhead, including facilities expenses.
Marketing Costs
All of the costs related to marketing and advertising our products are expensed as incurred or at the time the marketing takes place.
Stock-based Compensation
All stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and employee stock purchase rights, are
recognized in the financial statements based on their respective grant date (measurement date) fair values. We calculate the
compensation cost of full-value awards such as restricted stock based on the market value of the underlying stock at the date of the
grant. We estimate the expected life of a stock award as the period of time that the award is expected to be outstanding. We are
required to estimate the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of
the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service periods. We
estimate the fair value of each option award as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which was
developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and that are freely transferable. The
Black-Scholes option pricing model considers, among other factors, the expected life of the award and the expected volatility of our
stock price. Although the Black-Scholes option pricing model meets the accounting guidance requirements, the fair values
generated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of our awards, as it does not
consider other factors important to those stock-based payment awards, such as continued employment, periodic vesting
requirements, and limited transferability.
We have elected to recognize compensation expense for all stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period for the entire award. The amount of compensation expense recognized through the end of each reporting period is equal to
the portion of the grant-date value of the awards that have vested, or for partially vested awards, the value of the portion of the
award that is ultimately expected to vest for which the requisite services have been provided. The benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation cost are reported as a financing cash flow.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net, consists of interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and other non-operating gains and losses.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We assess the likelihood that our deferred
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not determinable beyond a
“more likely than not” standard, we establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase or
decrease this allowance in a period, we include an expense or benefit within the tax provision in the statement of operations. We
also utilize a “more likely than not” recognition threshold and measurement analysis for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits within the consolidated statements of operations as income tax expense.
We operate within multiple tax jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions. Our foreign subsidiaries are subject to
foreign income taxes on earnings in their respective jurisdictions. Earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not included in our U.S.
federal income tax return until earnings are repatriated. We are generally eligible to receive tax credits on repatriated earnings on
our U.S. federal income tax return for foreign taxes paid by our subsidiaries.
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INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Unaudited)
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income includes all components of comprehensive income, including net income and any changes in equity during
the period from transactions and other events and circumstances generated by non-owner sources.
Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of diluted
common shares, which is inclusive of common stock equivalents from unexercised stock options and restricted stock units.
Unexercised stock options and restricted stock units are considered to be common stock equivalents if, using the treasury stock
method, they are determined to be dilutive.
Under the two-class method of determining earnings for each class of stock, we consider the dividend rights and participating rights
in undistributed earnings for each class of stock.
Leases
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842. Under this guidance, arrangements meeting the
definition of a lease are classified as operating or financing leases, and are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as both a
right of use asset and lease liability, calculated by discounting fixed lease payments over the lease term at the rate implicit in the
lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are increased by interest and reduced by payments each period,
and the right of use asset is amortized over the lease term. For finance leases, interest on the lease liability and the amortization of
the right of use asset results in front-loaded expense over the lease term. Variable lease expenses are recorded when incurred.
In calculating the right of use and lease liability, the Company has elected to combine lease and non-lease components. The
Company excludes short-term leases having initial term of 12 months or less from the new guidance as an accounting policy
election, and recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Risk and Uncertainties
Our future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect our business or future results
and cause actual results to vary materially from historical results include, but are not limited to, the rapid change in our industry;
problems with the performance, reliability or quality of our products; loss of customers; impacts of doing business internationally,
including foreign currency fluctuations; potential shortages of the supplies we use to manufacture our products; disruptions in our
manufacturing facilities; changes in environmental directives impacting our manufacturing process or product lines; the
development of new proprietary technology and the enforcement of intellectual property rights by or against us; our ability to
attract and retain qualified employees; and our ability to raise additional capital.
Public health threats could have an adverse effect on our operations and financial results.
Public health threats could adversely affect our ongoing or planned business operations. In particular, the outbreak in December
2019 of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in China has resulted in quarantines, restrictions on travel and other business and
economic disruptions. We cannot presently predict the scope and severity of any potential business shutdowns or disruptions, but if
we or any of the third parties with whom we engage, including the suppliers, distributers, resellers and other third parties with
whom we conduct business, were to experience shutdowns or other business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the
manner and on the timelines presently planned could be materially and adversely impacted.
F-33

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/link20200801_1012g.htm

90/102

1/20/2021

link20200801_1012g.htm

INTERLINK ELECTRONICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- continued
(Unaudited)
Fair Value Measurements
We determine fair value measurements based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, we follow the following fair value hierarchy
that distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources
(observable inputs) and (2) our own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best information
available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs):
Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;
Level 2: Other inputs observable directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or market-corroborate
inputs; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which requires the owner of the assets or liabilities to
develop its own assumptions about how market participants would price these assets or liabilities.
Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the
valuation of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, “Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, that amends existing guidance around classification and measurement
of certain financial assets and liabilities. Changes to the current GAAP model primarily affect the accounting for equity
investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. Under the new guidance, all equity investments in unconsolidated entities (other than those accounted for using the
equity method of accounting) will generally be measured at fair value through earnings. For equity investments without readily
determinable fair values, the cost method is also eliminated. However, most entities will be able to elect to record equity
investments without readily determinable fair values at cost, less impairment, and plus or minus subsequent adjustments for
observable price changes. The standard also requires that financial assets and liabilities be disclosed separately in the notes to the
financial statements based on measurement principle and form of financial asset. The amendments in this guidance are effective for
financial statements issued for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. This standard did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, which replaces the existing guidance in ASC Topic
840, “Leases”. The new standard establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease
liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating,
with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years and requires retrospective application. The
Company adopted ASU 2016-02 as of January 1, 2019, which resulted in reclassifications to our balance sheet but an overall
immaterial impact to our consolidated income or loss.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments”, that significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets and
certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net income, including trade receivables. The standard requires
an entity to estimate its lifetime “expected credit loss” for such assets at inception, and record an allowance that, when deducted
from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset, presents the net amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods therein. This standard is not expected to have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
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In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than
Inventory,” which reduces the complexity in the accounting standards by allowing the recognition of current and deferred income
taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. Historically, recognition of the income tax
consequence was not recognized until the asset was sold to an outside party. This amendment should be applied on a modified
retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of
adoption. ASU 2016-16 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods
within those annual reporting periods. The Company adopted ASU 2016-16 effective January 1, 2018 and it did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business”,
clarifying the definition of a business, reducing the number of transactions that need to be further evaluated and providing a
framework to assist entities in evaluating whether both an input and a substantive process are present. The amendments in the ASU
specify that when the fair value of the gross assets acquired or disposed of is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets, the integrated set of assets and activities is not a business. The guidance also requires that an integrated
set of assets and activities must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create output to be considered a business, and removes the evaluation of whether a market participant could replace
the missing elements. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company will apply this standard to future
transactions within the scope of the ASU.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Modification Accounting for Share-Based Payment Arrangements, which
amends the scope of modification accounting for share-based payment arrangements. The ASU provides guidance on the types of
changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards to which an entity would be required to apply modification
accounting under ASC 718. Specifically, an entity would not apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions,
and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the modification. The ASU is effective for annual
reporting periods, including interim periods within those annual reporting periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. The
Company adopted ASU 2017-09 effective January 1, 2018 and it did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements or disclosures.
We reviewed all other recently issued accounting pronouncements and concluded they are not applicable or not expected to be
material to our financial statements.
NOTE 2-INVENTORIES
Inventories, stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, consist of the following:
March 31,
December 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands)
$
512 $
540
215
253
99
134
$
826 $
927

Inventories
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total inventories
NOTE 3-STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

Under the terms of our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), officers and key employees could be granted restricted
stock units, as well as non-qualified or incentive stock options, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. The Plan replaces the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan”) which was terminated in December 2015; however,
all grants issued under the 1996 Plan prior to its termination will continue to vest, expire or terminate in accordance with the 1996
Plan document and the terms of each award.
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Restricted Stock Units
Our outstanding restricted stock unit grants vest over five years in installments of 50% on the fourth anniversary of the grant date
and the remaining 50% on the fifth anniversary of the grant date. Unvested restricted shares are forfeited if the recipient’s
employment terminates for any reason other than death, disability or special circumstances as determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors.
Activity for our restricted stock units is as follows:

Restricted stock units, December 31, 2019
Awarded
Issued
Forfeited
Restricted stock units, March 31, 2020

Restricted
Stock
Units
(in thousands)
37
—
—
—
37

WeightedAverage
Grant
Date Fair
Value
$

5.23

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(years)
0.38

$

5.23

0.13

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$
178

$

114

The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding table for the restricted stock units outstanding represent the total pretax intrinsic
value, based on our closing stock price of $3.04 and $4.75 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
Stock based compensation incurred for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $19 thousand as compared to $23 thousand for
the comparable periods ended March 31, 2019.
Stock Options
The exercise price of our stock options is the closing price on the date the options are granted. The fair value of each option grant is
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Options generally expire 10 years from the date of
grant. The following table summarizes the activity for the remaining options outstanding under the Plan:

Options outstanding, December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired
Options outstanding, March 31, 2020
Options exercisable, March 31, 2020

Shares
(in thousands)
3
—
—
—
3
3

$

7.40

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(years)
7.84

$
$

7.40
7.40

7.59
7.59

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$
—

$
$

—
—

This intrinsic value represents the excess of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise over the exercise
price of such options. The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding table for the options outstanding represent the total pretax
intrinsic value, based on our closing stock price of $3.04 and $4.75 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively,
which would have been received by the option holders had those option holders exercised their in-the-money options as of those
dates.
The fair value of stock-based option awards is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model;
however, the value calculated using an option pricing model may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing
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buyer/willing seller market transaction, or actually realized by the employee upon exercise. Expected volatility used to estimate the
fair value of options granted is based on the historical volatility of our common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on the
United States Treasury constant maturity rate for the expected life of the stock option. The expected life of a stock award is the
period of time that the award is expected to be outstanding.
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The following table provides additional information in regards to options outstanding as of March 31, 2020:

Range of
Exercise Price
$

7.40

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Number
Remaining
Outstanding
Contractual Life
(in thousands)
(years)
3
7.59
3
7.59

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
$

7.40

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Number
Average Exercise
Exercisable
Price
(in thousands)
3 $
7.40
3
7.40

NOTE 4-EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted
stock-based awards using the treasury stock method.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands, except per share
data)
Net income (loss)

$

(18) $

(314)

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

(38) $

(264)

Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock
Dilutive potential common shares from stock options and restricted stock units
Common stock and common stock equivalents

6,563
35
6,598

6,503
78
6,581

Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.00) $

(0.05)

Comprehensive income (loss) per share: basic and diluted

$

(0.01) $

(0.05)

Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options and restricted stock-based awards excluded
from calculation

6

5

NOTE 5-EQUITY TRANSACTIONS
On August 21, 2019, we repurchased 2,788 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $1.95 per share from an existing
stockholder in a private transaction approved by our Board of Directors. The repurchased shares were immediately retired and
restored to the status of authorized and unissued shares.
At March 31, 2020 we had 6,563,050 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
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NOTE 6-SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS, CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
We manage and operate our business through one operating segment.
Net revenues from customers equal to or greater than 10% of total net revenues are as follows:

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
*

Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
24%
28%
11%
*%
*%
10%
*%
10%

Less than 10% of total net revenues

Net revenues by geographic area are as follows:

United States
Asia and Middle East
Europe and other
Revenue, net

Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands)
$
742 $
672
771
580
178
198
$
1,691 $
1,450

Revenues by geographic area are based on the country of shipment destination. The geographic location of distributors and thirdparty manufacturing service providers may be different from the geographic location of the purchasers and/or ultimate end users.
We provide credit only to creditworthy third parties who are subject to our credit verification procedures. Accounts receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis, and accounts deemed to have credit risk are fully reserved. At March 31, 2020, three
customers accounted for 26%, 15% and 11% of total accounts receivable, respectively. At December 31, 2019, four customers
accounted for 29%, 20%, 11% and 11% of total accounts receivable, respectively. Our allowance for doubtful accounts was $0
thousand at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
Our long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment plus intangibles, net) were geographically located as follows:

United States
Asia
Total long-lived assets

March 31,
December 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands)
$
217 $
200
548
604
$
765 $
804

NOTE 7-RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BKF Capital Group (OTC:BKFG)
We entered into an agreement, dated March 1, 2017 with BKF Capital Group, Inc. (“BKF”). Pursuant to the agreement, BKF
occupies and uses one furnished office, telephone and other services, located at our corporate offices, for a fee of $1,000 per month.
The agreement was amended effective February 1, 2017 reducing the fee to $250 per month. In addition, we will occasionally pay
administrative expenses on behalf of BKF, and BKF will reimburse the Company. On March 1, 2018, BFK leased executive office
space in Charleston, SC. Interlink used a portion of this office space for a proportionate fee. BKF still utilized a portion of the
Interlink offices in California for the $250 per month fee. Effective March 1, 2018 we modified the existing agreement and entered
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into a cost-sharing agreement with Interlink that calls for a monthly net settlement of all shared costs between the use of the
California and the South Carolina offices, including rent, administrative expenses and similar costs.
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In February 2019, BKF chose not to renew the lease for executive office space in Charleston, SC. BKF still paid for office space
located at Interlink’s corporate offices in Westlake Village, CA, for a fee of $250 per month until June 2019, when Interlink moved
its corporate headquarters to Camarillo, CA in a facility shared with Qualstar Corporation. Beginning in June 2019 and going
forward, BKF Capital pays Qualstar directly for the $250 per month fee.
For the three ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, BKF paid $0 and $750, respectively to the Company. Steven N. Bronson, our
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, is also the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
majority shareholder of BKF. At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no amounts owed between the companies.
Qualstar Corporation (NASDAQ:QBAK)
The Company agreed to reimburse, or be reimbursed by, Qualstar Corporation (“Qualstar”) for our occupation and use of a portion
of their Camarillo manufacturing location and other expenses paid by one company on behalf of the other. In addition, the
Company and Qualstar have entered into shared services agreements for marketing, executive and finance support services. Steven
N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Qualstar. Transactions with Qualstar are as follows:
Three months ended March 31,
2020
2019
Due from
Due to
Due from
Due to
Qualstar
Qualstar
Qualstar
Qualstar
(in thousands)
$
24 $
12 $
3 $
2

Balance at January 1,
Billed to Qualstar by Interlink
Paid by Qualstar to Interlink

128
(151)

Billed to Interlink by Qualstar
Paid by Interlink to Qualstar
Balance at March 31,

—
—
1

$

—
—

$

33
(38)
7 $

54
(22)

—
—

—
—
35

6
(6)
2

$

NOTE 8-INCOME TAXES
Income tax benefit as a percentage of income before income taxes was (72.7%) for the three months ended March 31, 2020 versus
tax benefit of (16.5) % for the comparable period in the prior year. Our income tax expense is primarily impacted by the mix of
domestic and foreign pre-tax earnings, as well as our ability to utilize prior net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”).
The Company experienced an ownership change under IRC Section 382 in February 2010. In general, a Section 382 ownership
change occurs if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5% shareholders” (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended) that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. An ownership change generally affects the
rate at which NOLs and potential other deferred tax assets are permitted to offset future taxable income. Certain state jurisdictions
within which we operate contain similar provisions and limitations. All of the remaining federal and state NOLs as of March 31,
2020 are subject to annual limitations due to the February 2010 ownership change.
Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated
to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. We analyzed our need to maintain the valuation allowance against our otherwise
recognizable deferred tax assets in the federal, state and foreign jurisdictions and had previously recorded a full valuation
allowance. During the fourth quarter of 2016, we determined, given our current earnings and anticipated future earnings, that
sufficient evidence existed to reach a conclusion that the valuation allowance was no longer warranted.
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NOTE 9-COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Agreements
We lease facilities under non-cancellable operating leases. The leases expire at various dates through fiscal 2021 and frequently
include renewal provisions for varying periods of time, provisions which require us to pay taxes, insurance and maintenance costs,
and provisions for minimum rent increases. Minimum leases payments, including scheduled rent increases are recognized as rent
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The rate implicit in each lease is not readily determinable, and we therefore use our incremental borrowing rate to determine the
present value of the lease payments. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to determine the initial value of right of
use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2020 was 6.75%.
Right of use assets for operating leases are periodically reduce by impairment losses. We use the long-lived assets impairment
guidance in ASC Subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment – Overall, to determine whether a ROU asset is impaired, and if
so, the amount of the impairment loss to recognize. As of March 31, 2020, we have not recognized any impairment losses for our
ROU assets.
We monitor for events or changes in circumstances that require a reassessment of one of our leases. When a reassessment results in
the remeasurement of a lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the corresponding ROU asset
unless doing so would reduce the carrying amount of the ROU asset to an amount less than zero. In that case, the amount of the
adjustment that would result in a negative ROU asset balance is recorded in profit or loss.
Right of Use Assets
We have various operating leases for office space that expire through 2021. Below is a summary of our right of use assets and
liabilities as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands).
Right-of-use assets

$

153

Lease liability obligations
Lease liability obligations, less current portion
Total lease liability obligations, long term

$

168
(130)
38

$

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)

1.45

Weighted-average discount rate

6.75%

During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we recognized approximately $59 thousand in operating lease costs. Operating
lease costs of $24 thousand are included in cost of revenue, and $35 thousand are included in operating expenses in our
consolidated statement of operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, cash paid for operating leases was
approximately $72 thousand.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we recognized approximately $78 thousand in operating lease costs. Operating
lease costs of $30 thousand are included in cost of revenue, and $48 thousand are included in operating expenses in our
consolidated statement of operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, cash paid for operating leases was
approximately $82 thousand.
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Approximate future minimum lease payments for our right of use assets over the remaining lease periods as of March 31, 2020, are
as follows (in thousands):
Remainder of 2020
2021
Total minimum payments
Less: amount representing interest
Total

$

$

107
68
175
(7)
168

Litigation
We are not party to any legal proceedings at March 31, 2020. We are occasionally involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary
course of business, including actions against us which assert or may assert claims or seek to impose fines and penalties in
substantial amounts. Related legal defense costs are expensed as incurred.
Warranties
We establish reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred pursuant to specific warranty provisions
with our customers. We generally warrant our products against defects for one year from date of shipment, with certain exceptions
in which the warranty period can extend to more than one year based on contractual agreements. Our warranty reserves are
established at the time of sale and updated throughout the warranty period based upon numerous factors including historical
warranty return rates and expenses over various warranty periods. Historically, our warranty returns have not been material.
Intellectual Property Indemnities
We indemnify certain customers and our contract manufacturers against liability arising from third-party claims of intellectual
property rights infringement related to our products. These indemnities appear in development and supply agreements with our
customers as well as manufacturing service agreements with our contract manufacturers, are not limited in amount or duration and
generally survive the expiration of the contract. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot
be determined until an infringement claim has been made, we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that we could
incur related to such indemnifications.
Director and Officer Indemnities and Contractual Guarantees
We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, which require us to indemnify such
individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Nevada law. Our indemnification obligations under such agreements are not limited in
amount or duration. Certain costs incurred in connection with such indemnifications may be recovered under certain circumstances
under various insurance policies. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be determined
until a lawsuit has been filed, we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that we could incur relating to such
indemnities.
We have also entered into an employment agreement with Steven N. Bronson, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer. This agreement contains certain severance and change in control obligations. Under the agreement, if Mr.
Bronson’s employment is terminated due to his death or disability (as such terms are defined in the agreement), Mr. Bronson or his
beneficiaries will be entitled to receive: (i) his base compensation to the end of the monthly pay period immediately following the
date of termination; (ii) accrued bonus payments; and (iii) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall
immediately fully vest. If Mr. Bronson’s employment is terminated by him for good reason (as such term is defined in the
agreement), or by us without cause, then Mr. Bronson will be entitled to receive: (i) his base compensation to the date of
termination; (ii) a severance payment equal to twelve months of his base compensation; (iii) any earned bonus compensation; (iv)
employee benefits for twelve months following the date of termination; (v) any vested company match 401k or other retirement
contribution; and (vi) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall immediately fully vest.
In the event of a change in control of the Company (as such term is defined in the agreement), Mr. Bronson is entitled to receive: (i)
a change in control payment in an amount equal to twelve months of his base compensation, payable as of the date the change in
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control occurs; and (ii) all unvested equity and/or options issued by the Company shall immediately fully vest.
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Guarantees and Indemnities
In the normal course of business, we are occasionally required to undertake indemnification for which we may be required to make
future payments under specific circumstances. We review our exposure under such obligations no less than annually, or more
frequently as required. The amount of any potential liabilities related to such obligations cannot be accurately determined until a
formal claim is filed. Historically, any such amounts that become payable have not had a material negative effect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. We maintain general and product liability insurance which may provide a source of
recovery to us in the event of an indemnification claim.
Subsequent Events
Subsequent to March 31, 2020, we applied for and received a loan from Silicon Valley Bank in the aggregate principal amount of
$185,530 pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
(the “CARES Act”), which was enacted March 27, 2020. The loan is evidenced by a promissory note, dated April 21, 2020, issued
by us to the lender, which note matures on April 20, 2022, and bears interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum, payable monthly
commencing on November 21, 2020, following an initial deferral period as specified under the PPP. We may prepay the note at any
time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. Proceeds from the loan will be used to fund designated expenses, including
certain payroll costs, group health care benefits and other permitted expenses, in accordance with the PPP. Under the terms of the
PPP, up to the entire amount of principal and accrued interest may be forgiven to the extent loan proceeds are used for qualifying
expenses as described in the CARES Act and applicable implementing guidance issued by the U.S. Small Business Administration
under the PPP. We intend to use all or a substantial portion of the loan for designated qualifying expenses and to apply for
forgiveness of all or a substantial portion of the loan in accordance with the terms of the PPP. No assurance can be given that we
will obtain forgiveness of the loan in whole or in part. With respect to any portion of the loan that is not forgiven, the loan will be
subject to customary provisions for a loan of this type, including customary events of default relating to, among other things,
payment defaults and breaches of the note’s provisions.
The Company entered into a sublease agreement to lease 4,351 square feet of space located in Irvine, California on June 8, 2020 for
$5,439 per month with 3 percent annual increases starting July 1 2021. The lease term begins July 1, 2020 and ends May 31, 2023.
The space is used for executive offices, sales, finance and administration. The Company intends to sublease portions of the space to
Qualstar Corporation and BKF Capital Group.
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Exhibit 10.4

July 30, 2020
Raymond Li
[Address]
Dear Raymond,
Interlink Electronics, Inc. is pleased to extend you this offer of employment for the position of Chief Financial Officer of
Interlink Electronics, Inc. (“Company” or “Interlink”), effective as of your start date of June 1, 2020. You understand that you shall
be an “at will” employee and that you have not been offered employment for any specified term.
You acknowledge and agree that you are also acting as the chief financial officer of the BKF Capital Group, Inc., the
controlling stockholder of Interlink, and Qualstar Corporation, another company controlled by BKF Capital Group (BKF Capital
Group, Interlink and Qualstar Corporation are referred to herein as the “BKF Group Companies”), and that you have entered or will
enter into a separate employment agreement with BKF Capital Group and Qualstar Corporation in respect of such services.
Should you accept our offer, your starting annual base salary will be $106,875, which represents 47.5% of the total annual
base salary of $225,000 that you will paid for services to all BKF Group Companies. Your salary, less all customary deductions,
shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Your title at the Company will be Chief Financial Officer.
Your primary responsibilities will be consistent with that of a chief financial officer of a similarly situated company.
Your position will report to Steven N. Bronson, CEO and/or his designee.
You will split your time from your home and our current corporate headquarters, located in Irvine, CA.
Your annual paid time off will be 7.125 days per year, accrued monthly, which represents 47.5% of the 15 days per year of
paid time off you will receive for services to all BKF Group Companies.
Your position with Interlink is part-time, as you will be dividing your time among all BKF Group Companies. You are
expected to spend an average of 19 hours per week on Interlink.
On the first day of the month following the month your employment commences, you will be eligible for certain benefits
available to employees of the Company. Those benefits include (without duplication among BKF Group Companies):
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Medical Benefits: BlueShield of California HMO or PPO Plan Options
Dental: Guardian DHMO or PPO Options
Vision: Guardian Vision VSP Network Signature Plan
Life and AD&D: Sun Life Financial
The Company pays 100% for the US employee’s basic health, vision, and dental. The Company also pays 50% of
the amounts related to family coverage (eligible spouse and children). The Company’s contribution to these
benefits (health, vision, and dental) is capped.

Our offer to you is contingent upon execution of our Proprietary Information and Non- Disclosure Agreement and all other required
tax and employment forms.
Interlink Electronics, Inc.
1 Jenner, Suite 200 ● Irvine, California 92618
Phone +1(805)484-8855 ● Fax +1(805)484-9457
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If you agree to the above terms, please sign and return this letter to the undersigned as well as the information requested above. By
signing this offer letter, you represent that you have no restrictions from a previous employer that would prohibit you from
accepting a position with Interlink Electronics, Inc. We look forward to hearing from you in the near future and having you join us.
In the meantime, if you have any questions about this offer or Interlink Electronics, Inc., please feel free to contact the undersigned
at your earliest convenience.
Sincerely,
/s/ Steven N. Bronson
Steven N. Bronson, CEO
Agreed to and Accepted by
/s/ Raymond Li
Raymond Li

Revision: 1.0

© Interlink Electronics
*** Proprietary and Confidential ***
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EX-10.6 3 ex_196584.htm EXHIBIT 10.6
Exhibit 10.6

SUBLEASE FOR A SINGLE SUBLESSEE
To be used if the entire space (Premises) will be subleased by a single sublessee
whether or not the space (Premises) is a single tenant building or is located in a
multi-tenant building.
If there will be one or more sublessees sharing the space with each other and/or
the lessee, whether or not the space (Premises) is a single tenant building or is
located in a multi-tenant building, use the Sublease for Multiple Tenants.
1.

Basic Provisions ("Basic Provisions").
1.1 Parties: This Sublease ("Sublease"), dated for reference purposes only June 8, 2020 , is made by and between Overland,
Pacific & Cutler, LLC ("Sublessor") and Interlink Electronics ("Sublessee"), (collectively the "Parties", or individually a "Party").
1.2 Premises: That certain real property, including all improvements therein, and commonly known as (street address, city,
state, zip) 1 Jenner, Suite 200, Irvine, CA 92618 located in the County of Orange , State of California and generally described as
(describe brieﬂy the nature of the property)
("Premises").
1.3 Term: Two years and eleven months commencing July 1, 2020 ("Commencement Date") and ending May 31, 2023
("Expiration Date").
1.4 Early Possession: If the Premises are available Sublessee may have non-exclusive possession of the Premises
commencing upon a fully executed Sublease Agreement and the Master Lessor's Consent and Approval ("Early Possession Date").
1.5 Base Rent: $5,439.00 per month ("Base Rent"), payable on the first day of each month commencing October 1, 2020.
☑ If this box is checked, there are provisions in this Sublease for the Base Rent to be adjusted.
1.6 Base Rent and Other Monies Paid Upon Execution:
(a) Base Rent: $5,439.00 for the period October 1, 2020 - October 31, 2020 .
(b) Security Deposit: $8,188.00 ("Security Deposit").
(c) Association Fees:
for the period
.
(d) Other:
for
.
(e) Total Due Upon Execution of this Lease: $13,627.00 .
1.7 Agreed Use: The Premises shall be used and occupied only for general office use by Sublessee and its affiliated entities,
Qualstar Corp., N2 Power Inc., BFK Capital Group, Inc., and Bronson Financial and for no other purposes.
1.8 Real Estate Brokers.
(a) Representation: Each Party acknowledges receiving a Disclosure Regarding Real Estate Agency Relationship,
conﬁrms and consents to the following agency relationships in this Sublease with the following real estate brokers ("Broker(s)") and/or
their agents ("Agent(s)"):
Sublessor’s Brokerage Firm Hughes Marino License No. 01898886 is the broker of (check one): ☑ the Sublessor; or ☐ both
the Sublessee and Sublessor (dual agent).
Sublessor’s Agent Will Tober License No. 02001182 is (check one): ☑ the Sublessor’s Agent (salesperson or broker associate);
or ☐ both the Sublessee’s Agent and the Sublessor’s Agent (dual agent).
Sublessee’s Brokerage Firm Madison Street Partners License No.
both the Sublessee and Sublessor (dual agent).

Is the broker of (check one): ☑ the Sublessee; or ☐

Sublessee’s Agent Greg Endsley License No. 01020960 is (check one): ☑ the Sublessee’s Agent (salesperson or broker
associate); or ☐ both the Sublessee’s Agent and the Sublessor’s Agent (dual agent).
(b) Payment to Brokers: Upon execution and delivery of this Sublease by both Parties, Sublessor shall pay to the
Brokers the brokerage fee agreed to in a separate written agreement (or if there is no such agreement, the sum of
or 7.5 % of the
total Base Rent) for the brokerage services rendered by the Brokers. (5% to the Sublessee's Broker & 2.5% to the Sublessor's Broker) +
$1.00/SF Broker Bonus to the Sublessee’s Broker.
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1.9 Guarantor. The obligations of the Sublessee under this Sublease shall be guaranteed by Intentionally Omitted
("Guarantor").
1.10 Attachments. Attached hereto are the following, all of which constitute a part of this Sublease:
☑ an Addendum consisting of Paragraphs 14 through 19 ;
☐ a plot plan depicting the Premises;
☐ a Work Letter;
☑ a copy of the master lease and any and all amendments to such lease (collectively the "Master Lease");
☐ other (specify):
.
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2.

Premises.
2.1 Letting. Sublessor hereby subleases to Sublessee, and Sublessee hereby subleases from Sublessor, the Premises, for the
term, at the rental, and upon all of the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Sublease. While the approximate square footage
of the Premises may have been used in the marketing of the Premises for purposes of comparison, the Base Rent stated herein is NOT
tied to square footage and is not subject to adjustment should the actual size be determined to be diﬀerent. Note: Sublessee is advised
to verify the actual size prior to executing this Sublease.
2.2 Condition. Sublessor shall deliver the Premises to Sublessee broom clean and free of debris on the Commencement Date
or the Early Possession Date, whichever ﬁrst occurs ("Start Date"), and warrants that the existing electrical, plumbing, ﬁre sprinkler,
lighting, heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems ("HVAC"), and any items which the Sublessor is obligated to construct
pursuant to the Work Letter attached hereto, if any, other than those constructed by Sublessee, shall be in good operating condition on
said date. If a non-compliance with such warranty exists as of the Start Date, or if one of such systems or elements should malfunction
or fail within the appropriate warranty period, Sublessor shall, as Sublessor's sole obligation with respect to such matter, except as
otherwise provided in this Sublease, promptly after receipt of written notice from Sublessee setting forth with speciﬁcity the nature and
extent of such non-compliance, malfunction or failure, rectify same at Sublessor's expense. The warranty periods shall be as follows:
(i) 6 months as to the HVAC systems, and (ii) 30 days as to the remaining systems and other elements. If Sublessee does not give
Sublessor the required notice within the appropriate warranty period, correction of any such non-compliance, malfunction or failure
shall be the obligation of Sublessee at Sublessee's sole cost and expense.
2.3 Compliance. Sublessor warrants that any improvements, alterations or utility installations made or installed by or on
behalf of Sublessor to or on the Premises comply with all applicable covenants or restrictions of record and applicable building codes,
regulations and ordinances ("Applicable Requirements") in eﬀect on the date that they were made or installed. Sublessor makes no
warranty as to the use to which Sublessee will put the Premises or to modiﬁcations which may be required by the Americans with
Disabilities Act or any similar laws as a result of Sublessee's use. NOTE: Sublessee is responsible for determining whether or not
the zoning and other Applicable Requirements are appropriate for Sublessee's intended use, and acknowledges that past uses
of the Premises may no longer be allowed. If the Premises do not comply with said warranty, Sublessor shall, except as otherwise
provided, promptly after receipt of written notice from Sublessee setting forth with speciﬁcity the nature and extent of such noncompliance, rectify the same.
2.4 Acknowledgements. Sublessee acknowledges that: (a) it has been given an opportunity to inspect and measure the
Premises, (b) it has been advised by Sublessor and/or Brokers to satisfy itself with respect to the size and condition of the Premises
(including but not limited to the electrical, HVAC and ﬁre sprinkler systems, security, environmental aspects, and compliance with
Applicable Requirements and the Americans with Disabilities Act), and their suitability for Sublessee's intended use, (c) Sublessee has
made such investigation as it deems necessary with reference to such matters and assumes all responsibility therefor as the same relate
to its occupancy of the Premises, (d) it is not relying on any representation as to the size of the Premises made by Brokers or Sublessor,
(e) the square footage of the Premises was not material to Sublessee's decision to sublease the Premises and pay the Rent stated herein,
and (f) neither Sublessor, Sublessor's agents, nor Brokers have made any oral or written representations or warranties with respect to
said matters other than as set forth in this Sublease. In addition, Sublessor acknowledges that: (i) Brokers have made no
representations, promises or warranties concerning Sublessee's ability to honor the Sublease or suitability to occupy the Premises, and
(ii) it is Sublessor's sole responsibility to investigate the ﬁnancial capability and/or suitability of all proposed tenants.
2.5 Americans with Disabilities Act. In the event that as a result of Sublessee's use, or intended use, of the Premises the
Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar law requires modiﬁcations or the construction or installation of improvements in or to
the Premises, Building, Project and/or Common Areas, the Parties agree that such modiﬁcations, construction or improvements shall be
made at: ☐ Sublessor's expense ☑ Sublessee's expense.
3.

Possession.
3.1 Early Possession. Any provision herein granting Sublessee Early Possession of the Premises is subject to and conditioned
upon the Premises being available for such possession prior to the Commencement Date. Any grant of Early Possession only conveys a
non-exclusive right to occupy the Premises. If Sublessee totally or partially occupies the Premises prior to the Commencement Date,
the obligation to pay Base Rent shall be abated for the period of such Early Possession. All other terms of this Sublease (including but
not limited to the obligations to pay Sublessee's Share of Common Area Operating Expenses, Real Property Taxes and insurance
premiums and to maintain the Premises) shall, however, be in eﬀect during such period. Any such Early Possession shall not aﬀect the
Expiration Date.
3.2 Delay in Commencement. Sublessor agrees to use its best commercially reasonable eﬀorts to deliver possession of the
Premises by the Commencement Date. If, despite said eﬀorts, Sublessor is unable to deliver possession as agreed, the rights and
obligations of Sublessor and Sublessee shall be as set forth in Paragraph 3.3 of the Master Lease (as modiﬁed by Paragraph 6.3 of this
Sublease).
3.3 Sublessee Compliance. Sublessor shall not be required to tender possession of the Premises to Sublessee until Sublessee
complies with its obligation to provide evidence of insurance. Pending delivery of such evidence, Sublessee shall be required to
perform all of its obligations under this Sublease from and after the Start Date, including the payment of Rent, notwithstanding
Sublessor's election to withhold possession pending receipt of such evidence of insurance. Further, if Sublessee is required to perform
any other conditions prior to or concurrent with the Start Date, the Start Date shall occur but Sublessor may elect to withhold
possession until such conditions are satisﬁed.
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4.

Rent and Other Charges.
4.1 Rent Deﬁned. All monetary obligations of Sublessee to Sublessor under the terms of this Sublease (except for the
Security Deposit) are deemed to be rent ("Rent"). Rent shall be payable in lawful money of the United States to Sublessor at the
address stated herein or to such other persons or at such other places as Sublessor may designate in writing.
4.2 Utilities. Sublessee shall pay for all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, trash disposal and other utilities and services
supplied to the Premises, together with any taxes thereon.
5. Security Deposit. The rights and obligations of Sublessor and Sublessee as to said Security Deposit shall be as set forth in
Paragraph 5 of the Master Lease (as modiﬁed by Paragraph 6.3 of this Sublease).
6.

Master Lease.
6.1 Sublessor is the lessee of the Premises by virtue of the "Master Lease", wherein ALTON CORPORATE JENNER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company is the lessor, hereinafter the "Master Lessor". Sublessor represents and warrants to Sublessee
that a true, correct, and complete copy of the Master Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
6.2 This Sublease is and shall be at all times subject and subordinate to the Master Lease.
6.3 The terms, conditions and respective obligations of Sublessor and Sublessee to each other under this Sublease shall be the
terms and conditions of the Master Lease except for those provisions of the Master Lease which are directly contradicted by this
Sublease in which event the terms of this Sublease document shall control over the Master Lease. Therefore, for the purposes of this
Sublease, wherever in the Master Lease the word "Lessor" is used it shall be deemed to mean the Sublessor herein and wherever in the
Master Lease the word "Lessee" is used it shall be deemed to mean the Sublessee herein.
6.4 During the term of this Sublease and for all periods subsequent for obligations which have arisen prior to the termination
of this Sublease, Sublessee does hereby expressly assume and agree to perform and comply with, for the beneﬁt of Sublessor and
Master Lessor, each and every obligation of Sublessor under the Master Lease except for the following paragraphs which are excluded
therefrom:
.
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6.5 The obligations that Sublessee has assumed under paragraph 6.4 hereof are hereinafter referred to as the "Sublessee's
Assumed Obligations". The obligations that sublessee has not assumed under paragraph 6.4 hereof are hereinafter referred to as the
"Sublessor's Remaining Obligations".
6.6 Sublessee shall hold Sublessor free and harmless from all liability, judgments, costs, damages, claims or demands,
including reasonable attorneys fees, arising out of Sublessee's failure to comply with or perform Sublessee's Assumed Obligations.
6.7 Sublessor agrees to maintain the Master Lease during the entire term of this Sublease, subject, however, to any earlier
termination of the Master Lease without the fault of the Sublessor, and to comply with or perform Sublessor's Remaining Obligations
and to hold Sublessee free and harmless from all liability, judgments, costs, damages, claims or demands arising out of Sublessor's
failure to comply with or perform Sublessor's Remaining Obligations.
6.8 Sublessor represents to Sublessee that the Master Lease is in full force and eﬀect and that no default exists on the part of
any Party to the Master Lease.
7.

Assignment of Sublease and Default.
7.1 Sublessor hereby assigns and transfers to Master Lessor Sublessor's interest in this Sublease, subject however to the
provisions of Paragraph 8.2 hereof.
7.2 Master Lessor, by executing this document, agrees that until a Default shall occur in the performance of Sublessor's
Obligations under the Master Lease, that Sublessor may receive, collect and enjoy the Rent accruing under this Sublease. However, if
Sublessor shall Default in the performance of its obligations to Master Lessor then Master Lessor may, at its option, receive and
collect, directly from Sublessee, all Rent owing and to be owed under this Sublease. In the event, however, that the amount collected
by Master Lessor exceeds Sublessor's obligations any such excess shall be refunded to Sublessor. Master Lessor shall not, by reason of
this assignment of the Sublease nor by reason of the collection of the Rent from the Sublessee, be deemed liable to Sublessee for any
failure of the Sublessor to perform and comply with Sublessor's Remaining Obligations.
7.3 Sublessor hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs Sublessee upon receipt of any written notice from the Master Lessor
stating that a Default exists in the performance of Sublessor's obligations under the Master Lease, to pay to Master Lessor the Rent due
and to become due under the Sublease. Sublessor agrees that Sublessee shall have the right to rely upon any such statement and request
from Master Lessor, and that Sublessee shall pay such Rent to Master Lessor without any obligation or right to inquire as to whether
such Default exists and notwithstanding any notice from or claim from Sublessor to the contrary and Sublessor shall have no right or
claim against Sublessee for any such Rent so paid by Sublessee.
7.4 No changes or modiﬁcations shall be made to this Sublease without the consent of Master Lessor.
8.

Consent of Master Lessor.
8.1 In the event that the Master Lease requires that Sublessor obtain the consent of Master Lessor to any subletting by
Sublessor then, this Sublease shall not be eﬀective unless, within 10 days of the date hereof, Master Lessor signs this Sublease thereby
giving its consent to this Subletting.
8.2 In the event that the obligations of the Sublessor under the Master Lease have been guaranteed by third parties, then
neither this Sublease, nor the Master Lessor's consent, shall be eﬀective unless, within 10 days of the date hereof, said guarantors sign
this Sublease thereby giving their consent to this Sublease.
8.3 In the event that Master Lessor does give such consent then:
(a) Such consent shall not release Sublessor of its obligations or alter the primary liability of Sublessor to pay the Rent
and perform and comply with all of the obligations of Sublessor to be performed under the Master Lease.
(b) The acceptance of Rent by Master Lessor from Sublessee or any one else liable under the Master Lease shall not be
deemed a waiver by Master Lessor of any provisions of the Master Lease.
(c) The consent to this Sublease shall not constitute a consent to any subsequent subletting or assignment.
(d) In the event of any Default of Sublessor under the Master Lease, Master Lessor may proceed directly against
Sublessor, any guarantors or any one else liable under the Master Lease or this Sublease without ﬁrst exhausting Master Lessor's
remedies against any other person or entity liable thereon to Master Lessor.
(e) Master Lessor may consent to subsequent sublettings and assignments of the Master Lease or this Sublease or any
amendments or modiﬁcations thereto without notifying Sublessor or any one else liable under the Master Lease and without obtaining
their consent and such action shall not relieve such persons from liability.
(f) In the event that Sublessor shall Default in its obligations under the Master Lease, then Master Lessor, at its option
and without being obligated to do so, may require Sublessee to attorn to Master Lessor in which event Master Lessor shall undertake
the obligations of Sublessor under this Sublease from the time of the exercise of said option to termination of this Sublease but Master
Lessor shall not be liable for any prepaid Rent nor any Security Deposit paid by Sublessee, nor shall Master Lessor be liable for any
other Defaults of the Sublessor under the Sublease.
(g) Unless directly contradicted by other provisions of this Sublease, the consent of Master Lessor to this Sublease
shall not constitute an agreement to allow Sublessee to exercise any options which may have been granted to Sublessor in the Master
Lease (see Paragraph 39.2 of the Master Lease).
8.4 The signatures of the Master Lessor and any Guarantors of Sublessor at the end of this document shall constitute their
consent to the terms of this Sublease.
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8.5 Master Lessor acknowledges that, to the best of Master Lessor's knowledge, no Default presently exists under the Master
Lease of obligations to be performed by Sublessor and that the Master Lease is in full force and eﬀect.
8.6 In the event that Sublessor Defaults under its obligations to be performed under the Master Lease by Sublessor, Master
Lessor agrees to deliver to Sublessee a copy of any such notice of default. Sublessee shall have the right to cure any Default of
Sublessor described in any notice of default if Sublessee does so within the same number of days set forth in the notice of default given
to Sublessor. If such Default is cured by Sublessee then Sublessee shall have the right of reimbursement and oﬀset from and against
Sublessor.
9.

Additional Brokers Commissions.
9.1 Sublessor agrees that if Sublessee exercises any option or right of ﬁrst refusal as granted by Sublessor herein, or any
option or right substantially similar thereto, either to extend the term of this Sublease, to renew this Sublease, to purchase the Premises,
or to lease or purchase adjacent property which Sublessor may own or in which Sublessor has an interest, then Sublessor shall pay to
Broker a fee in accordance with the schedule of Broker in eﬀect at the time of the execution of this Sublease. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Sublessor's obligation under this Paragraph is limited to a transaction in which Sublessor is acting as a Sublessor, lessor or
seller.
9.2 If a separate brokerage fee agreement is attached then Master Lessor agrees that if Sublessee shall exercise any option or
right of ﬁrst refusal granted to Sublessee by Master Lessor in connection with this Sublease, or any option or right substantially similar
thereto, either to extend or renew the Master Lease, to purchase the Premises or any part thereof, or to lease or purchase adjacent
property which Master Lessor may own or in which Master Lessor has an interest, or if Broker is the procuring cause of any other lease
or sale entered into between Sublessee and Master Lessor pertaining to the Premises, any part thereof, or any adjacent property which
Master Lessor owns or in which it has an interest, then as to any of said transactions, Master Lessor shall pay to Broker a fee, in cash,
in accordance with the schedule attached to such brokerage fee agreement.
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9.3 Any fee due from Sublessor or Master Lessor hereunder shall be due and payable upon the exercise of any option to
extend or renew, upon the execution of any new lease, or, in the event of a purchase, at the close of escrow.
9.4 Any transferee of Sublessor's interest in this Sublease, or of Master Lessor's interest in the Master Lease, by accepting an
assignment thereof, shall be deemed to have assumed the respective obligations of Sublessor or Master Lessor under this Paragraph 9.
Broker shall be deemed to be a third-party beneﬁciary of this paragraph 9.
10. Representations and Indemnities of Broker Relationships. The Parties each represent and warrant to the other that it has had
no dealings with any person, ﬁrm, broker, agent or ﬁnder (other than the Brokers and Agents, if any) in connection with this Sublease,
and that no one other than said named Brokers and Agents is entitled to any commission or ﬁnder's fee in connection herewith.
Sublessee and Sublessor do each hereby agree to indemnify, protect, defend and hold the other harmless from and against liability for
compensation or charges which may be claimed by any such unnamed broker, ﬁnder or other similar party by reason of any dealings or
actions of the indemnifying Party, including any costs, expenses, attorneys' fees reasonably incurred with respect thereto.
11. Attorney's fees. If any Party or Broker brings an action or proceeding involving the Premises whether founded in tort, contract
or equity, or to declare rights hereunder, the Prevailing Party (as hereafter deﬁned) in any such proceeding, action, or appeal thereon,
shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees. Such fees may be awarded in the same suit or recovered in a separate suit, whether or not
such action or proceeding is pursued to decision or judgment. The term, "Prevailing Party" shall include, without limitation, a Party or
Broker who substantially obtains or defeats the relief sought, as the case may be, whether by compromise,
settlement, judgment, or the abandonment by the other Party or Broker of its claim or defense. The attorneys' fees award shall not be
computed in accordance with any court fee schedule, but shall be such as to fully reimburse all attorneys' fees reasonably incurred. In
addition, Sublessor shall be entitled to attorneys' fees, costs and expenses incurred in the preparation and service of notices of Default
and consultations in connection therewith, whether or not a legal action is subsequently commenced in connection with such Default or
resulting Breach ($200 is a reasonable minimum per occurrence for such services and consultation).
12. No Prior or Other Agreements; Broker Disclaimer. This Sublease contains all agreements between the Parties with respect to
any matter mentioned herein, and no other prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding shall be eﬀective. Sublessor and
Sublessee each represents and warrants to the Brokers that it has made, and is relying solely upon, its own investigation as to the
nature, quality, character and ﬁnancial responsibility of the other Party to this Sublease and as to the use, nature, quality and character
of the Premises. Brokers have no responsibility with respect thereto or with respect to any default or breach hereof by either Party. The
liability (including court costs and attorneys' fees), of any Broker with respect to negotiation, execution, delivery or performance by
either Sublessor or Sublessee under this Sublease or any amendment or modiﬁcation hereto shall be limited to an amount up to the fee
received by such Broker pursuant to this Sublease; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation on each Broker's liability shall not
be applicable to any gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Broker. Signatures to this Sublease accomplished by means of
electronic signature or similar technology shall be legal and binding.
13.

Accessibility; Americans with Disabilities Act.
(a) The Premises:

☑ have not undergone an inspection by a Certiﬁed Access Specialist (CASp). Note: A Certiﬁed Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect
the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility
standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property
owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or
potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements
for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs
necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.
☐ have undergone an inspection by a Certiﬁed Access Specialist (CASp) and it was determined that the Premises met all applicable
construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to California Civil Code §55.51 et seq. Lessee acknowledges that it received a
copy of the inspection report at least 48 hours prior to executing this Lease and agrees to keep such report conﬁdential.
☐ have undergone an inspection by a Certiﬁed Access Specialist (CASp) and it was determined that the Premises did not meet all
applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to California Civil Code §55.51 et seq. Lessee acknowledges that it
received a copy of the inspection report at least 48 hours prior to executing this Lease and agrees to keep such report conﬁdential
except as necessary to complete repairs and corrections of violations of construction related accessibility standards.
In the event that the Premises have been issued an inspection report by a CASp the Lessor shall provide a copy of the disability access
inspection certiﬁcate to Lessee within 7 days of the execution of this Lease.
(b) Since compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and other state and local accessibility statutes
are dependent upon Lessee's speciﬁc use of the Premises, Lessor makes no warranty or representation as to whether or not the Premises
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comply with ADA or any similar legislation. In the event that Lessee's use of the Premises requires modiﬁcations or additions to the
Premises in order to be in compliance with ADA or other accessibility statutes, Lessee agrees to make any such necessary
modiﬁcations and/or additions at Lessee's expense.
ATTENTION: NO REPRESENTATION OR RECOMMENDATION IS MADE BY AIR CRE OR BY ANY REAL ESTATE
BROKER AS TO THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY, LEGAL EFFECT, OR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS SUBLEASE OR
THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH IT RELATES. THE PARTIES ARE URGED TO:
1. SEEK ADVICE OF COUNSEL AS TO THE LEGAL AND TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS SUBLEASE.
2. RETAIN APPROPRIATE CONSULTANTS TO REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE CONDITION OF THE
PREMISES. SAID INVESTIGATION SHOULD INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO: THE POSSIBLE PRESENCE OF
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, THE ZONING OF THE PROPERTY, THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY, THE CONDITION
OF THE ROOF AND OPERATING SYSTEMS, AND THE SUITABILITY OF THE PREMISES FOR SUBLESSEE'S
INTENDED USE.
WARNING: IF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN A STATE OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE SUBLEASE MAY NEED TO BE REVISED TO COMPLY WITH LAWS OF THE STATE IN
WHICH THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED
Executed At:
On: 6/17/2020

Executed At:
On: 6 /17/2020

By
Sublessor:

By
Sublessee:

INITIALS
© 2019AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved.
SBS-9.04, Revised 06-10-2019

INITIALS

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/ex_196584.htm

Last Edited: 6/16/2020 6:22 AM
Page 4 of 6

8/129

1/20/2021

ex_196584.htm

Overland, Pacific & Cutler, LLC

Interlink Electronics

By:
Name Printed: Brian Everett
Title: CEO
Phone:
Fax:
Email: beverett@opcservices.com

By:
Name Printed: Steven N Bronson
Title: CEO
Phone:
Fax:
Email: sb@iefsr.com

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:

Address:
Federal ID No.:

Address:
Federal ID No.:

BROKER
Hughes Marino

BROKER
Madison Street Partners

Attn: Will Tober
Title:

Attn: Greg Endsley
Title:

Address:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:
Federal ID No.:
Broker DRE License #: 01898886
Agent DRE License #: 02001182

Address:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:
Federal ID No.:
Broker DRE License #:
Agent DRE License #: 01020960

Consent to the above Sublease is hereby given.
Executed At:
Executed On:

Executed At:
Executed On:

By Master Lessor:
ALTON CORPORATE JENNER, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company

By Guarantor:

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Address:

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Phone:
Fax:
Email:

By:
Name Printed:
Title:
Address:

Address:
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/ex_196584.htm
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Federal ID No.:
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ADDENDUM TO SUBLEASE
Date: June 8, 2020
By and Between
Sublessor: Overland, Pacific & Cutler, LLC
Sublessee: Interlink Electronics
Property Address:

1 Jenner, Suite 200, Irvine, CA 92618
(street address, city, state, zip)

Paragraph: 14 Base Rent
7/1/20 - 9/30/20
10/1/20 - 6/30/21
7/1/21 - 6/30/22
7/1/22 - 5/31/23

$0.00
$5,439.00
$5,602.00
$5,770.00

Sublessor will allow Sublessee to pay its monthly Base Rent and NNN Operating Expenses directly to the Master Lessor.
15 Operating Expenses
Operating Expenses are understood to be NNN and shall be the sole responsibility of the Sublessee per the terms of the Master Lease.
16 Premises Condition
Sublessee will take the Premises "as-is" and be given free use of all the existing furniture, files and workstations within the Premises. A
detailed inventory list will be prepared by Sublessor and mutually agreed upon by the parties.
17 Parking - per the Master Lease
18 Signage - per the Master Lease
19 Furniture - Sublessee will purchase the furniture from Sublessor for $1.00 (see Exhibit B: furniture inventory list/bill of sale).
In the event of any conﬂict between the provisions of this Addendum and the printed provisions of the Sublease, this Addendum shall
control.
AIR CRE * https://www.aircre.com * 213-687-8777 * contracts@aircre.com
NOTICE: No part of these works may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing.

INITIALS
© 2019 AIR CRE. All Rights Reserved.
ASL-1.00, Revised 06-10-2019
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
I.

PARTIES AND DATE.

This First Amendment to Lease (the "Amendment") dated February 7th, 2013, is by and between THE
IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Landlord"), and OVERLAND, PACIFIC &
CUTLER, INC., a California corporation ("Tenant").
II. RECITALS.
On November 19, 2009, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease ("Lease" ) for space in a building
located at 20 Fairbanks, Suite 178, Irvine, California (the "20 Fairbanks Premises").
Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to terminate Tenant's leasing of the 20 Fairbanks
Premises in exchange for leasing approximately 6,410 rentable square feet of space in a building located at 1
Jenner Street, Suite 200, Irvine, California, which space is space shown on EXHIBIT A attached to this
Amendment and herein referred to as the" 1 Jenner Premises", to extend the Lease Term as to the 1 Jenner
Premises, to adjust the Basic Rent and to make such other modifications as are set forth in "Ill. MODIFICATIONS"
next below.
III.

MODIFICATIONS.

A. Premises/Building/Project. Effective as of the "Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises" (as
hereinafter defined), the "Premises" under the Lease shall consist of the 1 Jenner Premises, all references to the
"Building" in the Lease shall be amended to refer to the building located at"1 Jenner , Irvine, California (the "1
Jenner Building" ), and all references to the "Project" in the Lease shall be amended to refer to he Project
described on EXHIBIT Y attached to this Amendment.
B. Termination as to the 20 Fairbanks Premises. The parties agree that Tenant's lease as to the 20
Fairbanks Premises shall terminate at midnight on the day preceding the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner
Premises (the" Termination Date" ), provided that such termination shall not relieve Tenant of (i) any rent or
other charges owed by Tenant, or other obligations required of Tenant, as are set forth in the Lease from and after
the date of this Amendment through and including the Termination Date, (ii) any obligations which are set forth in
this Amendment, and (iii) any indemnity or hold harmless obligations set forth in the Lease as to the 20 Fairbanks
Premises which survive the termination of the Lease. Tenant shall quit and surrender possession of the 20
Fairbanks Premises to Landlord on or before the Termination Date as required by the provisions of Section 15.3 of
the Lease.
C.

Basic Lease Provisions. The Basic Lease Provisions are hereby amended as follows:
1.
Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, Item 2 shall be deleted in its
entirety and substituted therefore shall be the following:
"2. Premises: Suite No. 200 (the Premises are more particularly described in Section 2.1).
Address of Building: 1 Jenner, Irvine , CA"
2.

Item 4 is hereby amended by adding the following:
"Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises" shall mean the earlier of (a) 7
business days following the date of Landlord's tender of possession of the 1 Jenner
Premises to Tenant with the "Tenant Improvements" for the 1 Jenner Premises
substantially completed but for minor punch list items, but not sooner than April 1, 2013,
or (b) the date Tenant commences its business operations in the 1 Jenner Premises. Prior
to Tenant's taking possession of the 1 Jenner Premises, the parties shall memorialize on a
form provided by Landlord the actual Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises,
provided that Tenant's failure to execute that form shall not affect the validity of
Landlord's determination of said Date. The acknowledgments by Tenant contained in
Section 2.2 of the Lease shall be applicable and binding with respect to Tenant's lease of
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the 1 Jenner Premises. As of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, Tenant
shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted that the 1 Jenner Premises is in
satisfactory condition and in conformity with the provisions of the Lease, subject only to
those defective or incomplete portions of the 1 Jenner Premises Tenant Improvements,
which Tenant shall have itemized on a written punch list and delivered to Landlord
within thirty (30) days after the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises."
1
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3.

Item 5 is hereby deleted in its entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
"5. Lease Term: The Term of this Lease shall be for a period of 60 months following the
Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, plus such additional days as may be required to
cause the Lease to expire on the final day of the calendar month."

4.

Item 6 is hereby amended by adding the following:
"Basic Rent for the 1 Jenner Premises:
Months of Term
or Period
for the 1 Jenner
Premises

Monthly Rate Per
Rentable Square
Foot
for the 1 Jenner
Premises
$.85
$.90
$.95
$1.00
$1.05

1-12
13-24
25-36
37-48
40-60

Monthly Basic Rent
(rounded to the nearest dollar)
for the 1 Jenner Premises

$5,456.00
$5,777.00
$6,098.00
$6,419.00
$6,740.00

5.
Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, Item 8 shall be deleted in its
entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
"8. Floor Area of Premises: Approximately 6,419 rentable square feet"
6.

Item 9 is hereby deleted in its entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
"9. Security Deposit: $7,414.00"

7.
Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, Item 12 shall be deleted in its
entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
2
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"12. Payment Address:
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
Department #0303
Los Angeles, CA 90084-0303

OVERLAND, PACIFIC & CUTLER, INC.
1 JENNER STREET, SUITE 200
IRVINE, CA 92618"

Notice Address:
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
550 Newport Center Drive
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn: Senior Vice President,
Property Operations
Irvine Office Properties
with a copy of notices to:
THE IRVlNE COMPANY LLC
550 Newport Center Drive
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn: Vice President Operations
Irvine Office Properties, Technology Portfolio
8.
Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, Item 11 shall be deleted in its
entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
"11. Vehicle Parking Spaces: 26 unreserved vehicle parking spaces in accordance with the provisions
set forth in Exhibit F to the Lease"
D. Security Deposit. Concurrently with Tenant's delivery of this Amendment, Tenant shall deliver the
sum of $4,504.00 to Landlord, which sum shall be added to the Security Deposit presently being held by Landlord
in accordance with Section 4.3 of the Lease.
E. Right to Extend the Lease. Provided that no monetary Default has occurred under any provision of
the Lease, either at the time of exercise of the extension right granted herein or at the time of the commencement
of such extension, and provided further that Tenant is occupying the entire 1 Jenner Premises and has not assigned
or sublet any of its interest in the Lease, then Tenant may extend the Term of this Lease for one (1) extension
period of 36 months. Tenant shall exercise its right to extend the Term by and only by delivering to Landlord, not
less than 6 months or more than 12 months prior to the Expiration Date of the Term, Tenant's irrevocable written
notice of its commitment to extend (the" Commitment Notice" ). The Basic Rent payable under the Lease during
any extension of the Term shall be determined as provided in the following provisions.
If Landlord and Tenant have not by then been able to agree upon the Basic Rent for the extension of the
Term, then not less than 90 days or more than 120 days prior to the Expiration Date of the Term, Landlord shall
notify Tenant in writing of the Basic Rent that would reflect the prevailing market rental rate for a 36-month
renewal of comparable space in the Project (together with any increases thereof during the extension period) as of
the commencement of the extension period ("Landlord's Determination"). Should Tenant disagree with the
Landlord's Determination, then Tenant shall, not later than 20 days thereafter, notify Landlord in writing of
Tenant's determination of those rental terms ("Tenant's Determination"). Within 10 days following delivery of
the Tenant's Determination, the parties shall attempt to agree on an appraiser to determine the fair market rental. If
the parties are unable to agree in that time, then each party shall designate an appraiser within 10 days thereafter.
Should either party fail to so designate an appraiser within that time, then the appraiser designated by the other
party shall determine the fair market rental. Should each of the parties timely designate an appraiser, then the two
appraisers so designated shall appoint a third appraiser who shall, acting alone, determine the fair market rental for
the 1 Jenner Premises. Any appraiser designated hereunder shall have an MAI certification with not less than 5
years experience in the valuation of commercial industrial buildings in the vicinity of the Project.
Within 30 days following the selection of the appraiser and such appraiser's receipt of the Landlord's
Determination and the Tenant's Determination, the appraiser shall determine whether the rental rate determined by
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Landlord or by Tenant more accurately reflects the fair market rental rate for the 36-month renewal of the Lease for
the 1 Jenner Premises, as reasonably extrapolated to the commencement of the extension period. Accordingly,
either the Landlord's Determination or the Tenant's Determination shall be selected by the appraiser as the fair
market rental rate for the extension period. In making such determination, the appraiser shall consider rental
comparables for the Project (provided that if there are an insufficient number of comparables within the Project, the
appraiser shall consider rental comparables for similarly improved space owned by Landlord in the vicinity of the
Project with appropriate adjustment for location and quality of project), but the appraiser shall not attribute any
factor for market tenant improvement allowances or brokerage commissions in making its determination of the fair
market rental rate. At any time before the decision of the appraiser is rendered, either party may, by written notice
to the other party, accept the rental terms submitted by the other party, in which event such terms shall be deemed
adopted as the agreed fair market rental. The fees of the appraiser(s) shall be borne entirely by the party whose
determination of the fair market rental rate was not accepted by the appraiser.
3
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Within 20 days after the determination of the fair market rental, Landlord shall prepare an appropriate
amendment to this Lease for the extension period, and Tenant shall execute and return same to Landlord within 10
days after Tenant's receipt of same. Should the fair market rental not be established by the commencement of the
extension period, then Tenant shall continue paying rent at the rate in effect during the last month of the initial
Term, and a lump sum adjustment shall be made promptly upon the determination of such new rental.
If Tenant fails to timely exercise the extension right granted herein within the time period expressly set
forth for exercise by Tenant in the initial paragraph of this Section, Tenant's right to extend the Term shall be
extinguished and the Lease shall automatically terminate as of the expiration date of the Term, without any
extension and without any liability to Landlord. Tenant's rights under this Section shall belong solely to Overland,
Pacific & Cutler, Inc., a California corporation, and any attempted assignment or transfer of such rights shall be
void and of no force and effect. Tenant shall have no other right to extend the Term beyond the single 36 month
extension period created by this Section. Unless agreed to in a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant, any
extension of the Term, whether created by an amendment to this Lease or by a holdover of the 1 Jenner Premises by
Tenant, or otherwise, shall be deemed a part of, and not in addition to, any duly exercised extension period
permitted by this Section.
F. Right of First Offer. Provided that no Default has occurred under any provision of the Lease, either
at the time of the delivery of "Landlord's Notice" or at the time of the delivery of "Tenant's Notice" (as hereinafter
defined), Landlord hereby grants Tenant a one-time right ("First Right") to lease approximately 4,164 rentable
square feet of space in the 1 Jenner Building more particularly described on EXHIBIT A-1 attached hereto (the
"First Right Space" ), in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Section; provided that this First
Right shall not be effective until December 1, 2013 and shall cease to be effective during the final 12 months of
the Term unless and until Tenant exercises its extension option set forth in Section 111.E above. Except as
otherwise provided below, prior to leasing the First Right Space, or any portion thereof, to any other party during
the period that this First Right is in effect, Landlord shall give Tenant written notice (the "Landlord's Notice") of
the basic economic terms including but not limited to the Basic Rent, term, operating expense base, security
deposit, and tenant improvement allowance (collectively, the "Economic Terms" ), upon which Landlord is
willing to lease such particular First Right Space to Tenant or to a third party; provided that the Economic Terms
shall exclude brokerage commissions and other Landlord payments that do not directly inure to the tenant's
benefit. It is understood that should Landlord intend to lease other office space in addition to the First Right Space
as part of a single transaction, then Landlord's Notice shall so provide and all such space shall collectively be
subject to the following provisions. Within 5 calendar days after delivery of Landlord's Notice, Tenant must give
Landlord written notice (the 'Tenant's Notice") pursuant to which Tenant shall elect to (i) lease all, but not less
than all, of that portion of the First Right Space specified in Landlord's notice (the "Designated Space" ) upon
such Economic Terms and the same non- Economic Terms as set forth in this Lease; (ii) refuse to lease the
Designated Space, specifying that such refusal is not based upon the Economic Terms, but upon Tenant's lack of
need for the Designated Space, in which event this First Right shall terminate as to the Designated Space in its
entirety and Landlord may lease the Designated Space upon any terms it deems appropriate; or (iii) refuse to lease
the Designated Space, specifying that such refusal is based upon said Economic Terms, in which event Tenant
shall also specify revised Economic Terms upon which Tenant shall be willing to lease the Designated Space. In
the event that Tenant does not so respond in writing to Landlord's Notice within said period, Tenant shall be
deemed to have elected clause (ii) above. Any Tenant's Notice electing either clause (i) or clause (iii) above shall
be accompanied by Tenant's then current annual financial statements, inclusive of Tenant's most current balance
sheet; and should such statements reveal that Tenant's net worth has materially decreased since the execution of
this Lease, Landlord shall have no obligation to lease the Designated Space to Tenant and may instead lease same
to any third party. In the event Tenant's Notice elects clause (iii) above, Landlord may elect to either (x) lease the
Designated Space to Tenant upon such revised Economic Terms and the same other non-Economic Terms as set
forth in this Lease, or (y) lease the Designated Space to any third party upon Economic Terms which are not
materially more favorable to such party than those Economic Terms proposed by Tenant. Should Landlord so elect
to lease the Designated Space to Tenant, then Landlord shall promptly prepare and deliver to Tenant an
amendment to this Lease consistent with the foregoing, and Tenant shall execute and return same to Landlord
within 10 days. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that Tenant's First Right shall be subject to any
extension or expansion rights previously granted by Landlord to any third party tenant in the Project, as well as to
any such rights which may hereafter be granted by Landlord to any third party tenant now or hereafter occupying
the First Right Space or any portion thereof, and Landlord shall in no event be obligated to initiate this First Right
prior to leasing any portion of the First Right Space to the then-current occupant thereof. Tenant's rights under this
Section shall belong solely to Overland, Pacific & Cutler, Inc., a California corporation, and any attempted
assignment or transfer of such rights shall be void and of no force and effect.
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G.
"After Hours" HVAC. Effective as of the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises, the last
sentence EXHIBIT C attached to the Lease is hereby amended and restated as follows:
"As used herein, "standard charges" shall mean $10.00 per hour for each hour of "after hours"
use (in addition to the applicable electricity charges paid to the utility provider). "
H. Broker's Commission. Article XVIII of the Lease is amended to provide that the parties recognize
the following parties as the brokers who negotiated this Amendment, and agree that Landlord shall be responsible
for payment of brokerage commissions to such brokers pursuant to its separate agreement with such brokers:
Irvine Realty Company ("Landlord's Broker") and Corporate Realty Advisors ('Tenant's Broker''). It is
understood and agreed that Landlord' s Broker represents only Landlord in connection with the execution of this
Amendment and that Tenant's Broker represents only Tenant. The warranty and indemnity provisions of Article
XVIII of the Lease, as amended hereby, shall be binding and enforceable in connection with the negotiation of this
Amendment.
I. Tenant Improvements. Landlord hereby agrees to complete the Tenant Improvements for the 1 Jenner
Premises in accordance with the provisions of EXHIBIT X Work Letter, attached hereto.
IV.

GENERAL.

A. Effect of Amendments. The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is
modified by this Amendment.
B. Entire Agreement. This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and
Tenant with respect to the modifications set forth in "Ill. MODIFICATIONS" above and can be changed only by a
writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.
C.
Counterparts. If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an
original; all, however, shall constitute but one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any
photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced into evidence without foundation.
D. Defined Terms. All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined
in the Lease shall have the same meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined
in this Amendment.
E. Corporate and Partnership Authority. If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of
either or both of them, each individual executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that
he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment on behalf of the corporation or partnership and
that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.
5
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V.

EXECUTION.
Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in "I. PARTIES AND DATE."

above.
LANDLORD:

TENANT:

THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
a Delaware limited liability company

OVERLAND, PACIFIC & CUTLER, INC.
a California corporation

6
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EXHIBIT X
WORK LETTER
BUILD TO SUIT
(Turn-key)
The tenant improvement work (the"Tenant Improvements" and the"Tenant Improvement Work'') shall
consist of the work, including work in place as of the date hereof, required to complete the improvements to the 1
Jenner Premises as shown in the space plan (the "Plan") prepared by Casco, dated January 31, 2013, and the cost
estimate (the "Cost Estimate") prepared by Casco, dated January 12, 2013. The Tenant Improvement Work shall
be performed by a contractor selected by Landlord and in accordance with the requirements and procedures set
forth below.
I.

ARCHITECTURAL AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES.

A. Landlord shall cause its contractor to construct the Tenant Improvements at Landlord's sole cost and
expense, provided that any additional cost resulting from "Changes" (as hereinafter defined) requested by Tenant
and "Alternates" shown in the Plan which are elected by Tenant (if any) shall be borne solely by Tenant and paid to
Landlord as hereinafter provided. Unless otherwise specified in the Plan or Cost Estimate, all materials,
specifications and finishes utilized in constructing the Tenant Improvements shall be Landlord's building standard
tenant improvements, materials and specifications for the Project as set forth in Schedule I attached hereto
("Standard Improvements" ), except for those additions or variations to Building Standard Improvements
expressly approved by Landlord and noted on the Preliminary Plan (any such addition or variation from the
Standard Improvements shall be referred to herein as a"Non-Standard Improvement" ). Should Landlord submit
any additional plans, equipment specification sheets, or other matters to Tenant for approval or completion in
connection with the Tenant Improvement Work, Tenant shall respond in writing, as appropriate, within 5 days
unless a shorter period is provided herein. Tenant shall not unreasonably withhold its approval of any matter, and
any disapproval shall be limited to items not previously approved by Tenant in the Plan or otherwise.
B.
In the event that Tenant requests in writing a revision to the Plan (''Change"), and Landlord so
approves such Change as provided in the Section next below, Landlord shall advise Tenant by written change order
as soon as is practical of any increase in the cost to complete the Tenant Improvement Work that such Change
would cause. Such cost shall include an administrative/supervision fee to be paid to Landlord or to Landlord's
management agent in the amount of 3% of the cost of such Change. Tenant shall approve or disapprove such change
order, if any, in writing within 2 days following Tenant's receipt of such change order. If Tenant approves any such
change order, Landlord, at its election, may either (i) require as a condition to the effectiveness of such change order
that Tenant pay the increase in the cost attributable to such change order concurrently with delivery of Tenant's
approval of the change order, or (ii) defer Tenant's payment of such increase until the date 10 days after delivery of
invoices for same, provided however, that the increase in cost must in any event be paid in full prior to Tenant's
commencing occupancy of the 1 Jenner Premises. If Tenant disapproves any such change order, Tenant shall
nonetheless be responsible for the reasonable architectural and/or planning fees incurred in preparing such change
order. Landlord shall have no obligation to interrupt or modify the Tenant Improvement Work pending Tenant's
approval of a change order, but if Tenant fails to timely approve a change order, Landlord may (but shall not be
required to) suspend the applicable Tenant Improvement Work, in which event any related critical path delays
because of such suspension shall constitute Tenant Delays hereunder.
C.
Landlord agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to Tenant's requested Changes,
provided that such consent may be withheld in all events if the requested Change (i) is of a lesser quality than the
Tenant Improvements previously approved by Landlord, (ii) fails to conform to applicable governmental
requirements, (iii) would result in the 1 Jenner Premises requiring building services beyond the level normally
provided to other tenants, (iv) would delay construction of the Tenant Improvements and Tenant declines to accept
such delay in writing as a Tenant Delay, (v) interferes in any manner with the proper functioning of, or Landlord's
access to, any mechanical, electrical, plumbing or HVAC systems, facilities or equipment in or serving the 1 Jenner
Building, or (vi) would have an adverse aesthetic impact to the 1 Jenner Premises or would cause additional
expenses to Landlord in reletting the 1 Jenner Premises.
D. Notwithstanding any provision in the Lease to the contrary, and not by way of limitation of any other
rights or remedies of Landlord, if Tenant fails to comply with any of the time periods specified in this Work Letter,
fails otherwise to approve or reasonably disapprove any submittal within the time period specified herein for such
response (or if no time period ls so specified, within 5 days following Tenant's receipt hereof), requests any
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Changes, furnishes inaccurate or erroneous specifications or other information, or otherwise delays in any manner
the completion of the Tenant Improvements (Including without limitation by specifying materials that are not
readily available) or the issuance of an occupancy certificate (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Lease as
a "Tenant Delay"), then Tenant shall bear any resulting additional construction cost or other expenses, and the
Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises shall be deemed to have occurred for all purposes, including
without limitation Tenant's obligation to pay rent, as of the date Landlord reasonably determines that it would have
been able to deliver the 1 Jenner Premises to Tenant but for the collective Tenant Delays. Should Landlord
determine that the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises should be advanced in accordance with the
foregoing, it shall so notify Tenant in writing. Landlord's determination shall be conclusive unless Tenant notifies
Landlord in writing, within 5 days thereafter, of Tenant's election to contest same by arbitration pursuant to the
provisions of Section II below. Pending the outcome of such arbitration proceedings, Tenant shall make timely
payment of all rent due under this Lease based upon the Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises set forth in
the aforesaid notice from Landlord.
1
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E.
All Standard Tenant Improvements and Non-Standard Improvements shall become the property of
Landlord and shall be surrendered with the 1 Jenner Premises at the end of the Term; except that Landlord may, by
notice to Tenant given either prior to or following the expiration or termination of the Lease, require Tenant either
(i) to remove all or any of the Non-Standard Improvements, any "Alternates" in the Plan which are elected by
Tenant, and all or any of the Tenant Improvements approved by way of a Change requested by Tenant, to repair any
damage to the 1 Jenner Premises or the Common Area arising from such removal, and to replace any such NonStandard Improvements with the applicable Building Standard Improvements, or (ii) to reimburse Landlord for the
reasonable cost of such removal, repair and replacement upon demand. Any such rem ovals, repairs and
replacements by Tenant shall be completed by the Expiration Date, or sooner termination of this Lease, or within 10
days following notice to Tenant if such notice is given following the Expiration Date or sooner termination.
F. Landlord shall permit Tenant and its agents to enter the 1 Jenner Premises prior to the Commencement
Date for the 1 Jenner Premises in order that Tenant may install fixtures, furniture and cabling through Tenant's own
contractors prior to the Commencement Date. Any such work shall be subject to Landlord's prior written approval,
and shall be performed in a manner and upon terms and conditions and at times satisfactory to Landlord's
representative. The foregoing license to enter the 1 Jenner Premises prior to the Commencement Date for the 1
Jenner Premises is, however, conditioned upon Tenant's contractors and their subcontractors and employees
working in harmony and not interfering with the work being performed by Landlord. If at any time that entry shall
cause disharmony or interfere with the work being performed by Landlord, this license may be withdrawn by
Landlord upon 24 hours written notice to Tenant That license is further conditioned upon the compliance by
Tenant's contractors with all requirements imposed by Landlord on third party contractors, including without
limitation the maintenance by Tenant and its contractors and subcontractors of workers' compensation and public
liability and property damage insurance in amounts and with companies and on forms satisfactory to Landlord, with
certificates of such insurance being furnished to Landlord prior to proceeding with any such entry. The entry shall
be deemed to be under all of the provisions of the Lease except as to the covenants to pay rent. Landlord shall not
be liable in any way for any personal injury, and/or loss or damage of property which may occur in connection with
such entry by Tenant or in connection with such work being performed by Tenant, the same being solely at Tenant's
risk. In no event shall the failure of Tenant's contractors to complete any work in the 1 Jenner Premises extend the
Commencement Date for the 1 Jenner Premises.
G.
Tenant hereby designates Ray Armstrong ("Tenant 's Construction Representative"), Telephone
No. (562) 755-7192, as its representative, agent and attorney-in-fact for all matters related to the Tenant
Improvement Work, including but not by way of limitation, for purposes of receiving notices, approving submittals
and issuing requests for Changes, and Landlord shall be entitled to rely upon authorizations and directives of such
person(s) as if given directly by Tenant. The foregoing authorization is intended to provide assurance to Landlord
that it may rely upon the directives and decision making of the Tenant's Construction Representative with respect to
the Tenant Improvement Work and is not intended to limit or reduce Landlord's right to reasonably rely upon any
decisions or directives given by other officers or representatives of Tenant. Tenant may amend the designation of its
Tenant's Construction Representative(s) at any time upon delivery of written notice to Landlord.
II.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

A.
All claims or disputes between Landlord and Tenant arising out of, or relating to, this Work Letter
shall be decided by the JAMS/ENDISPUTE ("JAMS"), or its successor, with such arbitration to be held in Orange
County, California, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. Within 10 business days following submission to
JAMS, JAMS shall designate three arbitrators and each party may, within 5 business days thereafter, veto one of the
three persons so designated. If two different designated arbitrators have been vetoed, the third arbitrator shall hear
and decide the matter. If less than 2 arbitrators are timely vetoed, JAMS shall select a single arbitrator from the nonvetoed arbitrators originally designated by JAMS, who shall hear and decide the matter. Any arbitration pursuant to
this section shall be decided within 30 days of submission to JAMS. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and
binding on the parties. All costs associated with the arbitration shall be awarded to the prevailing party as
determined by the arbitrator.
B. Notice of the demand for arbitration by either party to the Work Letter shall be filed in writing with
the other party to the Work Letter and with JAMS and shall be made within a reasonable time after the dispute has
arisen. The award rendered by the arbitrator shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with
applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Except by written consent of the person or entity sought to
be joined, no arbitration arising out of or relating to this Work Letter shall include, by consolidation, joinder or in
any other manner, any person or entity not a party to the Work Letter unless (1) such person or entity is substantially
involved in a common question of fact or law, (2) the presence of such person or entity is required if complete relief
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is to be accorded in the arbitration, or (3) the interest or responsibility of such person or entity in the matter is not
insubstantial.
C. The agreement herein among the parties to arbitrate shall be specifically enforceable under prevailing
law. The agreement to arbitrate hereunder shall apply only to disputes arising out of, or relating to, this Work Letter,
and shall not apply to other matters of dispute under the Lease except as may be expressly provided in the Lease.
2
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Tenant Improvement/ Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(By Tenant/Tenant Allowance)
TENANT STANDARD GENERAL
OFFICE:
CARPET
Direct glue, from one of the following options:
Designweave- Z6354 Tempest Esq.:
Designweave- Z6356 Techno:
a) 553 Steel Wool
a) 336 Lido
b) 773 Melba Toast
b) 252 Topaz
c) 575 Silver Smoke
c) 518 Night Sky
d) 535 Dolphin
d) 997 Silver Plum
e) 454 Denim
e) 496 Galactic
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE (VCT)
12x12 VCT Armstrong Standard Excelon,
from the following options:
a) 51803 Pearl White
b) 51899 Cool White

c) 51908 Pewter
d) 51899 Cool White

PAINT/ WALLS
5/8" gypsum drywall on 2-1/2" x 25 gage. metal studs, floor to ceiling construction, no walls shall
penetrate the grid unless required by code. All walls shall be straight, and parallel to building
perimeter walls. All offices and rooms shall be constructed of a standard size and tangent to a
building shell or core wall. Paint finish, one standard color to be Benjamin Moore AC-40, Glacier
White, flat finish.
BASE
2-1/2"Burkerubber base color. Pearl 137P, straight at cut pile carpet, coved at resilient flooring and
loop carpet
RUBBER TRANSITION STRIP
Transition strip between carpet and resilient flooring to be Burke #150, color: to match adjacent
V.C.T.
PLASTIC LAMINATE
Plastic laminate color at millwork to be Nevamar "Smoky White", Textured #S-7-27T.
CEILING
2x4 USG Radar Illusions #2842 grid and scored tile on 9/16" T-bar grid. Continuous grid throughout.
PERIMETER WALLS
Furring, 25 ga. metal studs with 5/8" gypsum drywall, with batt insulation.
LIGHTING
2X4 fluorescent, 3-lamp energy saving ballast, 18-cell parabolic lens fixture.
DOORS
1-3/4" solid core, 3"-0" x 8'-10", plain sliced white oak, Western Integrated clear anodized aluminum
frames, Schlage "D" series "Sparta" latchset hardware, dull chrome finish.
OFFICE SIDELITES
All interior offices to have sidelite glazing adjacent to office entry door. 2' wide x door height,
Western Integrated clear anodized aluminum frame integral to door frame with clear tempered glass.

Schedule I
1
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Tenant Improvement/ Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(Continued)
TENANT STANDARD GENERAL
OFFICE (CONTINUED):

WINDOW COVERINGS
Vertical blinds: Mariak Industries PVC blinds at building perimeter windows, Model M-3000,
Color: Light Grey.

TENANT STANDARD
MECHANICAL:

HVAC
Interior and Exterior zone VAV boxes shall be connected to the main supply air loop. Exterior
zone VAV boxes shall be provided with single-row hot water reheat coil.
Air distribution downstream of VAV boxes shall be provided complete with ductwork, 2'x2'
perforated face ceiling diffusers, 2'x2' perforated return air grilles and air balance.
Pneumatic thermostats with blank white cover shall be provided for each zone. Thermostats
shall be located adjacent to light switch at 48" above finished floor.
Exterior corner spaces with more than one exposure shall be provided with a separate zone.
Conference Room (or Training Room) 20'x13' or larger shall be provided with a separate zone.
Exterior zone shall be limited to a single exposure and a maximum of 750 to 1000 square feet.
Interior zone shall be limited to a maximum of 2000 square feet.
FIRE PROTECTION
Pendant satin chrome plated, recessed heads, adjustable canopies, minimum K factor to be
5.62, located at center of scored ceiling tile. Ceiling drops from shell supply loop.

TENANT STANDARD
ELECTRICAL:

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
277/480 volt, three phase, four wire metered distribution section added to main service at
Main Electrical Room.
Electrical tenant distribution capacity suitable for 22 watts per s.f. to accommodate HVAC,
lighting, data processing, computer loads and convenience outlets.
Tenant Electrical Room, located within the lease space, to include 270/480 volt and 120/208
volt panels, transformer, lighting control panel, as required.
LIGHTING
Double switch per Title 24, paired in double gang box, Leviton "Decora" white plastic
coverplate, 42" AFF to switch centerline. Provide occupancy sensors as required by code. 2x4
fluorescent light fixtures, 3- lamp energy saving ballast, 18-cell parabolic lens fixture based
upon one (1) fixture per 80 square feet.
Exit signs: Internally illuminated, white sign face with green text
2

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/828146/000143774920016368/ex_196584.htm

108/129

1/20/2021

ex_196584.htm

Tenant Improvement/ Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(Continued)
TENANT STANDARD
ELECTRICAL (CONTINUED):

OUTLETS
Power: 15-amp 125-volt specification grade duplex receptacle mounted vertically, 18" AFF to
centerline, white plastic coverplate. Feeds to systems furniture by Tenant to be via walls,
furred columns or ceiling J-box. Power poles and furniture by Tenant. Ratio of one (1) feed
per eight (8} workstations. Assumes four (4) circuits, eight (8) wire configuration of systems
furniture.
Telephone/Data: Single gang box with, mud ring and pull string, mounted vertically, 18"AFF
to centerline Cover plate by telephone and/or cabling company. Teflon cable by tenant.
One (1) empty 2" conduit to be routed from Tenant's Server Room, 4x8 backboard to building
main telephone backboard.

TENANT STANDARD
WAREHOUSE/SHIPPING AND
RECEIVING:

FLOORS
Sealed concrete.
WALLS
5/8" gypsum wallboard standard partition. Paint to match Benjamin Moore AC-40 Glacier
White; rated partition at occupancy separation as required by code.
CEILING
Exposed structure, non-painted.
WINDOWS
None
ACCESS
7'-6" H x 7'-6" W glazed service doors. Glazing is bronze reflective glass.
HVAC
None
PLUMBING
Single accommodation restroom, if required.
Sheet vinyl flooring to be Armstrong Classic Corlon "Seagate" #86526 Oyster, with Smooth
White FRP panel wainscot to 48" high. Painted walls and ceiling to be Benjamin Moore AC40 Glacier White, semi gloss finish.
LIGHTING
Chain hung florescent strip fixtures.
OTHER ELECTRICAL
Convenience outlets: surface mounted at exposed concrete walls.
SECURITY
Lockable doors.
3
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SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE
I.

PARTIES AND DATE.

This Second Amendment to Lease (“Amendment”) dated March 6, 2018, is by and between ALTON CORPORATE
JENNER LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), as successor-in-interest to The Irvine Company LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, and OVERLAND, PACIFIC & CUTLER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant”), as
successor-in-interest to Overland, Pacific & Cutler, Inc., a California corporation.
II.

RECITALS.

On November 19, 2009, Landlord and Tenant entered into a lease (“Lease”) for space in a building located at 20 Fairbanks,
Suite 178, Irvine, California (“20 Fairbanks Premises”), which lease was amended by a First Amendment to Lease dated February 7,
2013 (“First Amendment”), wherein Tenant terminated its leasing of the 20 Fairbanks Premises in exchange for leasing
approximately 6,419 rentable square feet of space in a building located at 1 Jenner Street, Suite 200, Irvine, California (“Premises”).
The foregoing lease, as so amended, is hereinafter referred to as the “Lease”.
Landlord and Tenant each desire to modify the Lease to terminate a portion of the leased Premises consisting of
approximately 2,068 rentable square feet of space shown on EXHIBIT A attached to this Amendment and herein referred to as the
“Excess Space”, to extend the Term as to the remainder of the leased Premises, to adjust the Basic Rent and to make such other
modifications as are set forth in "III. MODIFICATIONS" next below.
III.

MODIFICATIONS.

A. Termination as to the Excess Space. The parties agree that Tenant’s lease as to the Excess Space shall terminate at 11:59
P.M. on May 31, 2018 (the “Termination Date for the Excess Space”), provided that such termination shall not relieve Tenant of (i)
any rent or other charges owed by Tenant, or other obligations required of Tenant, as are set forth in the Lease from and after the date
of this Amendment through and including the Termination Date for the Excess Space, (ii) any obligations which are set forth in this
Amendment, and (iii) any indemnity or hold harmless obligations set forth in the Lease as to the Excess Space. Tenant shall quit and
surrender possession of the Excess Space to Landlord on or before the Termination Date for the Excess Space as required by the
provisions of Section 15.3 of the Lease, including the removal of all of Tenant’s pre-existing cabling located within the Excess Space.
From and after the Termination Date for the Excess Space, all references in the Lease to the “Premises” shall mean the Premises
excluding the Excess Space.
B.

Basic Lease Provisions. The Basic Lease Provisions are hereby amended as follows:
1.

Item 5 is hereby deleted in its entirety and substituted therefor shall be the following:
“5. Lease Term: The Term of this Lease shall expire on May 31, 2023.”

2.

Item 6 is hereby amended by adding the following:
Months of Term
or Period
June 1, 2018 to
May 31, 2019
June 1, 2019 to
May 31, 2020
June 1, 2020 to
May 31, 2021
June 1, 2021 to
May 31, 2022
June 1, 2022 to
Expiration Date

Monthly Rate Per
Rentable Square Foot

Monthly Basic Rent
(rounded to the nearest dollar)

$1.80

$7,832.00

$1.88

$8,180.00

$1.96

$8,528.00

$2.05

$8,920.00

$2.14

$9,311.00

3. Effective as of the Termination Date for the Excess Space, Item 8 shall be deleted in its entirety and substituted
therefor shall be the following:
“8. Floor Area of Premises: approximately 4,351 rentable square feet
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Floor Area of Building: approximately 31,231 rentable square feet”
1
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4. Effective as of the Termination Date for the Excess Space, Item 11 shall be deleted in its entirety and substituted
therefor shall be the following:
“11. Vehicle Parking Spaces: 17 unreserved vehicle parking spaces, together with the “Additional Parking”, as
defined in and in accordance with the provisions set forth in Exhibit F to this Lease”
C. Brokers. Article 18 of the Lease is amended to provide that the parties recognize the following parties as the brokers who
negotiated this Amendment, and agree that Landlord shall be responsible for payment of brokerage commissions to such brokers
pursuant to its separate agreements with such brokers: Irvine Management Company (“Landlord’s Broker”) is the agent of Landlord
exclusively and DAVCO Realty Advisors / Long Beach (“Tenant’s Broker”) is the agent of Tenant exclusively. By the execution of
this Amendment, each of Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and confirm (a) receipt of a copy of a Disclosure Regarding Real
Estate Agency Relationship conforming to the requirements of California Civil Code 2079.16, and (b) the agency relationships
specified herein, which acknowledgement and confirmation is expressly made for the benefit of Tenant’s Broker. If there is no Tenant’s
Broker so identified herein, then such acknowledgement and confirmation is expressly made for the benefit of Landlord’s Broker. By
the execution of this Amendment, Landlord and Tenant are executing the confirmation of the agency relationships set forth herein. The
warranty and indemnity provisions of Article 18 of the Lease, as amended hereby, shall be binding and enforceable in connection with
the negotiation of this Amendment.
D. Right to Extend the Lease. Section III.E of the First Amendment, entitled “Right to Extend the Lease”, is hereby deleted
in its entirety and shall have no further force or effect.
E. Right of First Offer. Section III.F of the First Amendment, entitled “Right of First Offer”, is hereby deleted in its entirety
and shall have no further force or effect.
F. Acceptance of Premises. Tenant acknowledges that the lease of the Premises pursuant to this Amendment shall be on an
“as-is” basis without further obligation on Landlord’s part as to improvements whatsoever, except that Landlord hereby agrees to
complete the Tenant Improvements in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit X, Work Letter, attached hereto.
IV.

GENERAL.

A.
Effect of Amendment. The Lease shall remain in full force and effect and unmodified except to the extent that it is
modified by this Amendment.
B. Entire Agreement. This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the
modifications set forth in "III. MODIFICATIONS" above and can be changed only by a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.
C. Defined Terms. All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have
the same meaning in this Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.
D. Corporate and Partnership Authority. If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is comprised of either or both of them,
each individual executing this Amendment for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and
deliver this Amendment on behalf of the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon the corporation or
partnership in accordance with its terms.
E.
Counterparts; Digital Signatures. If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an
original; all, however, shall constitute but one and the same amendment. In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or
other copy of this Amendment may be introduced into evidence without foundation. The parties agree to accept a digital image
(including but not limited to an image in the form of a PDF, JPEG, GIF file, or other e-signature) of this Amendment, if applicable,
reflecting the execution of one or both of the parties, as a true and correct original.
F. California Certified Access Specialist Inspection. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1938, Landlord hereby states that
the Premises have not undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) (defined in California Civil Code § 55.52(a)(3)).
Pursuant to Section 1938 of the California Civil Code, Landlord hereby provides the following notification to Tenant: “A Certified
Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the
applicable construction-related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the
subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of
the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties
shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp
inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction related accessibility standards within the
premises.” If Tenant requests to perform a CASp inspection of the Premises, Tenant shall, at its cost, retain a CASp approved by
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Landlord (provided that Landlord may designate the CASp, at Landlord’s option) to perform the inspection of the Premises at a time
agreed upon by the parties. Tenant shall provide Landlord with a copy of any report or certificate issued by the CASp (the “CASp
Report”) and Tenant shall, at its cost, promptly complete any modifications necessary to correct violations of construction related
accessibility standards identified in the CASp Report, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease. Tenant agrees to keep the
information in the CASp Report confidential except as necessary for the Tenant to complete such modifications.
2
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EXECUTION.
Landlord and Tenant executed this Amendment on the date as set forth in “I. PARTIES AND DATE.” above.

LANDLORD:

TENANT:

ALTON CORPORATE JENNER LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

OVERLAND, PACIFIC & CUTLER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

3
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EXHIBIT X
WORK LETTER
BUILD TO SUIT
(Turn-key)
The tenant improvement work (the “Tenant Improvements” and the “Tenant Improvement Work”) shall consist of the
work, including work in place as of the date hereof, required to complete the improvements to the Premises as shown in the space plan
(the “Plan”) prepared by Casco Design Studio, dated January 26, 2018, and the cost estimate (the “Cost Estimate”) prepared by Casco
Contractors, dated February 2, 2018. The Tenant Improvement Work shall be performed by a contractor selected by Landlord and in
accordance with the requirements and procedures set forth below.
I.

ARCHITECTURAL AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES.

A. Landlord shall cause its contractor to construct the Tenant Improvements at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, provided
that any additional cost resulting from “Changes” (as hereinafter defined) requested by Tenant and “Alternates” shown in the Plan
which are elected by Tenant (if any) shall be borne solely by Tenant and paid to Landlord as hereinafter provided. Unless otherwise
specified in the Plan or Cost Estimate, all materials, specifications and finishes utilized in constructing the Tenant Improvements shall
be Landlord's building standard tenant improvements, materials and specifications for the Project as set forth in Schedule I attached
hereto (“Standard Improvements”), except for those additions or variations to Standard Improvements expressly approved by
Landlord and noted on the Plan (any such addition or variation from the Standard Improvements shall be referred to herein as a “NonStandard Improvement”). Should Landlord submit any additional plans, equipment specification sheets, or other matters to Tenant
for approval or completion in connection with the Tenant Improvement Work, Tenant shall respond in writing, as appropriate, within 5
days unless a shorter period is provided herein. Tenant shall not unreasonably withhold its approval of any matter, and any disapproval
shall be limited to items not previously approved by Tenant in the Plan or otherwise.
B. In the event that Tenant requests in writing a revision to the Plan (“Change”), and Landlord so approves such Change as
provided in the Section next below, Landlord shall advise Tenant by written change order as soon as is practical of any increase in the
cost to complete the Tenant Improvement Work that such Change would cause. Such cost shall include an administrative/supervision
fee to be paid to Landlord or to Landlord’s management agent in the amount of 3% of the cost of such Change. Tenant shall approve or
disapprove such change order, if any, in writing within 2 days following Tenant's receipt of such change order. If Tenant approves any
such change order, Landlord, at its election, may either (i) require as a condition to the effectiveness of such change order that Tenant
pay the increase in the cost attributable to such change order concurrently with delivery of Tenant’s approval of the change order, or (ii)
defer Tenant’s payment of such increase until the date 10 days after delivery of invoices for same. If Tenant disapproves any such
change order, Tenant shall nonetheless be responsible for the reasonable architectural and/or planning fees incurred in preparing such
change order. Landlord shall have no obligation to interrupt or modify the Tenant Improvement Work pending Tenant's approval of a
change order, but if Tenant fails to timely approve a change order, Landlord may (but shall not be required to) suspend the applicable
Tenant Improvement Work, in which event any related critical path delays because of such suspension shall constitute Tenant Delays
hereunder.
C.
Landlord agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to Tenant's requested Changes, provided that such
consent may be withheld in all events if the requested Change (i) is of a lesser quality than the Tenant Improvements previously
approved by Landlord, (ii) fails to conform to applicable governmental requirements, (iii) would result in the Premises requiring
building services beyond the level normally provided to other tenants, (iv) would delay construction of the Tenant Improvements and
Tenant declines to accept such delay in writing as a Tenant Delay, (v) interferes in any manner with the proper functioning of, or
Landlord’s access to, any mechanical, electrical, plumbing or HVAC systems, facilities or equipment in or serving the Building, or (vi)
would have an adverse aesthetic impact to the Premises or would cause additional expenses to Landlord in reletting the Premises.
D. Notwithstanding any provision in the Lease to the contrary, and not by way of limitation of any other rights or remedies
of Landlord, if Tenant fails to comply with any of the time periods specified in this Work Letter, fails otherwise to approve or
reasonably disapprove any submittal within the time period specified herein for such response (or if no time period is so specified,
within 5 days following Tenant's receipt thereof), requests any Changes, furnishes inaccurate or erroneous specifications or other
information, or otherwise delays in any manner the completion of the Tenant Improvements (including without limitation by specifying
materials that are not readily available) or the issuance of an occupancy certificate (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Lease
as a "Tenant Delay"), then Tenant shall bear any resulting additional construction cost or other expenses.
E.
All Standard Improvements and Non-Standard Improvements shall become the property of Landlord and shall be
surrendered with the Premises at the end of the Term; except that Landlord may, by notice to Tenant given either prior to or following
the expiration or termination of the Lease, require Tenant either (i) to remove all or any of the Non-Standard Improvements, any
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“Alternates” in the Plan which are elected by Tenant, and all or any of the Tenant Improvements approved by way of a Change
requested by Tenant, to repair any damage to the Premises or the Common Area arising from such removal, and to replace any such
Non-Standard Improvements with the applicable Building Standard Improvements, or (ii) to reimburse Landlord for the reasonable
cost of such removal, repair and replacement upon demand. Any such removals, repairs and replacements by Tenant shall be completed
by the Expiration Date, or sooner termination of this Lease, or within 10 days following notice to Tenant if such notice is given
following the Expiration Date or sooner termination.
1
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F.
It is understood that the Tenant Improvements shall be done during Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises and, in this
regard, while Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable to minimize disruptions to Tenant’s operations in the Premises
(including performing demolition work and construction of the new demising wall outside of normal business hours), Tenant agrees to
assume any risk of injury, loss or damage which may result. Tenant further agrees that it shall be solely responsible for relocating its
office equipment and furniture in the Premises in order for the foregoing Tenant Improvements to be completed in the Premises, and
that no rental abatement shall result while the foregoing Tenant Improvements are completed in the Premises.
G.
Tenant hereby designates Daniela Borbe (Tenant’s Construction Representative”), Telephone No. 949-268-5707,
Email: dborbe@opcservices.com as its representative, agent and attorney- in-fact for all matters related to the Tenant Improvement
Work, including but not by way of limitation, for purposes of receiving notices, approving submittals and issuing requests for Changes,
and Landlord shall be entitled to rely upon authorizations and directives of such person(s) as if given directly by Tenant. The foregoing
authorization is intended to provide assurance to Landlord that it may rely upon the directives and decision making of the Tenant’s
Construction Representative with respect to the Tenant Improvement Work and is not intended to limit or reduce Landlord’s right to
reasonably rely upon any decisions or directives given by other officers or representatives of Tenant. Tenant may amend the
designation of its Tenant’s Construction Representative(s) at any time upon delivery of written notice to Landlord.
2
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CAMPUS OFFICE GENERIC SPECIFICATION
IRVINE COMPANY

Schedule I

Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(By Tenant/Tenant Allowance)
Note During preliminary walk throughs, construction management is to confirm re-use of existing building components and
provide direction to: 1) match existing , or 2) provide new building standard at all remodel conditions; or 3) provide upgrade to
building standard based on project team input. Each suite to be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.
TENANT STANDARD
GENERAL OFFICE:

CARPET
Direct glue broadloom carpet.
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE (VCT)
12” x 12” VCT Armstrong Standard Excelon.
WALLS
Standard Walls: 5/8” gypsum drywall on 2-1/2” x 25 ga. metal studs 16” o.c., floor to ceiling
construction. No walls shall penetrate the grid unless required by code. All walls shall be straight,
and parallel to building exterior walls. All offices and rooms shall be constructed of a standard size
and tangent to a building shell or core wall.
Exterior Walls (First Generation Only): 5/8” gypsum drywall furring on 25 ga. metal studs, with R13 insulation.
PAINT
Paint finish, one standard color to be Benjamin Moore AC-40, Glacier White, flat finish. Dark colors
subject to Landlord approval.
BASE
2-1/2” Burke rubber base; straight at cut pile carpet, coved at resilient flooring and loop carpet.
RUBBER TRANSITION STRIP
Transition strip between carpet and resilient flooring to be Burke #150, color: to match adjacent
V.C.T.
PLASTIC LAMINATE
Plastic laminate color at millwork: Nevamar “Smoky White”, Textured #S-7-27T.
CEILING
2x4 USG Radar Illusions #2842 scored ceiling tile, installed in building standard 9/16” or 15/16” Tbar grid. Continuous grid throughout.
LIGHTING
All spaces are to be illuminated with building standard 2 x 4 direct/indirect fixtures, approved by the
Landlord.
DOORS
1-3/4” solid core, 3’’-0” x 8’-10” plain sliced white oak, Western Integrated clear anodized aluminum
frames, Schlage “D” series “Sparta” latchset hardware, dull chrome finish.
OFFICE SIDELITES
All interior offices to have sidelite glazing adjacent to office entry door, 4’ wide x door height,
Western Integrated clear anodized aluminum frame integral to door frame with clear tempered glass.
WINDOW COVERINGS
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Vertical blinds: Mariak Industries PVC blinds at building perimeter windows, Model M-3000, Color:
Light Grey.
TENANT STANDARD
MECHANICAL:

HVAC
General: Exterior corner spaces with more than one exposure shall be provided with a separate zone.
Conference Room (or Training Room) 20’ x 13’ or larger shall be provided with a separate zone.
Exterior zone shall be limited to a single exposure and a maximum of 750 to 1000 square feet.
Campus Office Building: Interior and Exterior zone VAV boxes shall be connected to the main
supply air loop. Exterior zone VAV boxes shall be provided with two-row hot water reheat coil.
Interior zone shall be limited to a maximum of 2000 square feet.
Air distribution downstream of VAV boxes shall be provided complete with ductwork, 2’x2’
perforated face ceiling diffusers, 2’x2’ perforated return air grilles and air balance. All ductwork
shall be sheet metal constructed per SMACNA standards and insulated per the latest Title 24
requirements.
Pneumatic thermostats with blank white cover shall be provided for each zone. Thermostats shall be
located adjacent to light switch at 48” above finished floor. When the building utilizes DDC zone
control, DDC system shall be Andover and installed by AAS. DDC system shall be interfaced to the
existing Irvine Company network.

Revised 11/10/15

IRVINE COMPANY OFFICE PROPERTIES

THE SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS OUTLINE ARE SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION FROM TIME TO TIME AS
DETERMINED TO BE NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE BY THE LANDLORD
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CAMPUS OFFICE GENERIC SPECIFICATION
IRVINE COMPANY

Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(Continued)
TENANT STANDARD
MECHANICAL
(CONTINUED):

Mid-Tech / Manufacturing Building: Air distribution downstream of packaged rooftop units and/or
split system fan coil units shall be provided complete with ductwork, 2’x2’ perforated face ceiling
diffusers, 2’x2’ perforated return air grilles and air balance. All ductwork shall be sheet metal
constructed per SMACNA standards and insulated per the latest Title 24 requirements. Interior zone
shall be limited to a maximum of 2500 square feet.
Packaged rooftop units and/or split system units shall be connected to existing Irvine Company
Energy Management System. Thermostats shall be located adjacent to light switch at 48” above
finished floor. EMS shall be Andover and installed by AAS.
New packaged rooftop units larger than 5-ton shall be provided with seismic isolation curb with
minimum 1-inch spring deflection. New packaged rooftop units larger than 6.25 ton shall be
provided with economizer with barometric relief damper.

TENANT STANDARD FIRE
PROTECTION:

TENANT STANDARD FIRE
SPRINKLER:

TENANT STANDARD
ELECTRICAL:

FIRE PROTECTION
Pendant satin chrome plated, recessed heads, adjustable canopies, minimum K factor to be 5.62,
located at center of 2’ x 2’ section of scored ceiling tile. Ceiling drops from shell supply loop.
FIRE SPRINKLER
– Hard pipe to be used. Any substitutions to be submitted for Landlord review and approval prior to
install.
– Center sprinkler head in 2x2 ceiling tile.
ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
A 277/480 volt, three phase, four wire tenant metered distribution section will be added to main
service at Main Electrical Room.
Tenant Electrical Room, located within the lease space, as directed by the Landlord, to include
277/480 volt and 120/208 volt panels, transformer, lighting control panel, as required. All newly
installed panels and distribution boards shall have all branch circuit loads appropriately
disaggregated per 2013 Title 24 requirements.
Standard tenant electrical capacity will be provided in the following capacity:
– Lighting 277V: Minimum of 1.2 watt watts per s.f.
– General 277V Power: As required to accommodate tenant loads.
– HVAC Power 277/480V: As required to accommodate the HVAC equipment.
– General 120/208V Power: Minimum of 8.0 watts per s.f.
LIGHTING
All spaces are to be illuminated with building standard 2’ x 4’, direct/indirect fixtures based on one
(1) fixture per 96 square feet. All lighting in newly renovated areas (and associated existing areas
with renovations mandated by 2013 Title 24 requirements) are to be illuminated with building
standard 2’x4’ direct/indirect LED 0-10V dimmable fixtures based on (1) fixture per 96 square feet.
Fixture to be Focal Point TICLED-24-4000L-35 (FLUL-24-PS-4000L-35K-1C-VOLT-LD1GRIDTYPE-EQ-WH) - All Fixtures should be ordered via Southern California Illumination, contact
rep at 949-622-3000.
Any substitutions to these fixtures must be reviewed/approved by the Landlord.
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All lighting in newly renovated areas (and associated existing areas with renovations mandated by
2013 Title 24 requirements) are to be controlled by 2013 Title 24 compliant digital lighting system,
complete with room controller capable of full range 0-10V LED dimming, occupancy sensors,
daylight sensors (as required), and low voltage digital switches as required for each respective
enclosed space. Locate switches at 48” to switch centerline. Digital control system shall be by
Greengate or equal by Wattstopper. Projects in excess of 10,000 square feet shall also have demand
responsive controls via input / output interface at each room controller location with applicable low
voltage conductors routed to tenant electrical room for future connection to demand response system
per 2013 Title 24 requirements.
Exit signs: Internally illuminated, white sign face with green text.
OUTLETS
Power: Leviton “Decora” style 15 / 20 amp 125-volt specification grade white duplex receptacle
mounted vertically, 18” AFF to centerline, with a white plastic coverplate.
2013 Title 24 controlled receptacles are to be plug load controllable decorator receptacle, 15A, half
control, white in color Legrand #26252CHW. Receptacle relay shall be wired to room controller in
respective vicinity or enclosed space for controlled receptacle to shut off during periods of vacancy.
Revised 11/10/15

IRVINE COMPANY OFFICE PROPERTIES

THE SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS OUTLINE ARE SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION FROM TIME TO TIME AS
DETERMINED TO BE NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE BY THE LANDLORD
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CAMPUS OFFICE GENERIC SPECIFICATION
IRVINE COMPANY

Tenant Improvement / Interior Construction Outline Specifications
(Continued)
TENANT STANDARD
ELECTRICAL
(CONTINUED):

All furniture systems will be assumed to be a four (4) circuit / eight (8) wire configuration. All
furniture system workstations are assumed to have personal computers only and will be connected at
a ratio of eight (8) workstations per four (4) circuit / eight (8) wire homerun. For each four circuit
homerun, the two “general” circuits shall be controlled circuits per 2013 Title 24 requirements and
shall be controlled by relays connected to the room controller in respective vicinity or enclosed space
for controlled receptacles in partitions to shut off during periods of vacancy.
All wall mounted furniture system communication feeds will be provided with (2) 1 ½” conduit
(non- fire rated / non-insulated walls) OR (2) 1-¼” conduit (fire rated / insulated walls); a 4S/DP box
and a double-gang mud ring in the wall. One (1) furniture system communication feeds will be
assumed to be capable of providing enough cabling capacity for eight (8) workstations.
Power and Telecom Feeds to systems furniture by Tenant to be via walls, furred columns or ceiling Jbox.
All wall mounted general communication outlets in non-fire rated / non-insulated walls will be
provided a 2-gang mud ring and a pull string in the wall. All wall mounted communication outlets in
fire-rated and insulated walls will be provided with ¾” conduit (voice and / or data only) OR a 1”
conduit (combination voice / data), stubbed into the accessible ceiling space, 4S/DP box and a single
gang mud ring in the wall. Cover plate, jacks and cables by tenant.
A single tenant telecom room will be provided with a single 4’ x 8’ backboard. An empty 2” conduit
will be routed from this backboard to the building’s main telephone backboard. An empty 4” conduit
sleeve will be stubbed into the accessible ceiling space.

TENANT STANDARD
WAREHOUSE/SHIPPING
AND RECEIVING (IF
APPLICABLE):

FLOORS
Sealed concrete.
WALLS
5/8” gypsum wallboard standard partition, height and construction subject to Landlord approval. At
furred walls, paint to match Benjamin Moore AC-40 Glacier White. Provide rated partition at
occupancy separation, as required by code.
CEILING
Exposed structure, non-painted.
WINDOWS
None.
ACCESS
7’-6” H x 7’-6” W glazed service doors. Glazing is bronze reflective glass.
HVAC
None.
PLUMBING
Single accommodation restroom, if required.
Sheet vinyl flooring to be Armstrong Classic Corlon “Seagate” #86526 Oyster, with Smooth White
FRP panel wainscot to 48” high. Painted walls and ceiling to be Benjamin Moore AC-40 Glacier
White, semi-gloss finish.
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LIGHTING
T5 High Bay, 2 x 4 fixtures.
OTHER ELECTRICAL
Convenience outlets; surface mounted at exposed concrete walls.
SECURITY
Lockable doors.
Revised 11/10/15

IRVINE COMPANY OFFICE PROPERTIES

THE SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN THIS OUTLINE ARE SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION FROM TIME TO TIME AS
DETERMINED TO BE NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE BY THE LANDLORD
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Exhibit B

Bill of Sale
Overland, Pacific & Cutler, LLC agrees to sell the following items in as is condition to Interlink Electronics for $1.00 effective July 1,
2020
Furniture inventory - 1 Jenner, Suite 200, Irvine CA 92618
Office Desks
Desk chairs
Side chairs
Workstations
2 Drawer Files
Book shelves
Credenzas
Book cases
File Cabinets
File Cabinets
File Cabinets
File Cabinets

7
12
13
12
10
9
2
2
3
2
3
2

Desks with side returns
6 Aeron chairs and 6 padded chairs
Black faux leather in offices
Cubicle set up
In offices
In offices on top of 2 drawers
In office credenzas with book case above
Five level bookcases
Beige 36"
Black 36"
Black 18"
Brown supply cabinets

Conference room table, 8 chairs, credenza, 1 decorator table
Reception desk, desk chair, 2 drawer file cabinet
One long brown 6 door file credenza
One couch, 2 decorator chairs, 3 decorator tables
Kitchen tables (2) and 8 chairs
Kitchen credenza
Refrigerator
Store room racking

Overland, Pacific & Cutler LLC
Mike Leber - CFO

Interlink Electronics
Steven N Bronson
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